Volume 43 Number 1 January - March 2021

OF FORENSIC MEDICINE



A Peer Reviewed Journal

Official Publication of the Indian Academy of Forensic Medicine www.iafmonline.in

Editor Dr. Tanuj Kanchan

Joint Editor Dr. Manish Nigam

Publication Quarterly ISSN : 0971 - 0973 e- ISSN : 0974-0848

Indian Academy of Forensic Medicine

Registration No.349, Panaji, Goa



Official website - www.iafmonline.in

Governing Council (2019-2022)

President

Dr. P.C. Vyas

General Secretary Dr. Mukesh Yadav

Treasurer Dr. C.B. Jani

Vice-President

South Zone: Dr. Cyriac Job East Zone: Dr. T.K. Bose Central Zone: Dr. Anil Kumar Mittal

Joint Secretary

North Zone: Dr. Ajay Kumar West Zone: Dr. Saumil Merchant

North Zone: Dr. Vijay Pal Khanagwal

West Zone: Dr. Mohd. Iliyas Sheikh

Editor: Dr. Tanuj Kanchan

South Zone: Dr. Siddhartha Das East Zone: Dr. Tulsi Mahto Central Zone: Dr. Manish Kumath

Past General Secretary: Dr. Madhu Ghodkirekar

Joint Editor: Dr. Manish Nigam

Executive Members

Ex-Officio Members

Past President: Dr. Kalpesh Shah

Elected Members

North Zone: South Zone: East Zone: West Zone: Central Zone: Dr. Pankaj Gupta Dr. R. Sudha Dr. A.J. Patowary Dr. Sudhir Ninave Dr. S.K. Dadu Dr. Amandeep Dr. Vinod Chaudhari Dr. Gunajit Das Dr. Dharmesh A. Silajiya Dr. P.K. Tiwari

Journal of Indian Academy of Forensic Medicine (JIAFM)

The Official Publication of Indian Academy of Forensic Medicine

Editor

Dr. Tanuj Kanchan Dept. of Forensic Medicine & Toxicology All India Institute of Medical Sciences Jodhpur, Rajasthan Mobile: +91-9448252394 Email: editor.jiafm@gmail.com tanujkanchan@yahoo.co.in

Editorial Team

Dr. Raghvendra Singh Shekhawat (AIIMS, Jodhpur) Dr. Vikas P Meshram (AIIMS, Jodhpur)

International Advisory Board

Dr. B L Meel, South Africa Dr. B N Yadav, Nepal Dr. Clifford Perera, Sri Lanka Dr. D N Vieira, Portugal Dr. Dan Dermengiu, Romania Dr. Derrick J Pounder, UK Dr. George Paul, Singapore Dr. Imran Sabri, KSA Dr. John Clark, UK Dr. K P Saha, Bangladesh Dr. K P Shubhakar, UK Dr. Leandro Duarte De Carvalho, Brazil Dr. Magdy A Kharoshah, KSA Dr. Michael S Pollanen, Canada Dr. Peter Vanezis, UK Dr. R K Gorea, KSA Dr. Roger W Byard, Australia Dr. Serap Annette Akgür, Turkey

National Advisory Board

Dr. A J Patowary (Assam) Dr. A K Srivastava (U.P.) Dr. Adarsh Kumar (New Delhi) Dr. Aditya Sharma (Himachal Pradesh) Dr. Akhilesh Pathak (Gujarat) Dr. Anil Aggrawal (New Delhi) Dr. B Shantha Kumar (Tamil Nadu) Dr. B D Gupta (MP) Dr. C B Jani (Gujarat) Dr. Cyriac Job (Kerala) Dr. Dasari Harish (Chandigarh) Dr. Francis N P Monteiro (Karnataka) Dr. G Pradeep Kumar (Karnataka) Dr. Gaurav Sharma (Haryana) Dr. K. Ravindran (Puducherry) Dr. K H Chavali (Chattisgarh) Dr. K R Nagesh (Karnataka) Dr. Kusa Kumar Shaha (Puducherry) Dr. L Fimate (Manipur) Dr. M K Mohanty (Odisha) Dr. O P Murty (New Delhi) Dr. O P Murty (New Delhi) Dr. P Mukhopadhyay (West Bengal) Dr. Parmod K Goyal (Punjab) Dr. Pooja Rastogi (U.P.) Dr. Prateek Rastogi (Karnataka) Dr. R S Bangal (Maharashtra) Dr. RK Singh (Chhatisgarh) Dr. S K Verma (New Delhi) Dr. S R Kochar (Rajasthan) Dr. Sanjay Gupta (Gujarat) Dr. Sanjoy Das (Uttarakhand) Dr. S C Mahapatra (Odisha) Dr. S C Mahapatra (Odisha) Dr. Shailesh Mohite (Maharashtra) Dr. S S Oberoi (Punjab) Dr. T K Bose (West Bengal) Dr. Tulsi Mahto (Jharkhand) Dr. V Khanagwal (Haryana) Dr. V V Pillay (Kerala) Dr. Yogendra Bansal (Chandigarh)

Published by:

Dr. Tanuj Kanchan, Editor, JIAFM and Dr. Manish Nigam, Joint Editor, JIAFM on behalf of the Indian Academy of Forensic Medicine

The Journal of Indian Academy of Forensic Medicine (JIAFM)

About the Journal (Print ISSN: 0971-0973 Electronic ISSN:0974-0848):

JIAFM is a peer reviewed medical journal published quarterly by the Editor of the Academy on behalf of the Indian Academy of Forensic Medicine.

Aim and Scope of the Journal:

The Journal covers all technical, medico-legal and clinical aspects including the ethical and social issues related to the subject specialty of Forensic Medicine and Toxicology and allied specialities. The journal promotes dissemination of original research findings.

Abstracting and Indexing:

The journal is included in Scopus, Index Copernicus, IndMED, Index Medicus for South East Asia Region, Indian Citation Index, JIAFM is a UGC Approved Journal (No. 28596). Journal issues are available online at: www.iafmonline.in; http://indmed.nic.in; and www.indianjournals.com

Research ethics and Authorship:

JIAFM follows the ICMJE's Recommendations for the Conduct, Reporting, Editing and Publication of Scholarly Work in Medical Journals. JIAFM take issues of copyright infringement, plagiarism or any other act of academic dishonesty very seriously, and encourages the authors to ensure that the submitted manuscripts are their original work and free of any plagiarism.

Copyrights:

The entire contents of the JIAFM are protected under Indian and International copyrights. The journal, however, grants to all users a free, irrevocable, worldwide, perpetual right of access to and a license to copy, use, distribute, perform and display the work publicly and to make and distribute derivative works in any digital medium for any reasonable non-commercial purpose, subject to proper attribution of authorship and ownership of the rights. No part of this publication may be reprinted or publish without the prior permission of the Editor, JIAFM. Submission of all manuscripts to the journal is understood to imply that it is not being considered for publication elsewhere. Submission of multi authored papers implies that the consent of each author has been obtained. In this journal, every effort has been made NOT to publish inaccurate or misleading information. However editorial and advisory board accept NO liability in consequences of such statement. The opinions expressed in the articles are those of the authors only.

Subscription Information:

JIAFM is published quarterly, and following are its annual subscription rates: **Individual:** ₹1000 (In India) and USD 200 or equivalent (Rest of the world) **Institutions:** ₹7500 (In India) and USD 400 or equivalent (Rest of the world) Subscription orders and payments should be made in favour of "Editor IAFM", payable at Jodhpur, Rajasthan. All communications in this regard should be made with the Editor at the address given below.

Claims for missing issue(s):

A copy will be sent free to the member/ subscriber provided the claim is made within 2 months of publication of the issue & a self-addressed envelope of the size 9" x 12" is sent to the Editor. (Those who want the journal to be dispatched by 'Registered Post' must affix postage stamps of \gtrless 50).

Editorial Office

Dr. Tanuj Kanchan (Editor, JIAFM) Room No. 3050, Department of Forensic Medicine & Toxicology All India Institute of Medical Sciences, Jodhpur Basni Industrial Area, Phase-2, Jodhpur-342005, Rajasthan Mobile: +91-9448252394 Email: editor.jiafm@gmail.com

Journal of Indian Academy of Forensic Medicine

Volume 43 Number 1 January - March 2021

Contents

Editorial Forensic wound age estimation: Exploring newer approaches <i>Vikas Meshram, Raghvendra Singh Shekhawat, Tanuj Kanchan</i>	1-2
Original Articles Radiological study of epiphyseal appearance and fusion around elbow joint on Bengali population of West Bengal <i>Abhishek Das, Sujash Biswas, Deepsekhar Dalal</i>	3-8
Age estimation in forensic investigations using tooth cementum annulations and pulp to tooth area ratio Athira C P, Sarvani Murthy, Naveen Kumar R K, Niveditha, Indu Sundaram T S, Jithin Jose	9-13
Assessment of the fusion of the sternum and the medial clavicular epiphysis for the purpose of age estimation: A conventional radiographic study <i>Narendra Kumar Vaishnawa, Anil Bishnoi, P.C.Vyas</i>	14-17
Sex estimation through mandibular ramus flexure using Orthopantomogram and Lateral Cephalogram – A comparative study Vidhya Arumugam, Nagabhushana Doggalli, Abirami Arthanari, Sushma Rudraswamy	18-21
Sex estimation using discriminant function analysis of the maximum length of clavicle: An autopsy-based study in Central India <i>Anuradha Singh, Rajendra Baraw, Jayanthi Yadav, Anurag Tomar, Aditya Saxena, Abhishek Arora</i>	22-24
A post mortem study on estimation of stature from humerus in a North Kerala population <i>Ajesh P P, Sujith Sreenivas C</i>	25-29
An autopsy-based study on developing standards for estimation of stature from percutaneous length of femur in female population of Madhya Pradesh, India Shrivastava Mohit, Thakur Pramendra Singh, Singh Bajrang Kumar, Soni Sunil, Pateria Devesh	30-33
Dermatoglyphics and saliva blood grouping can be used for sex identification Snehal Dhumal, Sheetal Korde Choudhari, Sneha Masne, Palak Khetan, Sangeeta Patankar	34-36
Histopathological changes in pancreas in cases of death due to burn injuries-A pilot study on postmortem histopathology <i>Abhishek Das, Nandini Das, Arani Chakraborty, Shuvro Bhattacharya, Bhawna Bhutoria Jain, Biswajit Su</i> .	37-41 kul
Road traffic injuries - A comprehensive retrospective analysis Arsalaan F. Rashid, Farida Noor, Masarat Jehan	42-46
Analysis of firearm deaths from Central Delhi region - A 6-year retrospective study <i>Raj Kumar, Dhiraj Buchade, Rohit Bhart, Upender Kishore</i>	47-50

Autopsy findings in sudden cardiac death victims at a tertiary health care centre Suwarna Patil, Prashant Zamad, Ajay Jungare, Anuja Nasare, Pradip Umap, Pradip Rudra	51-54
Pattern of asphyxial deaths: A medicolegal study Bharath Kumar Guntheti	55-59
Brought dead cases at a tertiary care hospital in Ahmedabad with reference to dispensing with the need of medico legal post-mortem examination: Provisions, Protocol & Procedure <i>Mohammed Ziyauddin G. Saiyed, Rohan C. Jani, C. B. Jani</i>	60-64
Paradoxes of suicide and psychological crisis - An Uttarakhand phenomenon during COVID-19 lockdown Shinto Devassy, Abel K. Samuel Johnson, Chandra Prakash Bhaisora, Pooja Hatwal	65-67
Screening for violence risk assessment of juveniles in a reformatory school in a capital city of Central India Neeharika Mishra, Richa Choudhury	68-71
Smartphone dependence: A socio-physiological nightmare Arsalaan F.Rashid, Akashdeep Aggarwal, Farida Noor, Masarat Jehan	72-75
Review Article Waive off or conduct medicolegal autopsy in suspected, probable or confirmed COVID-19 patients - A dilemma for Forensic Pathologists in an Indian scenario <i>Gautam Kumar, Kaushal Kishore, Avinash Kumar, Amit Patil, Sanjeev Kumar, Madhuri Kumari,</i> <i>Anand Kumar, Ratnesh Kumar</i>	76-81
Work pattern in Forensic Medicine: Challenges to Changes during COVID19 pandemic Raghvendra Kumar Vidua, Arneet Arora, Daideepya C Bhargava, Vivek Kumar Chouksey, Rituparna Jana, Ankit Dwivedi	82-85
Smegma: Myths and Facts <i>B. D. Gupta</i>	86-88
Case Reports Sudden cardiac death in an adolescent: A case of viral myocarditis Navneet Ateriya, Ashish Saraf, Tanuj Kanchan, Raghvendra Singh Shekhawat, Meenakshi Rao, Puneet Setia	89-91
Combined effect of cold with heart pathology in old Moirangthem Sangita, Atul Keche, Anuradha Singh, Poovaragavan V., Niranjan Sahoo	92-94
Accidental All Out mosquito repellent ingestion in girl child – A case report <i>Yogender Malik</i>	95-96
Correspondence Differential development of the ribs – Exploring the unexplored	97-98

Differential development of the ribs – Exploring the unexplored Rutwik Shedge, Tanuj Kanchan, Craig Cunningham, Kewal Krishan

EDITORIAL

Forensic wound age estimation: Exploring newer approaches

Vikas Meshram, Raghvendra Singh Shekhawat, Tanuj Kanchan

Department of Forensic Medicine and Toxicology, All India Institute of Medical Sciences, Jodhpur, India

Forensic Medicine speciality has been evolving continuously since its inception. This speciality covers a plethora of medicolegal work under its domain. Forensic wound examination is one such indispensable medico-legal work that involves differentiating antemortem infliction from post-mortem infliction, type of force used, a post-infliction interval of the wound, manner of infliction, correlation of injury with death or disability, etc. Estimation of wound age is one such critical task in both livings as well as dead. Dating of the wound is essential to corroborate the duration between its alleged infliction and examination.

Conventionally wound age is estimated by naked eye examination by studying colour changes and stages of healing. A superficial injury like abrasion follows a predictable healing pattern. Age can be estimated reasonably accurately unless healing is influenced by infection, foreign body impaction, or any other co-morbidity. The age of the bruise is estimated based on colour changes. However, the colour changes are also influenced by the amount and depth of the bleeding, the complexion of the person, etc. Additionally, healing of the bruises depends on the vascularity of region, size of the bruise, general health of the person, vascular disorders, etc. Incised wounds without any complications can heal with primary intention, and the course of its healing can be predicted. However, injuries like a laceration or other deep-seated injuries likely to be healed with secondary intension due to impending infection and extensive tissue loss do not help estimate wound age.

Wound healing follows sequential phases of inflammation, proliferation and maturation. The inflammatory phase is characterised by platelet aggregation and time-dependent infiltration of leucocytes such as neutrophils, macrophages, T lymphocytes. The proliferative phase is marked by epithelisation, formation of granulation tissue and angiogenesis. The maturation process involves collagen deposition, restructuring and strengthening of the wound region.¹ Histopathological examinations are routinely conducted to study these phase-wise changes as an adjuvant to gross findings to estimate age of wound.

Forensic wound age estimation methods have been making advancements from conventional techniques. First such attempt was made by Raekallio J, who studied enzyme activity by histochemistry in the central and peripheral zone of the wound. He concluded that enzyme activity is more marked in the peripheral zone, and enzymes like adenosine triphosphatase are earlier detected than inflammatory cells infiltration observed in histopathological examination.² With the advent of immunohistochemical techniques, newer approaches have been explored for wound age estimation. The role of the extracellular matrices, adhesion molecules, inflammatory cytokines and various growth factors in wound healing is already established. These parameters are thoroughly investigated for their utility in forensic wound age estimation.³

Adhesion molecules have an important role in the initial phases of wound healing. They are required for the migration of leucocytes as well as their interaction with endothelial cells. Hence, these markers are explored for age estimation of wounds inflicted within few hours. Drebler J et al., in their research, have found that P-selectin shows the earliest immunopositive reaction within few minutes of wound infliction and with positivity up to 7 hours. Other adhesion molecules like E-selectin, ICAM and VCAM also exhibit positive reactions within 1 to 3 hours.⁴⁻⁶ Betz and his colleagues have explored the role of collagen in the estimation of the time of wounds. They found that the expression of collagen III can be studied in wounds of 2 to 3 days, whereas collagen V and VI are expressed in wounds of more than 3 days. Collagens for basement membrane are apparent in wounds of more than 4 days duration. Collagen I was found in the lesions of more than 5 days post inflictions. Betz and co-workers had also explored the utility of fibronectin in wound age estimation. Fibronectin has a role in the adhesion and movement of fibroblast cells. They found fibronectin expression as early as 10 to 20 minutes, with a peak at around 4 hours.7-1

Cytokines are inflammatory markers produced by various inflammatory cells. They have a multisystem role. Cytokines such as interleukin (IL)-1, IL-6 and tumour necrosis factoralpha (TNF- α) are pro-inflammatory mediators. In their study on mice, Japanese researchers observed that these cytokines initially showed a positive reaction for neutrophils and later on with macrophages and fibroblast. The TNF- α and IL1 β reached a peak 3 hours post infliction, and IL-1a and IL-6 achieved a peak at 6 and 12 hours, respectively. There was another peak for each cytokine at around 72 hours. Hence, it was demonstrated that these cytokines have a role in the initial inflammatory phase and later wound remodelling.¹² Chemokines are chemotactic cytokines that have a role in cellular migration. IL-8, MCP-1 and MIP-1a are important chemotactic cytokines for neutrophil, monocyte and macrophage, respectively. Kondo T et al. studied the immunoexpression of these markers. They found that wounds of age 1 to 4 days showed more than 50% immunopositive reaction for IL-8, whereas MCP-1 and MIP-1a showed positive reactivity of more than 30% and more than 40% in wounds of

Corresponding Author

Tanuj Kanchan (Editor-in-chief; Journal of Indian Academy of Forensic Medicine) Email: tanujkanchan@yahoo.co.in, kanchant@aiimsjodhpur.edu.in Mobile: +91 9448252394

the age of at least 1 day respectively.¹³⁻¹⁴

Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) have a crucial role in angiogenesis. Takamiya et al. demonstrated the utility of VEGF and bFGF for wound age estimation in their animal research (14). Hayashi et al. conducted the study on human subjects and showed that wounds of age 7 to 21 days had a VEGF-positive ratio of >50% expressed on macrophages and fibroblasts in human skin wounds.¹⁵ TGF-a has a role in epidermal cell proliferation, whereas TGF-B1 has a role in collagen deposition. The potential role of these markers had been studied in the estimation of wound age, and they showed enhanced immunopositivity during the first hour after the infliction of injury.¹⁶ Ubiquitin (Ub) is a heat shock protein. Researchers have explored its role in estimating the timing of wounds and found that positivity of more than 30% in wounds of age 7 to 14 days.¹⁷ Expression of p53 gene, which is a marker of cellular apoptosis, was also investigated and p53 positive fibroblast showed increased expression in wounds of a postinfliction interval of 1 to 2 days.¹⁸

The focus of forensic pathologists has now shifted to study mRNA expression of various markers using RT-PCR. Meanwhile, the role of other novel markers like IL-33, FoxO1 expression, etc. is also being continuously explored in various human and animal experiments.¹⁹⁻²⁰ Wound age estimation by neutrophil migration distance is also attempted.²¹

Forensic pathologists from the western world and Asian counterparts like Japan and China have progressed leap and bounds in exploring research based on forensic wound age estimation. However, in India, we still rely mostly on conventional methods like gross examination and routine histopathology. Advanced pathological modalities are being extensively used for clinical diagnosis and management in India as well. However, same is not the case with medico-legal investigation. The expensive cost of these newer techniques, lack of funds and apathy towards medico-legal work are the possible deterrents for utilisation of newer researches in the speciality of Forensic Medicine. It is pertinent that all these advanced techniques are utilised for the medico-legal investigation to create an Indian database for the administration of justice.

References

- 1. Ohshima T. Forensic wound examination. Forensic Sci Int. 2000;113(1-3):153-164.
- Raekallio J. Timing of wounds in forensic medicine. Jpn J Legal Med 1976;30:125–36
- 3. Kondo T. Timing of skin wounds. Leg Med. 2007;9(2):109-114.
- 4. Drebler J, Bachmann L, Koch R, Mu["] ller E. Estimation of wound age and VCAM-1 in human skin. Int J Legal Med 1999;112:159–62.
- Drebler J, Bachmann L, Koch R, Mu["] ller E. Enhanced expression of selectins in human skin wounds. Int J Legal Med 1999;112:39–44.

- Drebler J, Bachmann L, Kasper M, Hauck JG, Mu[¨] ller E. Time dependence of the expression of ICAM-1 (CD 54) in human skin wounds. Int J Legal Med 1997;110:299–304.
- Betz P, Nerlich A, Wilske J, Tubel J, Penning R, Eisenmenger W. Analysis of the immunohistochemical localisation of collagen type III and V for the time-estimation of human skin wounds. Int J Legal Med 1993;105:329–32.
- Betz P, Nerlich A, Wilske J, Tubel J, Penning R, Eisenmenger W. Immunohistochemical localisation of collagen types I and VI in human skin wounds. Int J Legal Med 1993;106:31–4.
- Betz P, Nerlich A, Wilske J, Tubel J, Wiest I, Penning R, et al. The time-dependent rearrangement of the epithelial basement membrane in human skin wounds-immunohistochemical localisation of collagen IV and VII. Int J Legal Med 1992;105:93–7.
- Betz P, Nerlich A, Wilske J, Tubel J, Wiest I, Penning R, et al. Timedependent pericellular expression of collagen type IV, laminin, and heparan sulfate proteoglycan in myofibroblasts. Int J Legal Med 1992;105:169–72.
- Betz P, Nerlich A, Wilske J, Tubel J, Wiest I, Penning R, et al.Immunohistochemical localisation of fibronectin as a tool for the age determination of human skin wounds. Int J Legal Med1992;105:21–6.
- T. Kondo, T. Ohshima, The dynamics of inflammatory cytokines in the healing process of mouse skin wound: a preliminary study for possible wound age determination, Int.J. Legal Med. 108 (1996) 231–236.
- IL-8, MCP-1 and MIP-1alpha Kondo T, Ohshima T, Mori R, Guan DW, Ohshima K, Eisenmenger W. Immunohistochemical detection of chemokines in human skin wounds and its application to wound age determination. Int J Legal Med 2002;116:87–91.
- Takamiya M, Saigusa K, Aoki Y. Immunohistochemical study of basic fibroblast growth factor and vascular endothelial growth factor expression for age determination of cutaneous wounds. Am J Forensic Med Pathol 2002;23:264–7.
- Hayashi T, Ishida Y, Kimura A, Takayasu T, Eisenmenger W, Kondo T. Forensic application of VEGF expression to skin wound age determination. Int J Legal Med 2004;118:320–5.
- Grellner W, Vieler S, Madea B. Transforming growth factors (TGFalpha and TGF-beta1) in the determination of vitality and wound age: immunohistochemical study on human skin wounds. Forensic Sci Int. 2005;153:174–80.
- 17. Kondo T, Tanaka J, Ishida Y, Mori R, Takayasu T, Ohshima T. Ubiquitin expression in skin wounds and its application to forensic wound age determination. Int J Legal Med. 2002;116:267–72.
- Hausmann R, Nerlich A, Betz P. The time-related expression of p53 protein in human skin wounds – a quantitative immunohistochemical analysis. Int J Legal Med. 1998;111:169–72.
- Yao Y, Huang JJ, Jin X, Zhao JX, Xia CJ, Tong Y, Gao Y, Yu LS, Fan YY. Function of IL-33 in Wound Age Estimation of Skin Wounds in Mice. Fa Yi Xue Za Zhi. 2020;36(2):192-198.
- Chen Y, Ji XY, Fan YY, Yu LS. [Relationship between FoxO1 Expression and Wound Age during Skin Incised Wound Healing]. Fa Yi Xue Za Zhi. 2018;34(1):7-12.
- 21. Liu QQ, Guo HM, Wang L, Lu HL, Du QX, Bai RF, Sun JH, Wang YY. Wound Age Estimation by Neutrophil Migration Distance. Fa Yi Xue Za Zhi. 2019;35(2):166-170.

Radiological study of epiphyseal appearance and fusion around elbow joint on Bengali population of West Bengal

Abhishek Das¹, Sujash Biswas², Deepsekhar Dalal¹

1 Department of Forensic and State Medicine, Medical College, Kolkata. 88 College Street. West Bengal, India.

2 Department of Forensic Medicine and Toxicology, Rampurhat Government Medical College, Hospital More, Rampurhat, Birbhum, West Bengal, India

Abstract

Determination of age and corroboration of chronological age with skeletal age is often done in doubtful situations of civil and criminal cases. Skeletal age is determined by radiological examination of different joints to assess appearance and fusion of secondary ossification centers of bones. This study was aimed to assess such findings around elbow joints with respect to valid chronological age in Bengali population. It was a retrospective study of 480 subjects' anteroposterior and lateral view of elbow skiagrams aged between 7-20 years for both male and female subjects. Head of radius, medial epicondyle of humerus, trochlea of humerus, olecranon process of ulna, lateral epicondyle of humerus were examined in each case and found to be present in all cases by 8, 10, 10, 11, 12 years in females and 10, 10, 13, 14, 14 years in males. Fusion of epiphyses was found to follow a similar sequence between 8-10 years of age in average. Majority of the fusion occurred around 13 years in female and around 15 years in male. The range of age of appearance and fusion of each bony landmark was also determined in this study. The present study is a step forward in solving medicolegal disputes of skeletal age determination in West Bengal with a standard reference range.

Keywords

Skeletal age; Radiological examination; Elbow joint; Bengali population; Age determination

Introduction

Age is an important datum for identification. Often the chronological age of a person is questioned as documentation pertaining registration of birth is incomplete for many individuals. Usually the dental, physical and radiological data is combined to estimate the age of an individual. Mostly, in children and adolescents, skeletal age and chronological age tally with each other.¹ In various civil and criminal issues, on request from appropriate authority or as per order of the Learned court, determination of age is a performed. Indian Courts often employ this principle of "ossification test" among different methods applied as ages of appearance of the secondary centers of ossification of different long bones and their fusion of epiphyses with diaphysis are considered a reliable guide.² But it varies with different nutritional, developmental, endocrinal factors which affect skeletal growth.

Notable works on the determination of age from the appearance and fusion of epiphyses in long bones around different joints of the body namely elbow, wrist, pelvis, knee, shoulder, ankle and others have been carried out in different parts of India and

Corresponding Author

Dr. Deepsekhar Dalal (Assistant Professor) Email: deepsekhardalal@gmail.com Mobile: 9433402243

Article History Received: 17th June, 2020; Accepted: 22nd November, 2020 abroad. It is evident that there is significant difference in the age of epiphyseal union in different populations even within a country.³ Radiological examination around elbow joint allows numerous secondary ossification centers to be studied in the lower end of humerus and upper end of radius and ulna, thus it is a reliable single joint helpful in age estimation. The age of appearance of ossification centers has a relatively fixed ascending chronological age sequence as published by literatures- Capitulum (humerus), Radius head, Internal or medial epicondyle (humerus), Trochlea (humerus), Olecranon process (ulna), and External or CRITOE or CRITOL may be formed.⁴⁻⁷

Likewise, distinct characteristics in elbow ossification may exist in the population of West Bengal, and this information is lacking comprehensively in present literature. Here, we aimed to evaluate the respective status of age and sequence of appearance and fusion of the secondary ossification centers in radiographs around elbow joint, and correlate the same with sex and known chronological age.

Materials and Methods

In this retrospective study, post approval by the Institutional Ethics Committee, the study was initiated and carried out during a 6 month period from January 2020 to June 2020. Proper informed consent was taken from all the study participants prior to the radiological examination. The inclusion criterion was boys and girls who are permanent residents of West Bengal (Bengali population), and those who underwent anterior- posterior and lateral elbow radiograph of the non-

dominant side (e.g., left sided radiograph for right-handed subject and vice versa) and where both the skiagrams are available. The exclusion criteria consisted of cases with history of any previous injury or surgery around elbow, suspected or confirmed diagnoses of metabolic, nutritional, developmental, endocrinal or any other pathological disorder that could modify the ossification center growth & development, poor quality of skiagrams and where stated age was not known or couldn't be verified from valid documents. Subjects were grouped into categories with one year age interval. Each individual was included in one group only as per completed years of age and for those who were radiographically evaluated multiple times, only the initial exam was considered. We included young adults (18 years and above) to allow for the inclusion of patients who had achieved skeletal maturity and complete ossification and fusion of the elbow joint ossification centers. The population included 480 subjects (366 boys, 114 girls), with age between 7 and 20 years. The presence or absence and fusion or non-fusion of each secondary ossification center around elbow joint was evaluated following the classification (1a) appeared, (1b) not appeared; (2a) fusion not started, (2b) partial or incomplete fusion, (2c) complete fusion. We considered a complete fusion when the growth plate was totally obliterated and ossified. The skiagrams examination and evaluation was performed by two observers blindly and independently.⁴ Radiological status of the bony landmarks were duly noted and tabulated in MS Excel spreadsheet rationally for analysis.

Results

From a total of 503 subjects' skiagrams of elbow joint, 480 subjects (male=76.25%, female=23.75%) were selected based on the inclusion and exclusion criteria. The age ranged from 7-20 years and were categorized into fourteen groups each of one year interval (Figure 1). The female population was aged between 8- 18 years and the male population was aged between 7- 20 years.

Appearance of Head of Radius: Radiological evidence pointed towards the appearance of head of radius in all 114 females (100%) aged between 8- 18 years. In male population it does not appear before 8 years of age, with majority (93.75%) showing radiological evidence of appearance beyond 8 years. Beyond 10 years, all the males showed radiological appearance. (Table 1)

Fusion of Head of Radius: Though evidence of start of fusion was observed at 8 years of age in case of one male (1/8) and two females female (2/16), in majority, the fusion did not start before 10 years (66.67%) in females and before 12 years (66.67%) in case of males. Complete fusion was observed from 11 years (2/19) in females and 13 years (3/39) in males. In majority complete fusion was observed by 13 years in female

(57.14%) and 15 years in males (69.23%). We found complete fusion in all cases beyond 15 years in female and 18 years in male. (Table 1)

Table 1: Age (in years) of appearance and fusion of Head of radius (n=480)

Аде	Age Not Appeared			А	Appeared			usioi star	n not ted	Act	ive f	usion	Complete fusion			
(years)	Ŷ	8	Total	Ŷ	3	Total	Ŷ	8	Total	Ŷ	3	Total	Ŷ	S	Total	
7		1	1		1	1		1	1							
8		1	1	8	15	23	7	14	21	1	2	3				
9		2	2	26	46	72	24	46	70	2	2	4				
10				12	51	63	4	44	48	8	7	15				
11				19	42	61	2	27	29	15	15	30	2		2	
12				25	57	82		19	19	13	38	51	12		12	
13				7	39	46		7	7	3	29	32	4	3	7	
14				8	35	43		1	1	1	21	22	7	13	20	
15				1	26	27					8	8	1	18	19	
16				6	22	28					2	2	6	20	26	
17				1	22	23					3	3	1	19	20	
18				1	5	6							1	5	6	
19					1	1								1	1	
20					1	1								1	1	

Table 2: Age (in years) of appearance and fusion of Medial epicondyle of humerus (n=480)

Age Not Appeare			peared	A	ppea	ared	Fu s	Fusion not started			ive f	usion	Complete fusion			
(years)	Ŷ	3	Total	Ŷ	3	Total	Ŷ	8	Total	Ŷ	8	Total	Ŷ	3	Total	
7		1	1					1	1							
8		1	1	8	15	23	6	15	21	2	1	3				
9	1	1	2	25	47	72	14	43	57	12	5	17				
10				12	51	63	2	39	41	10	12	22				
11				19	42	61		23	23	18	19	37	1		1	
12				25	57	82		20	20	14	37	51	11		11	
13				7	39	46		7	7	2	30	32	5	2	7	
14				8	35	43				3	26	29	5	9	14	
15				1	26	27					9	9	1	17	18	
16				6	22	28					4	4	6	18	24	
17				1	22	23					2	2	1	20	21	
18				1	5	6							1	5	6	
19					1	1								1	1	
20					1	1								1	1	

Appearance of medial epicondyle of Humerus: There was radiological evidence of appearance in 99% (113/114) females aged between 8 and 18 years except in a single case of 9 years of age. In male population it does not appear before 8 years of age, with majority (93.75%) showing radiological evidence of appearance beyond 8 years. Beyond 10 years, all males showed radiological appearance of medial epicondyle of Humerus. (Table 2)

Fusion of medial epicondyle of Humerus: Though evidence of starting of fusion was observed beyond 8 years of age in two males (2/8) and one female (1/16), in majority, fusion did not start before 10 years (83.33%) in females and before 12 years (64.91%) in males. Complete fusion was observed from 11 years (1/19) in females and 13 years (2/39) in males, for majority the fusion was completed by 13 years in females (71.43%) and 15 years in males (65.38%). We found complete fusion in all cases beyond 15 years in females and 18 years in males. (Table 2)

Appearance of trochlea of Humerus: Radiological findings indicated non-appearance in 37.5% (3/8) aged 8 years and 7.69% (2/26) aged 9 years in female population. Beyond 10 years, all the female subjects show evidence of radiological appearance. In male population it does not appear before 8 years of age with 50% showing radiological evidence of appearance beyond 9 years of age. Beyond 13 years, all the males showed evidence of appearance of trochlea of Humerus. (Table 3)

Table 3: Age (in years) of appearance and fusion of Trochlea of humerus (n=480)

Age	Not	Арр	eared	A	ppea	red	Fu	sion start	not ed	Act	ive f	usion	Complete fusion			
(years)	Ŷ	8	Total	Ŷ	8	Total	Ŷ	8	Total	Ŷ	8	Total	Ŷ	ð	Total	
7		1	1					1	1							
8	3	9	12	5	7	12	8	12	20		4	4				
9	2	24	26	24	24	48	17	43	60	9	5	14				
10		18	18	12	33	45	3	45	48	9	6	15				
11		5	5	19	37	56	1	19	20	18	22	40		1	1	
12		3	3	25	54	79		16	16	16	39	55	9	2	11	
13				7	39	46		3	3	2	33	35	5	3	8	
14				8	35	43				2	21	23	6	14	20	
15				1	26	27					11	11	1	15	16	
16				6	22	28					2	2	6	20	26	
17				1	22	23					2	2	1	20	21	
18				1	5	6							1	5	6	
19					1	1								1	1	
20					1	1								1	1	

Fusion of trochlea of Humerus: Though evidence of onset of fusion was observed from 9 years of age in females (9/26) and 8 years of age in four males (4/16), for majority fusion did not start before 10 years (75%) in females and before 11 years (52.38%) in males. Complete fusion was observed beyond 12 years (9/25) in females and 11 years (1/42) in males. In majority fusion was seen to be completed by 13 years in females (71.43%) and 15 years in males (57.69%). We found evidence of complete fusion in all cases beyond 15 years in females and 18 years in males. (Table 3)

Appearance of tip of olecranon process of ulna: Lack of radiological evidence of appearance was observed in 12.5%

(1/8) aged 8 years, 19.23% (5/26) aged 9 years and one case 10 years (1/12) in female population. Beyond 11 years, all the female subjects show evidence of radiological appearance of tip of olecranon process of ulna. In male population, radiological evidence was not present before 8 years of age with majority (83.33%) showing radiological evidence beyond 11 years. Beyond 14 years, all males showed evidence of radiological appearance of tip of olecranon process of ulna. (Table 4)

Table 4: Age (in years) of appearance and fusion of Olecranon process of ulna (n=480)

Age	Age Not Appeared		A	ppea	red	Fu s	sion tarte	not ed	Act	ive f	usion	Complete fusion			
(years)	Ŷ	3	Total	Ŷ	3	Total	Ŷ	3	Total	Ŷ	8	Total	Ŷ	3	Total
7		1	1					1	1						
8	1	14	15	7	2	9	8	16	24						
9	5	31	36	21	17	38	20	46	66	6	2	8			
10	1	27	28	11	24	35	6	49	55	6	2	8			
11		7	7	19	35	54	3	32	34	15	10	25	1		1
12		4	4	25	53	78		30	30	13	27	40	12		12
13		2	2	7	37	44		9	9	3	28	31	4	2	6
14				8	35	43		1	1	1	18	19	7	16	23
15				1	26	27					8	8	1	18	19
16				6	22	28					3	3	6	19	25
17				1	22	23					3	3	1	19	20
18				1	5	6							1	5	6
19					1	1								1	1
20					1	1								1	1

Table 5: Age (in years) of appearance and fusion of Lateral epicondyle of humerus (n=480)

Age Not A		Арр	eared	Appeared			Fusion not started			Active fusion			Complete fusion		
(years)	Ŷ	8	Total	Ŷ	8	Total	Ŷ	8	Total	Ŷ	8	Total	Ŷ	3	Total
7		1	1					1	1						
8	6	16	22	2		2	8	16	24						
9	14	47	61	12	1	13	19	48	67	6		6	1		1
10	4	43	47	8	8	16	5	47	52	6	4	10	1		1
11	2	27	29	17	15	32	2	35	38	13	6	19	4	1	5
12		19	19	25	38	63		26	26	7	28	35	18	3	21
13		2	2	7	37	44		5	5		27	27	7	7	14
14				8	35	43					16	16	8	19	27
15				1	26	27					3	3	1	23	24
16				6	22	28							6	22	28
17				1	22	23							1	22	23
18				1	5	6							1	5	6
19					1	1								1	1
20					1	1								1	1

Fusion of olecranon process of ulna: Though evidence of onset of fusion was observed beyond 9 years of age in few cases of male (6/26) and females (2/48), and in 50% fusion did not start before 10 years in females and before 13 years in

71.79% males. Complete fusion was observed from 11 years (1/19) in females and 13 years (2/39) in males, and for majority complete fusion was observed by 13 years in females (57.14%) and 15 years in males (69.23%). We found complete fusion for all cases beyond 15 years in females and 18 years in males. (Table 4)

Appearance of lateral epicondyle of Humerus: In the female population, majority showed non- appearance upto 10 years of age and beyond 12 years of age all females showed radiological appearance of lateral epicondyle of Humerus. In males, non-appearance was observed prior to 9 years of age, with majority of population (66.67%) showing appearance beyond 12 years and for all cases after 14 years of age. (Table 5)

Fusion of lateral epicondyle of Humerus: Though evidence of onset of fusion was observed from 9 years of age in few females (6/26) and 10 years in case of males (4/51), for majority fusion was absent prior to 10 years (50%) in females and before 13 years (69.23%) in males. Complete fusion was observed from 9 years (1/26) in females and 11 years (1/42) in males, and for majority complete fusion was observed by 12 years in females (72%) and 14 years in males (54.28%). Complete fusion was seen in all cases beyond 13 years of age in females and 16 years in males. (Table 5)

Author, year and study	Head o	of radius	Medial epicondyle of Humerus		Tro of Hu	chlea Imerus	Olec	ranon s of Ulna	Lateral epicondyle of Humerus		
population	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male	Female	
Hepworth SM 1929 (Punjab) ²²	14	4-15	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	_	
Lal & Nat 1934 (U.P.) ²³	17										
Pillai MJS 1936 (South India) ²⁴	14	i -17	14-17				14-16		11-12		
Galstaun G 1937 (India) ²⁵	16-17	14-15	16	14	11-15	9-13	17	15	11-16	10-12	
Basu & Basu 1938 (Bengal) ²⁶		13-14									
Lall R & Townsend RS 1939 (U.P.) ²⁷		16		15							
Aggrawal ML & Pathak IC 1957 (Punjab) ²⁸				15-15.5							
DasGupta et al 1974 (U.P.) ²⁹	16-17	17-18	18-19	17-18							
Sahni & Jit 1995 (Punjab) ³⁰		16		16							
Patel et al 2000 (Gujrat) ¹³	16-17	15-16	17-18	16-17	14-15	13-14	16-17	15-16	14-15	13-14	
Singh B 2007 (Manipur) ³¹		18		18							
Sangma WB 2007 (North East India) ³²		16		16							
Nemade et al. 2007 (Maharashtra) ²	17-18	14-15	17-18	15-16							
Bhise et al. 2011 (Maharashtra) ¹	16-17	14-16	16-17	14-16	14-16	14-15	16-17	14-16	15-17	14-15	

Discussion

The justification for performing this study was to help medical professionals and law keeping authorities with a standard reference guideline of age range for a Bengali population. The study aimed at determining and corroborating skeletal age with chronological (stated age) age of the individual with the help of radiological examination. Attempts have been made to carry out similar studies in Manipur⁸, Uttar Pradesh and Uttarakhand^{9,10}, western (Maharashtra, Gujrat),^{2,11-13} southern (Karnataka)³ part of Indian population in recent past, but a comprehensive study on population of East Indian planes is rare entity. In the abroad, significant research works have been published on Egyptian,¹⁴ Burmese,¹⁵ English,¹⁶ Peshawari,¹⁷ Australian,¹⁸ Brazilian,⁴ Sudanese¹⁹ and European population.^{20,21}

We studied both the radiological appearance and fusion of the ossification centers of all the bones around elbow joint including head of radius, medial epicondyle of humerus, trochlea of humerus, olecranon process of ulna, lateral epicondyle of humerus. This combined and comprehensive approach has not been attempted in any other national and international studies. Usually the appearance and fusion of these bony landmarks occurs earlier in females as compared to males.⁴ In our study a similar finding was observed except for with the trochlea where an earlier appearance was observed in males (8 years) as compared to 9 years in females. Appearance and fusion of all centres in all cases completed first in females and then in males while maintaining the C-R-I-T-O-E mnemonic sequence.

Regarding the fusion of epiphyses with respective diaphysis, a comparison with other Indian and foreign researchers' findings has been tabulated in Table 6.²²⁻³³ It is evident that very few earlier researchers analysed male and female population separately while considering fusion of all the ossification centers around elbow joints together.

Our study corroborates the findings of fusion of radial head in males with Brazillian and European populations and also with the study by Hepworth, Pillai, Patel et al., Bhise et al., Gaddewar et al. Findings of Lal & Nat on Uttar Pradesh population was on a higher side when compared to the present study. In females, most of the earlier studies estimate a higher age of fusion of radial head.^{4,11-13,20-24}

Considering fusion of medial epicondyle in males, our study shows a lower range of age than most of the other national and international studies and higher age range than Manipuri population but somehow corroborates with the findings of Brazilian study and Choudhary et al. In females, Bengali population has a lower age of fusion of medial epicondyle.^{34,8}

Fusion of trochlea of humerus occurs at a comparable age range when compared to other study findings in males. However in females, the age tallies with the findings of Ragui et al., Patel et al. and lower than the other studies and higher than the findings of Galstaun et al. $^{\rm 8,13,25}$

In our study age of fusion of olecranon process of ulna in male was comparable with Brazilian population, Bhise et al., Patel et al., Pillai, Galstaun study and lower than Sudanese population. In females it tallies with Brazilian study but lower than Sudanese population, Dixit et al., Bhise et al., Patel et al., Pillai, Galstaun study findings.^{4,10,11,13,19,24,25}

The age of fusion of lateral epicondyle of humerus in males is same with Manipuri population, Karnataka population, Galstaun study but lower than Brazilian and Sudanese population, Patel et al., Bhise et al., Singh et al. study findings and higher than Pillai study done earlier on South Indian population. In females, it is comparable to Pillai study and Galstaun study, but lower than all other studies.^{34,8,11,13,19,24,25,31} (Table-6)

The discrepancies in findings may be due to geographical location or constitutional factors. But further extensive longitudinal study with wider age range may yield better results.

Conclusion

The earlier reliable documented study on Bengali population was done 82 years back on female subjects only. An in depth study was required for determining a reliable reference range of age. This study is a way towards that goal. Radiological analysis of appearance and fusion of ossification centers around elbow joint can be used for estimation of age in Bengali population in future taking the present study findings as reference.

Ethical clearance: A prior approval was obtained from the Institutional Ethics Committee

Conflict of interest: None to declare

Source of funding: None to declare

References

- Canavese F, Charles YP, Dimeglio A. Skeletal age assessment from elbow radiographs. Review of the literature. Chir Organi Mov. 2008;92(1):1-6. Doi:10.1007/s12306-008-0032-9
- Nemade KS, Kamdi NY, Meshram MM. The age order of epiphyseal union around elbow joint- A radiological study in Vidarbha. IJRTST. 2014;10(2):251-255
- Choudhary U, Kumar S, Singh A, Bharti P. A radiological study of ossification at the lower end of humerus for age estimation among boys in Central Karnataka, India. Int J Res Med Sci 2017;5:1204-1207.
- 4. Miyazaki CS, Maranho DA, Agnollitto PM, Barbosa MHN. Study of secondary ossification centers of the elbow in the Brazilian population. Acta Ortop Bras. 2017;25(6):279-82
- 5. Skeletal age at elbow [Internet]. [cited April 2020]. Available from:

http://www0.sun.ac.za/ortho/webct-ortho/age/critoe.html [Accessed: 10th June 2020]

- Cheng JC, Wing-Man K, Shen WY, Yurianto H, Xia G, Lau JT, et al. A new look at the sequential development of elbow-ossification centers in children. J Pediatr Orthop. 1998;18(2): 161-7.
- Kamath AF, Baldwin K, Horneff J, Hosalkar HS. Operative versus non-operative management of pediatric medial epicondyle fractures: a systematic review. J Child Orthop. 2009;3(5):345-57
- Ragui S, Singh TB, Meera T, Nabachandra H. Age Determination in Manipuri Subjects from the eruption of Teeth and Epiphyseal Union of Upper Limb. J Indian Acad Forensic Med 2015; 37(1):41-45
- Singh A, Singh DK, Ahmad MS, Patil PV, paricharak DG. Radiological Study of Union of Lower End of Humerus and Femur for Estimation of 16 and 18 Years Age in Agra Region. J Indian Acad Forensic Med. 2016; 38(1): 42-44
- Dixit SP, Bansal RK. Study of Ossification Centres Fusion of Elbow Joint in 15 to 17 Years Garhwali Females of Dehradun Region. J Indian Acad Forensic Med 2014;36:(4):396-398
- Bhise SS, Nanandkar SD. Age determination from radiological study of epiphysial appearance and fusion around elbow joint. Journal of Forensic Medicine, Science and Law 2011; 20(1):1-9
- Gaddewar R, Meshram MM. Radiological assessment of elbow joint for skeletal maturity in Vidarbha Region. Indian J Clin Anat Physiol 2017;4(3):356-360
- Patel DS, Shilajiya D, Shah KA. Radiological study of epiphyseal fusion at elbow region in relation to physiological findings in 12-17years age group. J Indian Acad Forensic Med 2009; 31(4):360-367
- Sidhom G. and Derry D.E. Dates of union of some epiphyses in Egyptian from X-ray photographs. J Anat 1931:65(2):196 – 211
- Barrett JH. The union of certain epiphyses in a mixed female population in Rangoon. J Anat 1936; 70: 432-434.
- Paterson RS. Radiological investigation of the epiphyses of the long bones. J Anat 1929;64(1):28–46
- Ledger LK and Wasson TC. Ages of epiphyseal union at the Elbow and wrist joints amongst 238 children in North – West frontier province. Ind Med Gaz 1941;76:81–84
- Flecker H. Roentgenographic observations of the times of appearance of epiphyses and their fusion with the diaphysis. J. Anat. 1933; 67: 118–164.
- Alwahbany SAM, Ahmed TO, Hussien AD. Radiological assessment of closure time of around elbow secondary ossification

centers, in Khartoum hospital, Khartoum north hospital, Omdurman hospital, police hospital, and Umbadda hospital, in Khartoum, Sudan (December 2009-2010). Int J Orthop Sc 2017; 3(2): 806-812

- Breathnach A.S. Editor, of Frazer's Anatomy of human 5th ed. London: J.A. Churchill Ltd: page no. 77, 87, 118,127, 142, 1958
- 21. Bannister L.H. Editor, of Gray's Anatomy Descriptive and applied 38th Ed.1995; Page no.626,636, 639,669,684,697,711.
- Hepworth S.M. On the determination of age in Indians from a study of the ossification of the epiphyses of the long bones. Int Med Gaz. 1929:128-131
- Lal R. and Nat B.S. Ages of epiphyseal union at the elbow and wrist joints amongst Indians.Indian J. Med. Res. 1934; 21: 683-689
- Pillai MJS. The study of epiphyseal union for determining the age of South Indians. Indian J Med Res 1936;23(45):1015-1017
- Galstaun G. A study of ossification as observed in Indian subjects. Indians J Med Res 1937;25(1):267-324
- Basu S.K. and Basu S. A contribution to the study of diaphysioepiphyseal relations at the elbow of young Bengalee girls. Ind. Jour. Paediat. 1938; 201-204
- Lal R and Townsend RS. Ages of epiphyseal union at the Elbow and wrist joints amongst Indian Girls. Indian Med Gaz 1939 Oct:614-615
- Aggrwal MI and Pathak IC. Roentgenologic study of epiphyseal union in Punjabi girls for determination of age. Indian J med Res 1957;45(2):283-289.
- 29. Das Gupta SM, Prasad V, Singh S. A roentgenologic study of epiphyseal union around Elbow, wrist and knee joints and pelvis in Boys and Girls of Uttar Pradesh. J Indian M A 1974;62:10-12
- Sahni D. and Jit I. Time of fusion of epiphyses at the elbow and wrist joints in girls of northwest India. Forensic Sci Int.1995; 74(1-2): 47-55
- Singh B. Determination of age of majority of Manipuri girls from the radiological examination of the joints. Indmedica-Medico-Legal update 2007; 7(2):4-6
- Sangma WBC, Marak FM, Singh MS, Kharrubon B. Age determination in girls of North-Eastern region of India. J Indian Acad Forensic Med. 2007;29(4):101-107
- 33. Jnanesh RS, Thomas ST, Gowd HS. Estimation of age by roentgenologic study of epiphyseal union at the lower end of Humerus in Karnataka. Anatomica Karnataka. 2011;5(1):6-10

Age estimation in forensic investigations using tooth cementum annulations and pulp to tooth area ratio

Athira C P¹, Sarvani Murthy², Naveen Kumar R K³, Niveditha¹, Indu Sundaram T S¹, Jithin Jose¹

1 Department of Oral Pathology and Microbiology, Indira Gandhi Institute of Dental Sciences, Ernakulam, Kerala, India

2 Department of Oral Pathology and Microbiology, Sri Hasanamba Dental College and Hospital, Hassan

3 Department of Oral pathology and Microbiology, Farooqia dental College, Mysore, Karnataka, India

Abstract

Forensic age estimation is beneficial in the process of identification of deceased in mass disasters and in determining age for social benefits, license and legal requirements. This study aims to compare two methods of age estimation; the tooth cementum annulations (TCA), and, pulp to tooth area ratio (PTR), in terms of reliability and correlation with actual age. Mandibular first premolar teeth which were used for the estimation of age using cementum annulations, were obtained from thirty patients undergoing therapeutic extraction for orthodontic treatment. For the same patients mandibular canine and premolar radiographs were also obtained with prior informed consent and were employed for age estimation using pulp to tooth area ratio. Mandibular first premolar teeth were sectioned for visualization of cemental annulations using phase contrast microscope. Number of TCA was added to the average age of eruption to estimate the age of individual. Mandibular canine and first premolar radiographs were taken using paralleling technique and PTR was estimated using Autocad 2007 software. TCA using phase contrast microscopy was found to be a highly reliable method for age estimation in comparison to PTR (p=0.000). When all the parameters used in the study were combined by multiple regression analysis, highest accuracy of age estimation with least standard deviation of 1.86 years was obtained. Age estimation from tooth cementum annulations is more accurate when compared with pulp to tooth area ratio. The combination of different methods will provide more reliability in age estimation as compared to relying upon a single method.

Keywords

Age estimation; Tooth cementum annulations; Pulp to tooth area ratio

Introduction

Forensic odontology is that branch of dentistry which, in the interest of justice deals with a proper handling and examination of dental evidences and with evaluation and presentation of dental findings.¹ Its pivotal role is in the identification of living or deceased individual which is usually done by extracting triad of information that constitute age, sex and population affinity.²Forensic age estimation is beneficial in the process of identification of deceased in mass disasters and in determination of age for social benefits, licenses and as a proof of legal majority.³Teeth are the most reliable tools in estimation of age as they are highly resistant to physical and chemical destruction.⁴Different methods of age estimation can be grouped as radiographic, histological, biochemical and visual methods.

Accuracy, precision, reliability and simplicity are the cardinal requirements of any age assessment method.⁵ The present study aims to compare two methods of age estimation, the Tooth

Corresponding Author

Dr. Athira C P (Senior Lecturer) Email:athiraaravind90@gmail.com Mobile: 8867817490

Article History

Received: 13th June, 2020; Revision received on: 13th March, 2021 Accepted: 29th March, 2021 Cementum Annulations (TCA), and, Pulp to Tooth area Ratio (PTR) in terms of reliability and correlation with actual age. Major objectives of this study were determination of correlation between actual age and estimated age by tooth cementum annulations using phase contrast microscopy; and determination of correlation between actual age and estimated age using pulp to tooth area ratio of the mandibular first premolar, and mandibular canine. The study objectives also included comparison of pulp to tooth area ratio and tooth cementum annulations in terms of correlation between actual age and estimated age and estimated age, and determination of correlation between actual age and estimated age from combination of above parameters. The parameters were combined as follows:

- 1. By combination of pulp to tooth area ratio of mandibular first premolar and pulp to tooth area ratio of mandibular canine.
- 2. By combination of all the three variables which are tooth cementum annulations method, pulp to tooth area ratio of mandibular first premolar and pulp to tooth area ratio of mandibular canine.

Materials and Methods

The research was approved by Institutional Ethical committee. Mandibular first premolar teeth which were used for the estimation of age using cementum annulations, were obtained from patients undergoing therapeutic extraction for orthodontic treatment. From the same patients mandibular canine and premolar radiographs were also obtained with prior informed consent and were used for age estimation from pulp to tooth area ratio. A total of 30 mandibular first premolar teeth and 30 radiographic images were obtained from all the subjects for assessment of tooth cementum annulations and pulp to tooth area ratio respectively.

Inclusion criteria: Therapeutically extracted mandibular first premolar teeth for examination of cementum incremental lines, sound mandibular canines and first premolars to take intra oral peri apical radiographs for estimation of pulp to tooth area ratio.

Exclusion criteria: Periodontitis affected teeth, teeth affected by dental caries, pulpitis or periapical pathologies, teeth affected by attrition, abrasion or erosion, teeth with any developmental anomalies, foreshortened or elongated radiographic images.

Materials used for the assessment of tooth cementum annulations included: 30 teeth (mandibular first premolar teeth) from 30 different subjects along with clinical history records, 10% formalin, model trimmer, modeling wax, Arkansas stone, glass slides, cover slip and mounting medium, Olympus Trinocular research microscope model BX41with Phase contrast attachment and Nikon Coolpix L21Digital Camera

Materials used for the assessment of pulp to tooth area ratio included: 30 Intra oral peri apical radiographs of mandibular canines of all these subjects with the written consent form signed by all these subjects, X ray unit, scanner machine, Adobe photoshop CS7 image editing software, AutoCAD 2007 software.

After general clinical examination study subjects were selected taking exclusion and inclusion criteria into consideration. Intraoral Periapical radiograph of mandibular canine and first premolar were taken using paralleling technique. Later teeth were also collected from study subjects when they underwent therapeutic extraction of mandibular first premolar. Methodology followed to estimate the age of the study subjects from TCA and PTR are depicted in the Table 1. The results were subjected to statistical analysis. Karl Pearson Correlation coefficient and linear regression analysis was done to assess the relationship between actual age and age estimated using selected study variables. From the regression analysis new formula was derived for age estimation using each variable. All the variables were combined by multiple regression analysis and a formula was derived combining all the three parameters. Radiographic variables (pulp to tooth area ratio of mandibular canine and mandibular first premolar) were also combined to derive a new regression equation. Age estimation was also done using all the new regression equations derived.

Results

Age estimation using three different methods

The correlation between actual and estimated age was found using Pearson's correlation coefficient and p value was obtained to assess the reliability of this method in terms of correlation with actual age. Correlation analysis showed r value (Pearson's correlation coefficient) to be 0.66 and p value=0.000 when tooth cementum annulations were used, which indicates a highly significant correlation between actual age and estimated age (Figure 1).

When pulp to tooth area ratio of mandibular canine was considered correlation coefficient (r value) was found to be - 0.52 and p value=0.004 and for mandibular first premolar, r value and p value obtained were -0.36 and 0.05 respectively. (Figure 2 and Figure 3).







Figure 2: Correlation between age and pulp to tooth area ratio of lower canine

Comparison of all the three methods

The present study shows correlation with actual age and estimated age when all the three methods are used. Highly significant correlation is obtained when tooth cementum





 Table 1: Methodology followed to estimate the age of the study subjects from TCA and PTR

Age estimation from tooth cementum annulations	Age estimation from pulp to tooth area ratio
• Transverse ground sections of mandibular first premolar teeth	• Mandibular canine and premolar IOPA radiographs were obtained
Clearing in xylene done	 Scanned and digitalized the radiographs.
• Mounted on a neat glass slide using DPX mountant.	Scanned radiographic images were opened in Adobe Photoshop CS7
• Examined under phase-contrast microscope	image editing software.
 Photographs were captured using digital camera 	Pulpal and tooln outline were marked
• Distinct cementum annulations were seen which were counted manually.	 Tootn and puip area were separately estimated using AutoCAD 2007 software.
• Age estimation done by the following formula	• Age was estimated for each subject using the formula given by Acharya
• Estimated age = Number of Cementum Annulations + Average Age of Eruption of the Tooth	et al: 64.413 – (195.265 x PTR) PTR: Pulp to tooth area ratio (pulp area/ tooth area)

Variable	Model	P-value	Standard Error
PTR – Mandibular canine	Age=34.2-87.1(PTR)	< 0.05	2.57
PTR-Mandibular first premolar	Age=33.3-74.5(PTR)	<0.05	2.35
Combined mandibular canine and premolar PTR	Age = 33.6-90.7(PTRLC) + 6.1(PTRLFPM)	< 0.05	2.4
Combined PTR and TCA	Age= 20.9+1.0 (NO. of TCA) -83.2 (PTRLC)+37.3 (PTRLFPM)	<0.001	1.86

Table 2. Linear	regression	models	to	estimate age
INDIC #: Lincu	10210001011	modelo		ostinute use

 $\label{eq:pt} PTR-Pulp to Tooth area Ratio, TCA-Tooth Cementum Annulations, PTRLC-Pulp to Tooth area Ratio of Lower Canine, PTRLFPM- Pulp to Tooth area Ratio of Lower First Premolar$

annulations method is used, followed by pulp to tooth area ratio of mandibular canine and pulp to tooth area ratio of mandibular first premolar.

Age estimation by statistically derived new regression equations

New regression equations were derived for age estimation using pulp to tooth area ratio of mandibular canine and first premolar through regression analysis as depicted in Table 3. All new regression equations provided significant correlation between actual and estimated age. Another regression equation was derived by combining these two variables (Pulp to tooth area ratio of mandibular canine and first premolar) and age estimated using this equation provided a better correlation between actual age and estimated age with a standard error of 2.4 years as shown in Table 2. Combination of all the three variables through multiple regression equation as given in Table 2 which was highly reliable in terms of correlation between actual and estimated age with standard error of only 1.86 years.

Discussion

Age estimation is of paramount importance, being second to sex determination in the identification of human remains and the scientific basis of age estimation is the genetic control of odontogenesis, which delimits the temporal variation of developmental stages.^{6,7} Enamel is the hardest tissue of the body with extreme resistance to physical and chemical injuries.⁷

There are several methods of age estimation in forensic odontology which are grouped as clinical, radiographic, biochemical and histological methods. However there is no methodology that is 100% accurate in dental age estimation.⁸

The present study was aimed to compare two methods of age estimation: the tooth cementum annulations, and, pulp to tooth area ratio in terms of accuracy in estimating the age of an individual.Tooth cementum is laid down in layers with alternate dark and light bands and one layer corresponds to one year of life, making it useful as a reliable guide for age estimation in forensic dentistry. Various studies conducted by different researchers show significant correlation between actual age and estimated age when tooth cementum annulations method was employed.⁹⁻¹²

In accordance with various previous studies conducted by Bojarun et al., Avadhani et al., and Pundiret al., for age estimation from tooth cementum annulations, the present study also showed a highly significant correlation with actual age and estimated age with p<0.001.⁹⁻¹¹ This highly significant correlation obtained in the present study may be attributed to the younger age and absence of periodontitis in the subjects considered. This is in accordance with the study conducted by Dias et al. who reported that counting of cementum incremental in periodontitis affected teeth gave an underestimation of age.¹² As indicated by Avadhani et al. the transverse ground sections

of teeth is better in predicting age than longitudinal ground sections and the highly significant correlation obtained in the present study also concur with the same.¹³

The other parameters considered in the study for age estimation were pulp to tooth area ratio of mandibular premolar and mandibular canine. Pulp to tooth area ratio was used for age estimation initially in an Italian population by Cameriere et al. Later this method was employed for age estimation in Mexican, Egyptian, Portuguese Brazilian and Indian populations.¹⁴⁻¹⁷ On applying Camiriere's formula for these populations, the authors found more deviation from actual age. So population specific formulas were derived in each study. A specific formula for age estimation in Indian population was derived by Acharya et al. using pulp to tooth area ratio of mandibular canine tooth from Periapical radiographs. The linear regression formula derived in their study was 64.413 - (PTR x 195.265).¹⁸ The same formula was applied in the present study for age estimation using pulp to tooth area ratio of canine and premolar and a significant correlation between actual age and estimated age was obtained with a p value of 0.004 and 0.05 respectively. Mandibular canine gave better correlation with actual age than mandibular premolar. Even though there was a significant overestimation of age when individual subjects where considered. Thus a new linear regression equation was derived from this study for both mandibular canines and premolars which can be used for this population. This equation when applied, gave age estimation with lesser deviation from actual age.

The present study showed a higher correlation between actual age and estimated age with a standard error of 2.4 years, when both premolar and canine were combined through multiple regression analysis to get a common regression equation which is in accordance with the study conducted by jeevan_et al, in which the combination of upper and lower canine were found to be more reliable with a mean residual error of 2.70, than when single tooth was used.¹⁹

All three parameters of tooth cemental annulations, pulp to tooth area ratio of mandibular canine and pulp to tooth area ratio of mandibular canine, were combined through multiple regression analysis to obtain a regression equation. Such an equation obtained showed highly significant correlation between actual age and estimated age with a standard deviation of 1.86 years which is lesser than those of all other formulas derived in the present study. This is also in accordance with the study conducted by Vodanovicet al. who combined methods like palatal suture closure, occlusal tooth wear, tooth root translucency and pulp/tooth area ratio to derive a multiple regression equation which gave higher correlation between actual and estimated age when compared to the use of single method.²⁰

Thus the present study points towards the population based variations in age estimation even when similar methods are employed. So it is advised to use population specific formulas when age estimation is undertaken. It is always preferable to use a combination of different methods for age estimation as concluded by the present study.

Conclusion

The present study concludes tooth cemental annulation using phase contrast microscopy, pulp to tooth area ratio of mandibular canine and pulp to tooth area ratio of mandibular first premolar are reliable methods for age estimation. The cemental annulations using phase contrast microscopy is a more accurate method for age estimation when compared to pulp to tooth area ratio. The study result also emphasizes the use of a combination of methods for more accurate age estimation than relying upon a single method.

Ethical clearance: A prior approval was obtained from the Institutional Ethics Committee

Conflict of interest: None to declare

Source of funding: None to declare

References

- Balachandar N, Babu AN, Masthan KMK. Evolution of forensic odotology- an overview. J Pharm Bioallied Sciences 2015;7(1):s178-80.
- 2. Stimson PG and Mertz CA. Forensic Dentistry. CRC press publication (Newyork):1997.
- 3. Senn DR, Weems RA, editors. Manual of Forensic Odontology. 5th ed. Newyork:American Society of Forensic Odontology;2013.
- Ryan EJ, Identification through dental records. J Crim Law Criminol 1937;28(2):253-60.
- Nur B, Kusgoz A, Bayram M, Celikoglu M, Nur M, Kayipmas S. Validity of Demirijiens and Nollas methods for dental age estimation for North Eastern Turkish children aged 5 to 16 year old. Med Oral Pathol Oral Cir Bucal 2012;17(5):e81-7.
- Mohite DP, Chaudhary MS, Mohite PM Patil SP. Age assessment from mandible: comparison of radiographic and histologic methods. Rom J MorpholEmbryol 2011;52(2):659–68.
- Karaarslan B, Karaarslan ES, Ozsevik AS, Ertas E. Age Estimation for Dental Patients Using Orthopantomographs. Eur J Dent2010;4:389-94.
- Pereira CP, Caldas R, Pestana D. Legal Medical Age Estimation in Portuguese Adult Cadavers: Evaluation of the Accuracy of Forensic Dental Invasive and Non-Invasive Methods. JFSC 2013;1(2).
- Pundir S, Saxena S, Aggarwal P. Estimation of age based on tooth cementum annulations using three different microscopic methods. J Forensic Dent Sci 2009;1(2):82-7.

- Bojarun R, Garmus A, Jankauskas R. Microstructure of dental cementum and individual biological age estimation. Medicina 2003;39(10).
- Avadhani A, Tupkari JV, Khambaty A, Sardar M. Cementum annulations and age determination. J Forensic Dent Sci 2009;1(2):73-6.
- Dias PEM, Beaini TL, Melani RFH. Age estimation from dental cementum incremental lines and periodontal disease. J Forensic Odontostomatol 2010;28(1):13-21.
- Avadhani A, Tupkari JV, Khambaty A, Sardar M. Cementum annulations and age determination. J Forensic Dent Sci 2009;1(2):73-6.
- Cameriere R, Ferranto L, Belcastro MG, Bonfiglioli B, Rastelli E, Cingolani M. Age estimation by pulp to tooth area ratio in canines by periapical X rays. J Forensic Sci 2007;52(1):p166-70.
- 15. Azevedo ACS, Alves NZ, crosato EM, Rocha M, Cameriere R and Biazevic MGH. Dental age estimation in a Brazilian adult population using Cameriere's method. Braz Oral Res 2015;29(1):1-9.

- 16. Cameriere R, Cunha E, Sassaroli E, Nuzzolese E, Ferrante L. Age estimation by pulp/tooth area ratio in canines: study of a Portuguese sample to test Cameriere's method. Forensic Sci Int 2009;193(1-3):e1-6.
- Zaher JF, Fawzy IA, Habib SR, Ali MM. Age estimation from pulp/tooth area ratio in maxillary incisors among Egyptians using dental radiographic images. J Forensic Leg Med 2011;18(2):62-5
- Babshet M, Acharya AB, Naikmasur VG. Age estimation in Indians from pulp/tooth area ratio of mandibular canines. J Forsc Int 2010;197(1-3):e1-4.
- Jeevan MB, Kale AD, Angadi PV, Hallikerimath S. Age estimation by pulp/tooth area ratio in canines: Cameriere's method assessed in an Indian sample using radiovisiography. Forensic Sci Int 2011;204(1-3):e1-5.
- Vodanovic M, Dumancic J. Galic I, PavicinSI, Petrovecki M, Cameriere R and Brkic H. Age estimation in archaeological skeletal Remains: evaluation of four non-destructive age calculation methods. J Forensic Odontostomatol 2011;29(2):14-21.

Assessment of the fusion of the sternum and the medial clavicular epiphysis for the purpose of age estimation: A conventional radiographic study

Narendra Kumar Vaishnawa, Anil Bishnoi, P.C.Vyas

Department of Forensic Medicine and Toxicology, Dr. SN Medical College, Jodhpur, India

Abstract

Age estimation from radiological study of bones is often required in medicolegal practice. Correct age is essential in legal medicine, medical, social and administrative matters to validate documents. In this study, fusion of xiphoid process and manubrium with body of sternum, and the fusion of medial end of clavicle was studied in 100 individuals (53 males & 37 females) of 20 to 70 years age group. It was observed that the xiphoid process starts its union with body of sternum at the age of 36 years and is fused completely by the age of 44 years in all cases. The manubrium begins to unite with the body of sternum at about 47 years and shows complete fusion at about 54 years in males, however in females the fusion appears delayed commences at the age of 47 years and completely fuses at the age of 57 years. It is concluded from the present study that the complete epiphyseal union at medial end of clavicle in population of Jodhpur region occurred at the age of 22 years, in both males and females.

Keywords

Age estimation; Medial clavicular epiphyseal fusion; Xiphoid process; Manubrium

Introduction

Age estimation from radiological study of bones is often required in medico legal practice. In individuals of age less than 22 years many landmarks for references are available which help in estimation of age with close approximation. However, after the epiphysis of long bones have fused with metaphysis, the task of age estimation becomes very difficult. Correct age is essential in legal medicine, medical, social & administrative matters (i.e. pension settlement, senior citizen behavior, validity of marriage, entrance examinations). Age estimation also essential to validate documents, many times due to illiteracy /corruption documents are forged or misplaced at that incident we need to produced estimated age. There are other criteria also by which we can give estimated age like dental, body growth, secondary sexual characters but we need more reliable or precise method.

Sternum has been studied by few regarding its utility for estimation of age reports, in this regard, studies are conflicting because of variable results of these studies. Rentout & Smith, Reddy, Parikh^{1,2,3} describe fusion of xiphoid process with mesosternum at "very old age" i.e. 55-60 years. However few researchers like Jit &, Singh et al^{4,5}. have disagreed with assumption on the

basis of variable results of their studies. The epiphyseal union at

Corresponding Author

Dr Narendra Kumar Vaishnava (Senior Demonstrator) Email: narendravaishnawakota@gmail.com. Mobile: +91-9460372395

Article History

Received: 4th June, 2020; Revision received on: 16th March, 2021 Accepted: 21st March, 2021 medial end of clavicle indicate that medial end of clavicle unites at about age of 22 years, according to K.S. Narayan Reddy². The development of medial clavicular epiphysis and its fusion with clavicular shaft has been subject of medical research since the second decade of this century.

The present study aims at investigating the age-related changes of both sternum and medial clavicular epiphysis and their utility as multifactorial approach to age estimation.

Materials and Methods

In the present study, 100 cases were selected between the study period i.e. June 2018 to June 2019 visiting to MLC OPD at MG & MDM Hospitals, Jodhpur, who were fulfilling the selection criteria were selected and after proper history taken in relation to age estimation, availability of certificate indicating the age of birth, or any such relevant document, and physical examination, skiagraphy was conducted after informed consent. The thorax of all the participants were radiographed in an antero-posterior/ lateral view to study the age-related changes of the sternum and the medial clavicular epiphyses. The participants were made to stand with their right shoulder touching the cassette in a true lateral position, with centering done at midpoint from the xiphisternum. The X-ray tube was kept at 36 inches distances. The results were classified into four categories Group A -Union not yet commenced, Group B-Union commenced, Group C--Union incomplete and Group D -Union complete. All the observations were noted on a common standard proforma and later they were tabulated to draw necessary conclusions. Descriptive statistics of the continuous variables were calculated.

All individuals from both sexes of 20 to 70 years age group,

attending MGH/MDM Hospital OPD & their attendants were included in the study. Out of these, those consenting for skiagraphy and history taking were included in the study. Cases showing any disease having major endocrinal and metabolic disease or damage in respect to anterior chest wall were not considered, and patients on medication (steroids, hormonal therapy, having chronic or with congenital deformities were also excluded (based on history taken from subject).

Results

The sternal and clavicular fusion of 100 participants (53 males, 47 females) was investigated in the present study. The agegroup wise distribution of the study participants is shown in Table 1.

Table 1: Age and gender wise distribution of study participants

Age (years)	Male	Female	Total
21–30	7	7	14
31-40	14	9	23
41–50	9	11	20
51-60	5	8	13
61–70	4	6	10
71 & Above	14	6	20
Total	53	47	100

Table	7.	Fusion	of vit	boid	nrocess	to	body	of	sternum	in	mal	60
rable.	4.	1 usion	01 XI	JIIOIU	process	w	bouy	01	sternum	ш	mai	cs

Age (years)	n	Non-union	Partly united	Complete fusion
21-30	7	7	0	0
31-40	14	1	12	1
41–50	9	0	2	7
51-60	5	0	0	5
61–70	4	0	0	4
71 & Above	14	0	0	14
Total	53	8	14	31

In age group 31-40, for males total number of cases were 14, out of them 12 cases were showing in process of fusion, 01 fused and 01 not fused, for females total number of cases were 09, all of them cases were showing in process of fusion. In the age group 41-50, for males total number of cases were 09 out of them completely fused were 07, in process of fusion were 02 cases, for females total cases were 11, completely fused were 08 and in process of fusion were 03 cases. The earliest instance of xiphisternal fusion was observed to be at the age of 36 years

Table 3: Fusion of xiphoid p	process to body	of sternum	in females
------------------------------	-----------------	------------	------------

Age (years)	n	Separate	In process of fusion	Fused
21-30	7	2	5	0
31-40	9	0	9	0
41-50	11	0	3	8
51-60	8	0	2	6
61-70	6	0	0	6
71 & Above		0	0	6
Total	47	2	19	26

Table 5: Fusion of manubrium to body of sternum in females

Age group in years	n	Separate	In process of fusion	Fused
21-30	7	7	0	0
31-40	9	5	4	0
41–50	11	2	9	0
51-60	8	0	7	1
61–70	6	0	1	5
71 & Above	6	0	1	5
Total	47	14	22	11

Table 4: Fusion of manubrium to body of sternum in males

Age group in years	n	Separate	In process of fusion	Fused
21-30	7	7	0	0
31–40	14	14	0	0
41-50	9	2	7	0
51-60	5	1	3	1
61–70	4	0	1	3
71 & Above	14	0	0	14
Total	53	25	10	18

Table 6:	Fusion	of medial	end c	of clavicle	s
----------	--------	-----------	-------	-------------	---

Age group in years 21-30	n	Center not appeared	Center appeared but no union	Union starts but not fused	Union
Male	7	0	0	2	5
Female	7	0	0	2	5
Total	14	0	0	4	10

in males, and 37 in females. The mean ages for complete xiphisternal fusion were 44 and 46 years respectively for males and females (Table 2). For manubriosternal fusion, in age group 51-60, for males total number of cases were 05, out of them 01

case was showing complete fusion and 03 cases were in process of fusion and 01 case was separate, for females total cases were 08 out of them 01 case was completely fused and 07 cases were showing in process of fusion. For age group 61-70, for males total cases were 04 out of them 03 were completely fused and 01 case was showing in process of fusion for females total cases were 06 out of them 05 cases were completely fused and 01 case was showing in process of fusion. The earliest instance of manubriosternal fusion was observed to be at the age of 54 years in males, and 57 years in females. The mean ages of the fusion were observed to be 64 and 67 years in males and females respectively (Table 3). The earliest instance of complete medial clavicular epiphyseal fusion was observed to be 22 years in both males and females (Table 4).

Discussion

The earliest instance of xiphisternal fusion was observed to be at the age of 36 years in males, and 37 in females. The mean ages for complete xiphisternal fusion were 44 and 46 years respectively for males and females. The earliest instance of manubriosternal fusion was observed to be at the age of 54 years in males, and 57 years in females. The mean ages of the fusion were observed to be 64 and 67 years in males and females respectively.

The maximum age for stage B was found to be 20.4 years in females which was similar to that reported in the study of Brown et al.⁶ The maximum age for males at this stage was also 20.4 years which is less than 24 years. The onset of the partial fusion was noted at 20 years in females and 20 years in males. This varied from the time of onset reported by Schmeling et al.,⁷ who reported an onset age of 16 years for both males and females and also from Brown et al.,6 who reported it to be 17 years and 18 years respectively for females and males. Our results are similar to 20 years for males as reported by Singh et al⁵. but quite different from 16 years for males and 17 years for females Bhise et al.⁸ According to Stevenson¹⁸, in both males and females earliest union occurred at 18 years. This stage of partial fusion continued until 24 years in females and up to 25 years in males in the present study. Although the upper age limit of the study group was 25 years so conclusive comment cannot be given for the age limit until which the stage of partial fusion continues in case of males. This stage lasted until 30 and 31 years in females and males respectively as reported in the studies by Brown et al.⁶ Mckern & Stewart¹⁹, Webb & Suchey²⁰, Flecker²¹, Jit and Kulkarni,⁴ Kreitner et al²²., Schmeling et al.,⁷ Schulz et al. and Kellinghaus et al²³. The variations to these studies are due to different study populations on which the studies compared to have been performed. Furthermore, different technique used to assess epiphyseal union at medial end of clavicle can give different results as the studies as the

studies of Krietner et al²² Schulz et al. and Kellinghaus et al²³. were conducted using computed tomographic images.

Conclusion

The present study investigated the sternal fusion and the medial clavicular epiphyseal fusion in an Indian population. It was reported that the xiphisternal fusion starts at the age of 36 years, and gets completed by 44 years of age in both the sexes. Manubriosternal fusion begins at the age of 47 years and shows complete fusion by the age of 54 years in males and 57 years in females. The complete epiphyseal union at medial end of clavicle occurred at the age of 22 years, in both males and females. Hence, epiphyseal union of medial end of clavicle can be used as a parameter to ascertain age between 20-25 years along with other bony parameters. From the study fusion of sternal elements and medial end of clavicle, we can determine the decade of age in the living. A more precise measure of determination of age in the living would be either invasive procedure or higher radiation exposure (CT scan) which is both not desirable and less feasible.

Ethical clearance: A prior approval was obtained from the Institutional Ethics Committee

Conflict of interest: None to declare **Source of funding:** None to declare

References

- 1. Rentoul E, Smithe H. In: Glaister Medical and Jurispendence and toxicology, Churchill Livingstone. London. 1973. p. 80.
- Reddy KSN. In: The Essential of Forensic Medicine and Toxicology Medical book. 37th ed 2010 p.72
- Parikh CK. Parikh's textbook of medical jurisprudence and toxicology, personal identity, cbs. (edi.) 5th ed. New Delhi: CBS Publisher; 1990. p. 39–50.
- 4. Jit I, Kulkarni M. Times of appearance and fusion of epiphysis at the medial end of the clavicle. Ind J Med Res. 1976; 64:773-782.
- Singh P, Gorea RK, Oberoi SS, Kapila AK. Age Estimation from Medial End of Clavicle by x-ray examination. J Indian Acad Forensic Med. 2010;32(1):28-30.
- Brown AA, Derkyi-Kwarteng L, Amonoo-Kuofi HS. Study on the time frame for ossification of the medial clavicular epiphyseal cartilage by Xray in Ghanian students. Int J Morphol. 2013; 31(2):491-496.
- Schmeling A. Study on the time frame of medial clavicular epiphyseal cartilage in Conventional radiography, Springer-Verlag Heidelberg. 2003 Feb; 118(1.):50-8.
- Bhise SS, Chavan GS, Chikhalkar BG, Nanandkar SD. Age Determination from Clavicle: A Radiological Study in Mumbai Region. J Indian Acad Forensic Med. 2012; 34(1):7-9.
- 9. Modi's Medical Jurisprudence and Toxicology. Ed: Mathiharan K.

and Amrit K. Patnaik, 23rd ed, 2005.

- Nandy A. Principles of Forensic Medicine. London: New Central Book Agency. 2012; (3)
- Krogman, W. Milton. The human skeleton in forensic science. Charles c. Thomas, Springfield, III.1962:P.76-132
- Mckem TW, Stewart TD. Skeletal age changes in young Americanmales: Environmental protection Research Division, Technical ReportEP-45,, Headquarters Quartermaster Research and Development Command, Natrick MA.1957;p.26-28.
- Oppenheim S. Die suturen des Menschlichen Schadels in ihrer anthropologischen Bedeutung. Korrespondenzblatt der Deutschen Gesellschaft fur Anthologies, Ethnologie and Urgeschichte.1907;38:128-135.
- Chiara Villa, Niels Lynnerup. Age estimation of skeletal remains: Principal methods. Research and Reports in Forensic Medical Science 2014; 4:3-9.
- Anderson M, Anderson DT, Wescott DJ. Estimation of Adult Skeleton Age at Death using the Sugeno Fuzzy Integral. Am J Phys Anthropol. 2010; 142(1): 30-41
- Williams PL. Gray's Anatomy, 37th ed. Churchill Livingstone, (ed.); 1989; Osteology; p. 395, 405, 406, 428, 439, 445, 447.
- 17. Meijerman L, Maat G, Schulz R, Schmeling A. Variables affecting

the probability of complete fusion of the medial clavicular epiphysis. Int J Legal Med. 2007; 121:463-8.

- Stevenson PH. Age order of epiphyseal union in man. Am J Phys Anthropol. 1924;7:53–93.
- Mckern, T.W. e Stewart, T.D. 1957. Skeletal age changes in young American males. Tech. report EP45, Quartermaster research and development center, Natick, Mass.
- Webb , PA . e Suchey, J.M. 1985. Epiphyseal union of the anterior iliac crest and medial clavicle in a modern multiracial sample of American males and females. Am. J. Phys. Anthropol., 68, p. 457-466.
- Flecker, R. 1933. Roentgenographic observations of the times of appearance of epiphyses and their fusion with the diaphysis. J. A nat., 67, p. 118-164.
- Kreitner, K. F., Schweden, F. J., Riepert, T., Nafe, B. and Thelen, M. 1998. Bone age determination based on the study of the medial extremity of the clavicle. Eur. Radiol., 8:1116-1122.
- Kellinghaus, M., Schulz, R., Vieth, V., Schmidt, S. and Schmeling, A. 2010. Forensic age estimation in living subjects based on the ossification status of the medial clavicular epiphysis as revealed by thin-slice multidetector computed tomography. Int. J. Legal Med.,124:149-154.

Sex estimation through mandibular ramus flexure using Orthopantomogram and Lateral Cephalogram – A comparative study

Vidhya Arumugam¹, Nagabhushana Doggalli², Abirami Arthanari¹, Sushma Rudraswamy³

1 Department of Forensic Odontology, JSSDC&H, JSSAHER, Mysuru, India

2 Department of Oral Medicine and Radiology, JSSDC&H, JSSAHER, Mysuru, India

3 Department of Public Health Dentistry, JSSDCH, JSSAHER, Mysuru India

Abstract

Mandible is one of the largest and strongest bones in skull. It is sensitive to adolescent growth spurt and holds many dimorphic traits that could be useful for the sex estimation. A retrospective study was done to analyse the reliability of mandibular ramus flexure for sex estimation in Indian population and to observe, compare and evaluate the sex discriminant potential of mandibular Ramus flexure by using digital Orthopantomogram (OPG) and Lateral Cephalogram (LC). The study was conducted on 200 samples (90 males and 110 females) with aged 10-30 years, by using both standard digital OPG and LC for each study sample. The radiographs were visualized using Planmeca Romexis software 2.9.2.R. A tangent line was drawn on the posterior margin of ramus and the orientation line were drawn on the occlusal plane on mandibular molars extended to the ramus body, which predicted the sex by viewing distinct ramus flexure and later compared with actual sex. Sex was accurately determined in 60 out of 90 males with a prediction accuracy rate of 67.4%. 90 out of 110 females were identified correctly with a prediction accuracy rate of 81%. The overall accuracy rate was 74.25%. Similar results were obtained from both OPG and LC analysis. The result of the present study proved that the mandibular ramus plays a major role in sex determination due to its unique high sexual dimorphism. Hence, we advocate the use of mandibular ramus flexure as an aid for sex estimation by using either OPG or LC.

Keywords

Mandibular Ramus Flexure; Digital Orthopantomogram (OPG); Lateral Cephalogram (LC); Sexual dimorphism; Sex determination.

Introduction

Sex estimation plays as an important role in the identification of human skeletal remains as this markedly influences the determination of the age of death, stature, and ethnic background for males and females. ^{1, 2} When the entire skeleton presents for examination, forensic anthropologists are able to estimate sex of the remains with 90–100% accuracy. ³ However, it can be difficult to conduct an analysis when incomplete or fragmentary bones are found such as in cases of mass disasters and/or natural calamities. ^{4, 5}

Mandible is one of the largest and strongest bones in the skull and sensitive to adolescent growth spurt. It houses many dimorphic traits that could be employed for the sex estimation. ^{6, 7} One such feature is the mandibular ramus flexure. The distinct flexure in the posterior border of ramus at the level of occlusal surface of the molars, has reported a high accuracy of 90.6–99.0% for sex estimation in African Blacks. However, a prerequisite is the complete mandible and molar teeth for this morphological evaluation.^{8,9}

Corresponding Author

Dr. Nagabhushana Doggalli (Reader) Email: dr.nagabhushand@jssuni.edu.in Mobile: + 91-9844413396

Article History

Received: 7th June, 2020; Revision received on: 10th March, 2021 Accepted: 18th March, 2021 Loth & Henneberg (1996), questioned the predictive accuracy and reliability of the mandibular flexure as an indicator of sex. Authors of previous studies have pointed out that using the mandibular flexure for predicting sex does not yield a high confidence level, and therefore, it should be coupled with other indicators of sex dimorphism.⁸

It becomes difficult to evaluate the sexual dimorphism of mandibular ramus flexure by morphological analysis of the ramus alone. Several studies advocate the use of additional features of ramus length, maximum ramus height, bigonial breadth and bicondylar breadth to generate discriminant functions which may further be employed in sex estimation studies. As discriminant functions generated from these measurements are population specific and cannot be used for other populations, ^{10, 11} it is needed to evaluate the potential of mandibular ramus flexure in estimating the sex of individuals using both OPG and LC for an Indian population.

Materials and Methods

A retrospective study was conducted on randomly selected 200 samples (90 males and 110 females), aged between 10-30 years, by using both standard digital OPG and LC. Cases with known sex, availability of Orthopantomogram and Lateral Cephalogram radiographs for each sample with presence of mandibular molars, with right head alignment, contrasting and clearly visible posterior ramus borders were employed. Radiographs which indicated any pathological lesions, congenitally missing molars and other artefacts were excluded from the study. The collected radiographs were archived in the Department of Oral Medicine and Radiology, Mysuru. Prior to commencement of the study Institutional Ethical Clearance was obtained. At the time of analysis each radiograph was assigned a code that did masked the patient's sex in order to avoid bias. Subsequently these radiographs were viewed in Planmeca Romexis viewer software 2.9.2.R. A tangent line was drawn on the posterior margin of ramus and the orientation line were drawn on the occlusal plane on mandibular molars extended to the ramus body which predicted sex by viewing the distinct ramus flexure, thus by aided in the determination of sex by the presence or absence of a distinct flexure or angulation of the posterior margin of the mandibular ramus at the level of the occlusal plane, which appears to be an extraordinarily accurate predictor of sex when compared with actual sex.

The OPG images were examined and analysed according to the guidelines described by Loth & Henneberg (1996). ⁸ Similarly LC images were also analysed for the same samples.

For Male - Ramus flexure present at the level of occlusion

For Female – Ramus flexure sometimes absent (looks straight), if present, may be above or below the level of occlusion.

To facilitate the identification of the ramus flexure on an OPG, two reference lines were traced. One as a tangent to the posterior border of the mandibular ramus and the other along the cusp tips of the molars to mark the occlusal plane as per the methodology described by Badran et al.¹⁶

All the images of OPG and LC for each sample were analysed and compared and all the variables obtained were re-evaluated by Oral Radiologists so as to minimize inter-and intra-observer variability. The data was then entered into Microsoft Excel Spreadsheet and a comparative analysis was done using SPSS Software version 23.0

Results

Sex was accurately estimated in 60 out of 90 males yielding a prediction accuracy rate of 67.4% and in 90 out of 110 females with an accuracy rate of 81.1%. Similar results were obtained from both OPG and LC analysis (Table 1). A kappa value of 0.489 indicates moderate agreement between examiners.

Table 1 represents sex estimation through Orthopantomogram (OPG) analysis. A kappa value of 0.489 implies that there is fair agreement between the actual and predicted sex (p=0.000).

Table 1 also represents sex estimation using the Lateral Cephalogram (LC) analysis. A kappa value of 0.489 implies there is sufficient agreement between the actual and predicted sex (p=0.000). The overall prediction percentage obtained is 74.25%.

wore it i realenon percentage for ben community of o and De

		Females		Males			
Method of analysis	Number of correctly identified individuals	Total number of participants	Prediction percentage	Number of correctly identified individuals	Total number of participants	Prediction percentage	
OPG	90	110	81.1%	60	90	67.4%	
LC	90	110	81.1%	60	90	67.4%	



Figure 1: Actual sex versus Predicted sex pf sample population



Comparison between OPG and LC

igure 2: Comparison of obtained accuracy between OPG and LC OPG = Orthopantomogram; LC = Lateral Cephalogram



Figure 3: Orthopantomogram (OPG) showing Ramus Flexure at the level of occlusion indicative of males



Figure 4: OPG showing absent or straight Ramus Flexure indicative of females



Figure 5: OPG showing Ramus Flexure at the neck of the condyle (above the occlusal plane) indicative of females



Figure 6: OPG showing Ramus Flexure below the level of occlusion indicative of females



Figure 7: Lateral Cephalogram (LC) showing Ramus Flexure at the level of occlusion indicative of males

Discussion

Following Loth & Henneberg suggested use of using mandibular ramus flexure as a morphologic trait for identification of sex in 1996, there have been a number of studies that have critically appraised the method. ¹⁶ Several researchers attributed the differences in their findings to population specific factors and other environmental functional variables such as chewing habits and food type. ¹⁶ The present study does not confirm this validation. On the other hand it shows that comparable results can be obtained from studies conducted on samples of other populations that are geographically distant from each other. The results obtained herein were similar to the findings of Suazo et al.¹⁷

The results of the present study showed an overall predictive accuracy of 74.25%. This is substantially lower than those previously reported by Loth & Henneberg (1996)⁸, Balci et al., ³ Saini et al., ⁵ but was higher than the overall predictive accuracy reported by Badran et al., ¹⁶ and Suazo et al. ¹⁷ The differences among researchers in the reported value of the overall predictive accuracy of ramus flexure could be attributed primarily to the differences in the nature of the employed samples by different investigators. ¹⁶ In other words, the degree of expression of the morphologic trait could also be sex-linked and controlled by the influence of hormonal changes. It is known that changes in the shape of the mandible are affected by

the forces of muscles, particularly the elevator muscles, which plays a determinant role in the modelling of the mandibular ramus 18

Prior to the age at which growth at the temporomandibular joint ceases marks a period of active growth. The expression of the shape of mandible including ramus flexure moulds in response to hormonal influences and is governed, in both sexes, by the forces exerted by the masticatory muscles. Secondly, it was stated that "the high level of dimorphism in ramus may arise in response to sex-specific hormones" (Loth & Henneberg, 1996). ⁸

The creation of the flexure is likely to result from a change in the size, strength or angulation of the muscles of mastication, especially the masseter and the medial pterygoid muscles, which attach just below the level of flexure on the ramus. In males, where rugosity of the medial pterygoid muscles attachment is noticeably more pronounced than that of the masseter, the ramus appears much more vertical. The temporalis and the lateral pterygoid muscles attach well above the flexure (Loth & Henneberg, 1996), ⁸ which increases the risk of misdiagnosis and compromises the accuracy of sex prediction. Thirdly, it may also be attributed to the subjective location of flexure of the posterior margin of mandibular ramus.¹⁶ The present study showed similar results using both OPG and LC, which identified females with an accuracy of 81.1% and males with an accuracy of 67.4% (Figure 2). This implies either of the two methods can be employed for sex estimation.

Conclusion

Mandibular ramus flexure may be useful in sex estimation. Our results showed that it provides a fairly acceptable overall predictive accuracy and could be considered as an aid rather than a definitive means of sex estimation. In sexing unknown skeletal remains, it is necessary to apply as many methods or traits as possible instead of relying on a single morphological trait.

Ethical clearance: A prior approval was obtained from the Institutional Ethics Committee

Conflict of interest: None to declare

Source of funding: None to declare

References

- Naikmasur VG, Shrivastava R, Mutalik S. Determination of sex in South Indians and immigrant Tibetans from cephalometric analysis and discriminant functions. Forensic Sci Int. 2010; 197: 122e121–122e126.
- Ozer I, Katayama K, Sagir M, Gulec E. Sex determination using the scapula in medieval skeletons from East Anatolia. Coll Antropol. 2006; 30: 415–419.
- 3. Balci Y, Yavuz MF, Cagdir S. Predictive accuracy of sexing the

mandible by ramus flexure. HOMO. 2005; 55: 229-237.

- Lee UY, Han SH, Park DK, Kim YS, Kim DI, Chung IH, Chun MH. Sex determination from the talus of Koreans by discriminant function analysis. J Forensic Sci. 2012; 57: 166–171.
- Saini V, Srivastava R, Rai RK, Shamal SN, Singh TB, Tripathi SK. Mandibular ramus: an indicator for sex in fragmentary mandible. J Forensic Sci. 2011; 56: S13–S16.
- Franklin D, O'Higgins P, Oxnard CE, Dadour I. Discriminant function sexing of the mandible of indigenous South Africans. Forensic Sci. Int. 2008; 179: 84 e81-e85.
- Saini V, Srivastava R, Shamal SN, Singh TB, Pandey AK and Tripathi SK. Sex determination using mandibular ramus flexure: a preliminary study on Indian population. J Forensic Leg. Med. 2011; 18: 208–212.
- Loth SR, Henneberg M. Mandibular ramus flexure: a new morphologic indicator of sexual dimorphism in the human skeleton. Am J Phys Anthropol. 1996; 99: 473–485.
- Loth SR, Henneberg M. Mandibular ramus flexure is a good indicator of sexual dimorphism. Am J Phys Anthropol. 1998; 105: 91–92.
- Dayal MR, Spocter MA, Bidmos MA. An assessment of sex using the skull of black South Africans by discriminant function analysis. HOMO 2008; 59: 209–221.
- 11. Kharoshah MA, Almadani O, Ghaleb SS, Zaki MK, Fattah YA. Sexual dimorphism of the mandible in a modern Egyptian population. J Forensic Leg Med. 2010; 17: 213–215.
- 12. Chenghe Lin, Benzheng Jiao, Shanshan Liu, Feng Guan, Nak-Eun Chung, Seung-Ho Ha, U-Young Lee. Sex determination from the mandibular ramus flexure of Koreans by discrimination function analysis using three-dimensional mandible models. Forensic Sci Int. 2014; 236: 191.e1-191.e6.
- Saini V, Srivastava R, Shamal SN, Singh TB, Pandey AK, Tripathi SK. Sex determination using mandibular ramus flexure: A preliminary study on Indian population. J Forensic Leg Med. 2011; 18(5): 208-212.
- Loth SR, Henneberg M. Ramus flexure and symphyseal base shape: sexually dimorphic morphology in the premodern hominid mandible. Am J Phys Anthrop. 1997; 24:156-7.
- Loth SR, Henneberg, M. Gonial eversion: facial architecture, not sex. HOMO 2000; 51:81-9.
- Badran DH, Othman DA, Thnaibat HW, Amin WM. Predictive accuracy of mandibular ramus flexure as a morphologic indicator of sex dimorphism in Jordanians. Int J Morphol. 2015; 33(4):1248-1254.
- Suazo GI, San Pedro VJ, Schilling QN, Celis CC, Hidalgo RJ, Cantin, LM. Orthopantomographic blind test of mandibular ramus flexure as a morphological indicator of sex in Chilean young adults. Int J Morphol. 2008; 26(1):89-92.
- Koski K. Mandibular ramus flexure--indicator of sexual dimorphism? Am J Phys Anthropol. 1996; 101(4):545-6.

Sex estimation using discriminant function analysis of the maximum length of clavicle: An autopsy-based study in Central India

Anuradha Singh, ¹Rajendra Baraw, ²Jayanthi Yadav, ¹Anurag Tomar, ²Aditya Saxena, ²Abhishek Arora²

1 Department of Forensic Medicine& Toxicology, All India Institute of Medical Sciences, Bhopal, India 2 Department of Forensic Medicine& Toxicology, Gandhi Medical College, Bhopal, India

Abstract

Identification is the determination of the individuality of a person based on certain physical characteristics. Clavicle is one of the bones which is less explored but has drawn considerable interest in this field, particularly in relation to sexual dimorphism. The purpose of this research was to evaluate the sexual dimorphism of clavicle, based on measurement of the maximum length of dry clavicles. The study was conducted in the mortuary of the Department of Forensic Medicine, Gandhi Medical College, on 100 cases (50 males; 50 females) in which post-mortem examination was done. Clavicle bone of deceased aged between 25 to 60 years were collected during autopsy, dried and then examined for the study. Approval of the Institutional Ethics Committee was obtained prior to the commencement of the study. Maximum length of clavicle was found to be larger in males as compared to females in dry clavicle. By discriminant function analysis, sex can be estimated with an accuracy of about 75%. However, these values were found to be more accurate in males with accuracy of 80% for males and 70% for females. Determination of sex by means of maximum length of clavicle can be considered a reliable indicator in dried state of the bone and the accuracy rate was high for males than females.

Keywords

Identification; Sexual Dimorphism; Maximum length of clavicle; Dry bone

Introduction

The primary characteristics of human identification are sex, age, and stature estimation.¹ The human long bones have been under study in different parts of the world by different researchers since ages. Considerable interest has been shown by Anatomists and Forensic experts on the analysis to determine their sex, age, stature and race etc. Often an expert has to extract as much information as possible from such limited and heterogeneous materials available in the form of fragmentary skeletal remains; then even a single bone like clavicle becomes important from a forensic anthropological view point. The present study was designed to identify these morphological features (predictors) and examine the sexual dimorphism of adult clavicle in the population of Central India (Bhopal region), applying linear discriminant function analysis. As the skeletal remains that are usually bought for anthropological examination are in the dried and fragmented state, this study was conducted on dry clavicle.

Materials and Methods

The study was conducted on 100 clavicles (50 males, 50

Corresponding Author Dr Rajendra Baraw (Associate Professor) Email: drrajendrabaraw@gmail.com Mobile: +91-9582320585

Article History Received: 2ndJune, 2020; Revision received on: 5th March, 2021 Accepted: 13th March, 2021

females) recovered from the medicolegal autopsies conducted in the Mortuary of Department of Forensic Medicine and Toxicology, Gandhi Medical College, Bhopal. Cases with known age and sex in between the age group of 25-60 years were taken for the study. Cases below 25 years and above 60 years and with any chronic illness, metabolic disorders, congenital anomalies, bony deformities, fracture of clavicle in Road Traffic Accidents or by any other reason were excluded. After obtaining informed consent, the thorax was opened and the right clavicle was recovered using routine standard autopsy technique. The gap was packed with cotton and body contour was restored. The clavicle was then cleaned to remove soft tissues. It was then tagged with a numbered plastic disc. These bones along with their plastic discs bearing the number were buried in the ground and left over for sufficient time (about 1 month), so that the bones were completely separated from the soft tissue. The bones were then cleaned and dried at room temperature. Measurements were taken in the dry state.

Maximum length of clavicle (MCL): The straight maximum distance between the sternal and acromial end was measured by placing the clavicle in horizontal plane on the Osteometric board. Precautions were taken to ensure that the sternal end and concavity of acromial half of clavicle are placed in the same line. Three observations were made and the average was recorded. The data was summarized as mean and standard deviation and was analysed using SPSS software. Discriminant function analysis was done to examine the dimorphism and how the variables could correctly assign the bones to the proper sex. Data was analysed using SPSS software, Student's t-test was applied to test sex differences. P value of less than 0.05 was considered significant.

Results

The length of male clavicle ranged between 135.9mm to 166.0mm and that of female clavicle ranged between 122.2mm to 150.2mm (Figure 1). Table 1 shows the descriptive statistics of the maximum clavicular length of both males and females. Different peak values of maximum length of clavicle for males and females with significant difference in the mean of both groups were noted. Mean of maximum length of clavicle (MCL)was significantly higher in males (Mean= 148.72, S.D. = 6.65) as compared to females (Mean =136.88, S.D. = 8.51). Overlapping of few values for both the sexes was also observed. Independent t-test showed statistically significant differences were observed between male and female maximum clavicular length (p-value < 0.05)

The discriminant function coefficients reveal that maximum clavicle length contributes to single variant effect. The following Discriminant function equation is obtained from the discriminant coefficients:DF= 0.131MCL - 18.685. The Cut-off score is '0'. In cases where the DF scores was less than '0' the clavicle is that of a female. For values of discriminant score above 0, the clavicle is that of a male.



Figure 1: Histogram showing frequency-distribution of the maximum length of clavicle of both the sexes

Table 1: Descriptive statistics of maximum length of clavicle in males and females

Sex	N	Min (mm)	Max (mm)	Range (mm)	Mean (mm)	SD (mm)
Male	50	135.9	166.0	30.1	148.716	6.6522
Female	50	122.2	150.2	28.0	136.886	8.5184
Total	100	122.2	166.0	43.8	142.801	9.6520

It is observed that 75% of original grouped cases [40 among 50 males (80%) and 35 females from 50 (70%)] were correctly classified by this DF score. It implies that criteria for Maximum length of clavicle can be used with 75% accuracy for sex discrimination. (Table 2)

 Table 2: Classification results for Maximum clavicular length (using the discriminant function coefficients)

		Sor	Predicted Group Membership		Total
		Sex	Male	Female	Total
Original	Count	Male	40	10	50
		Female	15	35	50
	%	Male	80.0	20.0	100.0
		Female	30.0	70.0	100.0

75.0% of original grouped cases correctly classified

Table 3: Comparison of studies on Maximum length of Clavicle (MCL) associated with Sex

Literature	n	Age (years)	Year	Male (mm)	Female (mm)	Region	Accuracy
Akhlaghi et al ²	120	-	2012	-	-	Iran	73.3-88.3%
Sehrawat et al ³	263	17-94	2016	148.52±8.88	135.22±8.27	Chandigarh (India)	M-75.9% F-83.8%
Frutos et al4	97	-	2002	-	-	Guatemala	85.6-94.8%
Alcina et al ⁵	77	20-92	2015	155.12 ±10.1	132.38±7.96	Madrid (Spain)	90.9%
Haque et al ⁶	257	-	2011	143.21 ± >176.60m <109.82m	±11.13 ım-male n-female	Nepal	M-13.33% F-4.44%
Shobhaet al ⁷	155	-	2014	142.1±11.70	131.7±12.22	Karnataka (India)	M-62% F-63.30%
Ashish et al ⁸	40	-	2014	138.71 ± 8.66		Telangana (India)	Not useful for sexing
Bindhu S. et al ⁹	50	-	2015	144.3 ± 7.2	128.0±10.1	Mangalore (India)	-
Bagal et al ¹⁰	120	-	2016	138 mm	120 mm	Maharashtra (India)	-
Thulasi et al11	120	-	2017	134.57mm	120.53mm	Kerala (India)	-
S. Ishwar et al ¹²	100	-	2016	152.49±9.85	139.36±6.76	Durban	-
Present study	100	25-60	2017	148.72 ± 6.65	136.88±8.51	Bhopal (India)	M-80% F-70%

n = Sample size; M = Males; F = Females

Discussion

The results of the present study are compared with the those reported in literature in Table 3. In our study, the accuracy of maximum length of clavicle in relation to sex was observed to be 80% for male and 70% for female clavicle which is nearly similar to Akhlaghi et al.² with a sample size of 120 and accuracy of 73-88% in Iranian population and Schrawat et al.³

with accuracy of 75.9% for males and 83.8% for females in 263 individuals of age group 17-94 year in Chandigarh. The accuracy in present study was more for males but the inverse trend was seen in study by Schrawat et al.³

Frutos et al.⁴ noted the accuracy of 85.6-94.8% in Guatemala population by the study conducted on 97 individuals which is almost the same sample size as the present study but with a higher accuracy rate. Alcina et al.⁵ observed the age group of 20-92 year in Spanish population and found the accuracy of 90.9% which is higher than our study. On the other hand, in the study conducted by Haque et al.⁶ on 257 Nepalese individuals the accuracy was found as 13.33% in males and 4.44% in females. Study by Shobha et al.⁷ in Karnataka region over 155 individuals show accuracy of 62% in males and 63.3% in females. Comparing to present study, the sample size is more in these studies but the accuracy is found to be less.

The study by Kamdi et al.⁸ done on 40 individuals in Telangana concludes that maximum length of clavicle is not a useful indicator for sexual dimorphism. In India, studies by Bindhu and Blessina⁹ in Mangalore, Bagal and Takale¹⁰ in Maharashtra and Thulasi et al.¹¹ in Kerala report the mean of maximum length of clavicle in males and females but do not comment on the accuracy with which the sex can be determined. In Durban, a study by Ishwarkumar et al.¹² with a sample size of 100, only the mean of maximum length of clavicle is observed.

The overall observation suggests that even in a single country, variations are seen with regard to estimation of sex with the help of clavicle. The causes for this can be environmental, socioeconomic, geographical, heredity and growth patterns. The worldwide variation also comes in both extremes.

Conclusion

Based on the observations and results of the clavicle measurements, it can be concluded that mean of maximum length of clavicle is higher among males as compared to the females in Bhopal. Also, male clavicle can be sexed with a higher accuracy rate; when only clavicle is received for examination. Discriminant function (DF) score was calculated as DF=0.131MCL-18.685 whereby merely placing the values of MCL measurements in the discriminant function analysis equation; if the DF score < 0 then it is a female clavicle and if > 0 then a male clavicle with accuracy of 75% in Bhopal (Central region). Maximum length of clavicle can be a reliable indicator for sex determination in dried state of the bone.

Ethical clearance: A prior approval was obtained from the Institutional Ethics Committee

Conflict of interest: None to declare

Source of funding: None to declare

References

- Reddy KSN. Identification. In Reddy KSN, editor. The Essentials of Forensic Medicine and Toxicology. 23rd ed. Hyderabad: Medical Book Company; 2004. p. 47.
- Akhlaghi M. ,Moradi B, Hajibeygi M. Sex determination using anthropometric dimensions of the clavicle in Iranian population. J. For Leg. Med. 2012; 19 (7):1-5.
- Sehrawat J, Pathak RK. Variability in anatomical features of human clavicle: Its forensic anthropological and clinical significance. Transl Res Anat. 2016;(3-4):5–14.
- Frutos LR. Determination of sex from the clavicle and scapula in a Guatemalan contemporary rural indigenous population. Am J Forensic Med Pathol. 2002; 23 (3): 284-8
- Alcina M, Rissech C, Clavero A., Turbon D. Sexual dimorphism of the clavicle in a modern Spanish sample. Eur J Anat. 2015; 19(1):73-83.
- Haque MK, Mansur DI, Krishnamurthy A, Karki R, Sharma K, Shakya R. Morphometric analysis of clavicle in Nepalese population. Kathmandu Univ Med J. 2011; 9(35):193-7.
- Shobha Math, Sailaja C. Math, Vijaykumar B. Jatti, Vaudeva Murthy C.R.. Identification of sex of human clavicles from North Karnataka zone. the Anthropologist. 2014; 17(3):917-20.
- Ashish Kamdi, Gayatri, Anil R. Sherke, M. Krishnaiah, K.Chaitanya. Morphometric Parameters and Sex Determination of Clavicle in Telangana Region. J Dental and Med Sciences. 2014; 13(10):1-5.
- Bindhu.S, Blessina S. Sexual dimorphism of clavicle in South Indian population: A cross sectional study.Int J Anat Res. 2015; 3(3):1249-51.
- Bagal G, Takale S, Sex Determination from the Clavicle. J Med Sci Res. 2016; 4 (6):11162-5.
- Thulasi M, Vrijakumari C.R, Kumar K.V, Indira M.V. Clavicle, a Tool for Sex Determination –A Study in South India. J Dent Med Sci. 2017; 16(2): 54-8.
- Ishwarkumar S, Pillay P, Haffajee MR, Rennie C. Sex determination using morphometric and morphological dimensions of the clavicle within the KwaZulu-Natal population. Int. J. Morphol. 2016, 34(1):244-51.

A post mortem study on estimation of stature from humerus in a North Kerala population

Ajesh P P,¹ Sujith Sreenivas C²

1 Department of Forensic Medicine, Government Medical College, Manjeri, India 2 Department of Forensic Medicine, Government Medical College, Kozhikode, India

Abstract

The identification of a dead body is required in cases of sudden and unexpected death, fires, explosions, railway or aircraft accidents and decomposed skeletal remains. Estimation of stature is an important parameter like age, sex, and ancestry in medicolegal and forensic examinations. Regression formulae derived from the major long bones are considered to be more accurate and highly correlated. There is a need to derive a regression equation and multiplication factor for estimation of stature from length of humerus in North Kerala population. The present study was conducted on 160 male and 160 female dead bodies brought for medicolegal autopsy in the Department of Forensic Medicine, Government Medical College, Kozhikode during the period of January 2012 to November 2012. Body length and humerus measurements of the cadavers were recorded after obtaining permission from institutional ethics committee. The regression equation derived from the study is that the stature in males is 35.93 + 3.973H cm with SE of 4.598 and stature in Female is 55.33+ 3.265H cm with a SE of 4.272. The various regression equations from different population are compared to the present study. Humerus to stature ratio in males found to be 19.459 and 19.389 in females. This ratio is higher than the ones given in all other studies. The Multiplication Factor obtained for males is 5.14 and females is 5.16, both of which are less than the what is reported in the available studies on Indian populations.

Keywords

Stature; Humerus; Linear regression; Multiplication factor

Introduction

Stature is one of the important criteria for establishing identification of unknown person during autopsy. It is usually measured as standing height of the individual but evaluation of stature is difficult when dead bodies are mutilated, burnt or skeletonized. Estimation of stature has a significant importance in the field of Forensic anthropometry. Many different body parts can be used in the estimation of stature. Certain long bones and appendages can be aptly used in the calculation of height of a person. One critical role of stature estimation today lies in the identification of crime victims and missing persons.¹

At present, there are two major methods used to estimate stature: The Mathematical method and the Anatomical method. The Mathematical method takes advantage of the high linear correlation between long bones and stature.² With a long bone as the dependent or independent variable, one can utilize a regression equation that reflects the relationship between an individual's stature and the chosen long bone. The Anatomical method, more commonly referred to as the "Fully method", it reconstructs stature by summing the measurements of the

Corresponding Author

Dr Ajesh PP (Assistant Professor) Email: drajeshpp@gmail.com. Mobile: +91-9446356799

Article History

Received: 3rd June, 2020; Revision received on: 11th March, 2021 Accepted: 15th March, 2021 skeletal elements that contribute to height and adding a correction factor for soft tissue.³ The obvious advantage of mathematical method is that a single bone can be used to estimate the stature of an individual. The main disadvantage of the Mathematical method is that different regression formulae are required for different populations, for each different bone and also separately for each sex.⁴

Regression formulae derived from the major long bones are generally considered to be more accurate and highly correlated than those utilizing other bones such as the skull or hand and foot bones. There were several research studies conducted across the world. Initial research was carried out by many investigators from the 1700s like Sue (1755), Orfila (1821), Beck (1823), Rollet (1888) and Manouvrier (1893). In 1899, Karl Pearson developed the first formal stature regression formulae.⁴

For many years the formulae of Trotter & Gleser have been used most frequently for stature estimation.^{5,6} However, many researchers have cautioned that formulae used to estimate stature should be specifically derived for each different population.⁴ There is necessity of having formulae for the specific groups, when reliable results are required. It is obvious that there are no universally applicable formulae for stature estimation from the length of long bones as the relationship between them is influenced by the race, sex and age of an individual. Thus, the need for race, age and sex specific stature estimation formulae is proved beyond doubt. A number of multiplication factors and regression equations have been developed to reconstruct stature from long bones throughout the world.⁷ Even within our vast homeland of India there are many different ethnic populations with their own variations.

Very few studies are available in India and studies are lacking in North Kerala setting. The present study was conducted with an aim of deriving a linear regression equation and multiplication factor for estimation of stature using the length of humerus in a Northern Kerala population.

Materials and Methods

The objective of this study was to derive a separate regression equation and multiplication factor for estimation of stature from length of right humerus in males and females, in the age group of 20 to 60 years among North Kerala population. This is a descriptive study conducted on 160 male and 160 female dead bodies brought for medicolegal autopsy in the Department of Forensic Medicine, Government Medical College, Kozhikode during the period from January 2012 to November 2012. The selection criteria were dead bodies without any apparent skeletal deformities and age group between 20 to 60 years. Any dead body with Injuries / deformity/ pathological condition affecting the vertebral column, skull, pelvis and bones of lower limbs, bodies with any injury /deformity/ pathological condition affecting right humerus, bodies with history of endocrine diseases affecting growth of bones and Individuals outside North Kerala population were excluded from the study. This study was conducted after obtaining the permission from the research committee and ethical committee of the institution.

An observation proforma which included PM No, date, name, age, sex, place, occupation, education, income, questions to rule out previous bone fracture, chronic illness and hormonal diseases of the cadaver was constructed. This proforma included space to record the measurements of the length of the body and the length of the right humerus.

The measurements were taken in two steps. First step was to measure the stature which was done by keeping the cadaver on a flat table, and measuring the distance between the vertex and the sole of the foot near the heel by using a device which is designed for the same. The device has got a long limb measuring two meters and two short limbs each measuring sixty centimeters at the both ends. One short limb is permanently fixed at one end of long limb. The other short limb can be moved through the long limb for adjusting the length of the body. The long limb is calibrated using a measuring tape with millimeter gradation. The measurement of body was taken by placing the fixed short limb touching the vertex and adjusting the height by sliding the movable limb through the long limb (Figure 1).

An incision of length five centimeters is put on the front of right shoulder joint just below the top of shoulder and the soft tissues removed to expose the most proximal end of head. Most distal point on trochlea is exposed using an incision of length five centimeter vertically, on the posterior aspect of right elbow joint by keeping elbow in semi flexed position. The length of the humerus is measured from the most proximal end on the head (Caput humeri) to the most distal end on the trochlea humeri. The length of humerus was measured using a spring calliper (Figure2).



Figure 1: Measuring the length of the body



Figure 2: Measuring the length of humerus using spring caliper

The data collected was coded and entered in MS Excel. The data were rechecked and analysed using SPSS 16 Software. Quantitative data is presented as mean, standard deviation and qualitative as proportions. Statistical association were assessed using linear regression.

Results

Mean stature for males (N = 160) was observed to be 163.84 cm with a standard deviation of 7.088 and mean stature for females (N = 160) was observed to be 150.73 cm with a standard deviation of 6.178. Minimum height recorded among males was 146 cm and among females was 139 cm. Maximum height recorded among males was 166 cm and among females was 169 cm. Mean length of right humerus for males was 31.875 cm with a standard deviation of 1.636 and that for females was 29.223 cm with standard deviation of 1.503. Minimum length of right humerus recorded among males was

28.2 cm and among females was 26 cm. Maximum length of right humerus recorded among males was 37.2 cm and among females was 33 cm. Statistically significant correlation (p-value < 0.05) was observed between the length of humerus and the stature, with r = 0.87 for males and r = 0.89 for females.

Humerus to stature ratio was calculated as length of humerus multiplied by 100 and divided by the length of the body. This ratio is the humerus length which expressed as the percentage of stature. For males this ratio was observed to be 19.459, and for females it was observed to be 19.389. Multiplication factors to estimate stature were calculated by dividing the mean length of the study population by the mean length of the population's humerus. It was observed to be 5.14 and 5.16 for males and females respectively.



Figure 3: Regression model for estimating stature using humerus length in males



Figure 4: Regression model for estimating stature using humerus length in females

Linear regression models were generated to estimate stature using humerus length. The model to estimate stature of males is: Stature (cm) = 35.93 + 3.973 X (length of right humerus in cm) and for female it is: Stature (cm) = $55.33+3.265 \times$ (length of right humerus in cm). Coefficient of determination (r²) for males was observed to be 0.757, and for females it was observed to be 0.79. Standard error was observed to be 4.598 and 4.272 for males and females respectively. The graphical representation of the regression models for males and females are shown in Figures 3 and 4 respectively.

 Table 1: Comparison of regression models for estimation of stature using humerus for males of the present study with those given in literature

Author	Race	Regression Equation
Pearson (1899). ²	French	70.641 + 2.894 H
Stevenson(1921). ¹²	North Chinese	81.5115 + 2.8131 H
Breitinger (1937). ¹³	German	83.21 +2.715 H
Telka(1950). ¹⁴	Finns	169.4 + 2.8 (H-32.9)
Dupertuisand Hadden(1951). ¹⁵	White	98.341 + 2.270 H
Dupertuisand Hadden(1951). ¹⁵	Negros	50.263 + 3.709 H
Trotter and Gleser(1952). ⁵	American White	70.45 +3.08 H
Trotter and Gleser(1952). ⁵	American Black	62.10 +3.26 H
Trotter and Gleser(1958). ⁶	White	78.10 +2.89 H
Trotter and Gleser(1958). ⁶	Negros	75.48 +2.88 H
Trotter and Gleser(1958). ⁶	Mangoloids	83.19 +2.68 H
Trotter and Gleser(1958). ⁶	Mexican	73.94 +2.92 H
Lundy (1983). ¹¹	Africans	61.02 + 2.88 H
Present study	North Kerala	35.93+3.973H

 Table 2: Comparison of regression models for estimation of stature using humerus for females of the present study with those given in literature

Author	Race	Regression Equation
Pearson (1899). ²	French	71.475 + 2.754 H
Telka (1950). ¹⁴	Finn	156.8 + 2.7 (H-30.7)
Dupertuis and Hadden (1951). ¹⁵	White	56.727 + 3.448 H
Dupertuis and Hadden (1951). ¹⁵	Negros	69.978 + 3.035 H
Trotter and Gleser (1952). ⁵	American White	57.97 +3.36 H
Trotter and Gleser (1952). ⁵	American Black	64.67 + 3.08 H
Lundy (1983). ¹¹	Africans	45.65 + 3.30 H
Present study	North Kerala	55.33+3.265H

Name of study	Male ratio	Female ratio	
Dupertuis and HaddenWhites. ¹⁵	19	18.8	
Dupertuis and HaddenNegros. ¹⁵	19.3	18.9	
Pearson's (French). ²	19.8	19.3	
Hrdlicka's AmericanWhites.16	19.31	18.97	
Hrdlicka's AmericanBlacks. ¹⁶	19.80	20.34	
Present study (Indian)	19.459	19.389	

Table 3: Comparison	of humerus to stature ratio of	the present study with
•	those given in the literature	

 Table 4: Comparison of multiplication factors for estimation of stature using the length of humerus provided in different studies

Population	Sex	Multiplication Factor
East Indian-Hindus. ¹⁸	Both	5.34
East IndiansUnited Provinces. ¹⁹	Both	5.30
North Kerala (Present study)	Male Female	5.14 5.16

Discussion

The mean stature for males (N = 160) is 163.84 cm \pm 7.088 and for females (N = 160) is 150.73 cm \pm 6.178. This is comparable to a study by Goswami et al. where the mean stature in male subjects was 163.5408 \pm 5.217 cm and 155.6904 \pm 10.127 cm in female subjects⁶ and higher than the study by Geetha et al. done in a rare tribe of Kerala.⁹

The estimation of living stature can be done from the humeral length in the absence of more appropriate long bones as the femur or the tibia.¹⁰ Regression analysis is an appropriate method for defining the relationship between the length of the long bones and the living height of individuals.¹¹ The usefulness of regression equations is generally assessed on the basis of their standard error of estimates. A comparison of the standard error of estimates for the different bones used in stature estimation indicates that the long bones provide more accurate estimates.⁴

Regression models for males and females were derived after analyzing their humeral lengths. The various regression equation derived from different population are given in Table 1 and 2. The range of error in male subjects were found to be -4.94 to 4.86 and were seen consistent with the standard error of 4.598, which obtained from present study. The range of error in female subjects were found to be -7.4 to 2.3 and the standard error which we arrived at the regression equation was 4.272.^{2,5,6,11-15}

Humerus to Stature ratio of present study is compared with the Dupertuis and Hadden's, Pearson's and Hrdlicka's (1898-1902) studies (Table.3).^{2,15,16} In present study males found to be 19.459

and in females it is 19.389, which is higher than all other studies except Hrdlicka's American Blacks (20.34). In males it is less than Pearson's (19.8) and Hrdlicka's (White-19.31 and Black-19.80) studies. The multiplication factor is a handy tool and proves vital in situation where the forensic investigator is not well versed with complex mathematical equations or where the investigator is dealing with number of cases like mass disaster or people affected in terrorist attacks etc.¹⁷ Comparison of Multiplication Factor of Humerus for estimation of stature among different Indian population given below (Table 4). In males, it was found to be 5.14 and females it was 5.16. Both of which are less than the studies of Pan (1924) and Nat (1931).^{18,19}

Conclusion

Regression models and multiplication factors to estimate stature using humerus length were derived for males and females of a Northern Kerala population. Standard error for these regression models were observed to be 4.598 and 4.272 for males and females respectively. The results of our study concluded that it is possible to estimate the stature from the length of humerus with relative accuracy. Our study may help in forensic, anthropometric and archaeological investigations for the identification of the remains of unknown bodies by using regression equations in North Kerala population.

Acknowledgements

I express my gratitude to Dr.Thomas Mathew, Professor for his constant support and guidance throughout the course of the study. I thank all my Post Graduate teachers, and mortuary staffs for their sincere co operation and support.

Ethical clearance: A prior approval was obtained from the Institutional Ethics Committee

Conflict of interest: None to declare

Source of funding: None to declare

References

- 1. Amit K, Srivastava AK, Verma AK. Estimation of stature by percutaneous measurements of distal half of upper limb (forearm & hand). Governing Council 2010-2012. 32:325.
- Pearson K. IV. Mathematical contributions to the theory of evolution. -V. On the reconstruction of the stature of prehistoric races. Philos Trans R Soc Lond A. 1899(192):169-244.
- 3. Raxter MH, Auerbach BM. et al.Revision of the fully techneque for estimating statures. AMJ Phys Anthropol. 2006; 130:374-384.
- 4. Dayal MR, Steyn M. et al. Stature estimation from bones of South African Whites. S. Afr. J. Sci. 2008;104:124-128.
- 5. Trotter M, Gleser GC. Estimation of stature from long bones of

American White and Negroes. AMJ Phys Anthropol.1952; 10(4):463-514.

- 6. Trotter M, Gleser GC. A re evaluation of estimation of stature based on measurements of stature taken during life and of long bones after death. AMJ Phys Anthropol.1958;16(1):79-123.
- Ilayperuma I, Nanayakkara G, Palahepitiya N. A model for the estimation of personal stature from the length of forearm. Int. J. Morphol. 2010 Jan 1;28(4):1081-6
- Goswami RB, Thakur PS, Dadu SK, Rastogi AK. Estimation of stature from anthropometry of hand: an interesting autopsy based study in Madhya Pradesh, India. Int J Res Med Sci. 2016 Jun;4(6):1873.
- Geetha GN, Swathi, Athavale SA. Estimation of Stature From Hand and Foot Measurements in a Rare Tribe of Kerala State in India. J Clin Diagn Res. 2015;9(10): HC01-HC4. doi:10.7860/JCDR/2015/13777.6582
- Krogman WM, Iscan MY. The Human Skeleton in Forensic Medicine. Springfield: Charles C. Thomas, IL. 1986:202-08.
- Lundy JK. Regression equations for estimating living stature from long limb bones in the South African Negro. S. Afr. J. Sci. 1983; 79:337-8

- 12. Stevenson PH.On racial difference in stature long bone regression formulae, with special referance to stature reconstruction formulae for the Chinese.Biom.1929;21(1-4):303-21.
- 13. Breitinger E. Zur Berechung der Korperhohe aus den langen Gleidmassenknochen. Anth.Anzeig.1937; 14:249-74.
- Telka A. On prediction of human stature from the long bones. Acta. Anat 1950; 9: 103-117.
- 15. Dupertuis CW, Hadden JA. On reconstruction of stature from long bones. AMJ Phys Anthropol.1951; 9:15-54.
- 16. Hrdlicka A. Practical Anthropometry Philadelphia: The Wistar Institute of Anatomy and Biology. 1939.
- 17. Steele DG, McKern TW. A method for the assessment of the maximum long bone length and living stature from fragmentary long bones. Am J Phys Anthropol 1969; 31: 215- 228.
- Pan N. Length of long bones and their proportion to body weights in Hindus, J Anat;1924; 58: 374- 378.
- Nat BS. Estimation of stature from long bones in Indian of the of the United Provinces: A medicolegal inquiry in anthropometry. Indian J Med Res. 1935;18:1245-1253.

An autopsy-based study on developing standards for estimation of stature from percutaneous length of femur in female population of Madhya Pradesh, India

Shrivastava Mohit, Thakur Pramendra Singh, Singh Bajrang Kumar, Soni Sunil, Pateria Devesh

Department of Forensic Medicine & Toxicology M.G.M. Medical College, Indore

Abstract

Identification of an individual is very important in criminal cases like assault, murder, rape, disputed paternity, impersonation etc. and in civil cases like marriage, inheritance, disputed sex, etc. Identification of isolated extremities is an issue of great significance and plays a vital role in the investigation of the identity of victims in mass disasters and fatal assaults. The aim of the present study was to find the correlation between anthropometry of percutaneous length of femur and stature in females and to derive a regression equation formula and multiplication factor to estimate the stature from percutaneous length of femur anthropometry in the Central India region (M.P.). This cross-sectional study was carried out on 250 deceased females of age between 20-60 years, brought for postmortem examination to the mortuary of Forensic Medicine Department, M.G.M. Medical College and M.Y. Hospital, Indore (M.P.). The mean right and left percutaneous femoral length was 38.57 ± 1.70 cm and 38.57 ± 1.70 cm, respectively, whereas the mean stature was found to be 158.27 ± 5.68 cm. In this study, the maximum stature in females was found to be 172.0 cm and the minimum stature was found to be 143.80 cm. The correlation between percutaneous femoral length and stature was found to be 4.10. Multiplication factors become essential in cases of forensic analysis when only limb or fragmented body part with soft tissue is available for analysis.

Keywords

Identification; Anthropometry; Stature; Percutaneous Femoral Length

Introduction

Reconstruction of stature is one of the important aspects of various parameters of identification for establishing individuality of the person. Under the circumstances, where Mutilated, decomposed or fragmentary skeletal remains are recovered, the stature of an individual may be estimated by adopting Anatomical Method.¹ Estimation of stature and sex is considered the main parameter of personal identification in forensic examinations. In Medico-legal autopsies, establishing personal identity of the victim is often required. In the recent times, due to natural disasters like earthquakes, tsunamis, cyclones, flood and manmade disasters like terror attacks, bomb blasts mass accidents war plane crashes etc, establishing identity of the remains has become important for both legal as well as humanitarian reasons. Stature of a person is an important parameter for the identification. Height or Stature estimation is central dogma in anthropo-forensic examination. It aids in personal identification of individual.^{2,3}

Anthropometry is the systematic measurement of the physical

Corresponding Author

Dr. Devesh Pateria (Junior Resident) Email: drdivsy@gmail.com Mobile: +91-9406558173

Article History

Received: 4th April, 2020; Revision received on: 23rd September, 2020 Accepted: 30th September, 2021 properties of the human body, the primary dimensional descriptors of body size and shape.^{4,5} Anthropometry helps in reconstruction of the biological profile of the deceased based on characteristics such as age, sex, ethnicity and stature.⁶

It is a known fact that the different population groups exhibit variation in their body proportions as a result of which correlation of one bone length to stature not only varies from population to population but also between sexes. In the past, many studies have been conducted on estimation of stature from various measurements on different parts of human body. The relationship between humerus, radius, ulna, tibia, fibula, foot and clavicle with the stature have been topics of research interest for decades.

The lower limb length is the greatest contributor to the standing height, hence the most predictive equation are based on length of lower limb, the femur, Tibia and fibula. Femur is ideal in this example as it is longest bone of body & resists erosion and keeps its phonotypical shape for long even after burial.

The aim of the present study was to find the correlation between anthropometry of percutaneous length of femur and stature in females and to derive a regression equation formula and multiplication factor to estimate the stature from percutaneous length of femur anthropometry in the Central India region (M.P.). The data presented in this study will be of benefit for fellow researchers in forensic medicine, investigators and legal experts to aid in stature determination of a person from the dimensions of the Percutaneous Length of Femur.
Materials and Methods

The present cross-sectional study was carried out on a sample of 250 deceased females brought to the mortuary of the Department of Forensic Medicine, Mahatma Gandhi Memorial Medical College and M.Y. hospital, Indore (M.P.) after obtaining approval from the Institutional Ethics Committee. In the present study females of age between 20 to 60 years were included. Bertillon system is based on the principle that after the age of 20 years the dimensions of the skeleton remain unchanged and also that the ratio in size of different parts to one another varies considerably in different individuals. As such, this is applicable only to adults. The study was carried out from July 2018 to June 2019 for a period of one year. In the study population, the subjects included are irrespective of caste, religion, dietary habits and socioeconomic status. Subjects with skeletal abnormalities, deformities, amputated lower limbs, mutilated and decomposed bodies were excluded. Written informed consent of the relatives was taken prior to the research after giving detailed information regarding the study.

Firstly, detailed history was taken both regarding the incident and complete clinical history, including operative procedures. Detailed individual demographic data including the height, sex, age etc. was also recorded on the pre-structured proforma prepared for the study.

Anthropometric measurements of percutaneous length of femur were taken independently of the left and right side of each individual. Stature of each subject was also recorded. All the measurements were taken in daylight. The measurements were taken twice for accuracy, using standard anthropometric instruments in with graduations in centimeters to the nearest millimeters. Proper care was taken to avoid any excessive compression of underlying tissues and to record the measurements precisely.

Stature- It is measured as the vertical distance between the vertex and the heel in mid sagittal plane, where the vertex is the highest point on the head when the head is held in Frankfurt Horizontal (FH) plane. Stature was measured using the standard measuring tape in centimeters, which was held vertically in front of the subject in mid sagittal plane. Precautions were taken not to exert pressure as that may affect the contact measurement. The measurements were taken on autopsy table.

Percutaneous Length of Femur- Straight distance between the upper most prominent point on greater trochanter to the lower most point palpable on lateral femoral condyle by using a standard measuring instrument [Sliding caliper] (position: hip joint kept extended) as shown in Figures 1 and 2.

The mean values & standard deviation (SD) of percutaneous femoral length dimensions were calculated. Paired sample t-test was performed to find the right and left side differences in percutaneous femoral length dimensions. The significance of results was tested using Student's t-test. Correlation between two parametric variables was calculated using Pearson Coefficient of Correlation 'r' value. p value was used for testing statistical hypothesis. p-value of less than 0.05 was considered as significant and less than 0.001 as highly significant.



Figure 1: Measurement of the percutaneous femoral length

Results

The present study was carried out on a sample of 250 deceased females in mortuary of Department of Forensic Medicine, Mahatma Gandhi Memorial Medical College and M.Y. hospital, Indore (M.P.). Table 1 shows the age-wise distribution of the study subjects. The mean age of the study subjects was found to be 40.85 ± 11.40 years. Maximum number of cases were in age group of 26-30 years (n = 37, 14.8%), while minimum number of cases were in age group 20-25 years (n = 24, 9.6%). Mean stature of the subjects was 158.27 ± 5.68 cm. The stature of subjects ranged from 143.80 to 172.0 cm. Table 2 shows the statistical analysis for percutaneous femoral length in study subjects. The mean right percutaneous femoral length (38.57 \pm 1.70 cm) was found same as that of mean left percutaneous femoral length (38.57 \pm 1.70 cm). The maximum percutaneous femoral length was 42.50 cm, while the minimum was 30.0 cm of both right & left side and the range was from 30.0 - 42.50 cm. The average percutaneous femoral length was found to be 38.57 ± 1.70 cm. Maximum average percutaneous femoral length (AvPFL) was 42.50 cm while minimum percutaneous

femoral length was 30.0 cm.

In the present study a statistically significant correlation was observed between right and left percutaneous femoral length (r=0.999). The average percutaneous femoral length and stature correlation coefficient (r=0.766). On the basis of this percutaneous femoral length and stature was found to be positively correlated and the association was highly significant in both sexes. Table 3 shows the regression equation of percutaneous femoral length with stature. The equation obtained was $59.69 + 2.55 \times RPFL$, $59.67 + 2.55 \times LPFL$ and $59.67 + 2.55 \times AvPFL$. The stature can be calculated by putting the value of right percutaneous femoral length (LPFL) and AvPFL in the equation. The multiplication factor for study subjects was 4.10 for the RPFL, LPFL and the AvPFL.

Age groups (years)	Ν	Percentage
20-25	24	9.6%
26-30	37	14.8%
31-35	36	14.4%
36-40	30	12.0%
41 - 45	33	13.2%
46 - 50	35	14.0%
51 - 55	28	11.2%
56 - 60	27	10.8%

Table 1: Age-wise Distribution of Study Subjects

Table 2: Statistical ana	lysis for percutaneous	s femoral length in stu	dy population
			~

	Range (cm)	Mean ± SD (cm)
RPFL	30.00 - 42.50	38.57 ± 1.704
LPFL	30.00 - 42.50	38.57 ± 1.705
AvPFL	30.00 - 42.50	38.57 ± 1.704

RPFL - Right percutaneous femoral length; LPFL - Left percutaneous femoral length; AvPFL - Average percutaneous femoral length

 Table 3: Regression models for stature estimation from percutaneous femoral length

Regression Equation
Stature = 59.69 + 2.55 x RPFL
Stature = 59.67 + 2.55 x LPFL
Stature = $59.67 + 2.55 \text{ x AvPFL}$

RPFL - Right percutaneous femoral length; LPFL - Left percutaneous femoral length; AvPFL - Average percutaneous femoral length

Discussion

The present study was carried out on a sample of 250 deceased females in mortuary of department of Forensic Medicine, Mahatma Gandhi Memorial Medical College and M.Y. Hospital, Indore (M.P.). An attempt was made to correlate percutaneous femoral length with stature and derive regression equations to calculate stature from percutaneous femoral length. The percutaneous femoral length and stature correlation coefficient (r) was 0.766. On the basis of this percutaneous femoral length and stature was found to be positively correlated and the association was highly significant.

In the present study the mean stature of female subjects was found to be 158.27 \pm 5.68, which was slightly lower than the findings of the study done by Jain et al.⁷ in Jain females of Delhi (158.28 \pm 5.12), Chhikara et al.⁸ in North Indian students of PGIMS Rohtak (158.57 \pm 5.85) and Kumar et al.⁹ in females of Patna, Bihar (160.30 \pm 5.04) while it was higher than the study done by Anand and Nath¹⁰ in Brahmin & Rajput females of Garhwal (149.12 \pm 5.87) & (156.14 \pm 6.77) respectively, Sethi and Nath¹¹ in Punjabi females of Delhi (148.60 \pm 5.61), Bhavna & Nath¹² in Shia Muslim females of Delhi (154.40 \pm 4.91), Mohanty et al.¹³ (156.54 \pm 7.32) and Sanjay et al¹⁴ (156.00 \pm 5.61), as compared to present study.

In the present study mean average percutaneous femoral length (AvPFL) 38.57 ± 1.70 was found nearly similar to results of Bhavna & Nath¹² in Shia Muslim females of Delhi (38.93 ± 1.62) and Ansah et al.¹⁵ in Kumasi females of Ghana (38.28 ± 2.61) while the findings of Chhikara et al.⁸ in North Indian students of PGIMS Rohtak (42.40 ± 1.92) found to be on higher side while the findings of other study done by Jain et al.⁷ in Jain females of Delhi (33.48 ± 2.08), Kumar et al.⁹ in females of Patna, Bihar (36.44 ± 2.10) and Anand and Nath¹⁰ in Brahmin & Rajput females of Garhwal 32.42 ± 1.68 & 31.08 ± 1.48 respectively were found to be on lower side as compared to present study.

The measurements of the stature obtained using regression equation were compared with the actual measurements and significant association was found between the measurements. So, stature can be predicted with high accuracy using regression equations. In the present study regression equation for estimation of stature for right and left percutaneous femoral was 59.69 + 2.55(RPFL) & 59.67 + 2.55(LPFL) respectively. The regression equations derived in the present study showed a different pattern than other study conducted by Jain et al.⁷ in Jain females of Delhi 94.86+1.50 (FEML), Anand and Nath¹⁰ in Brahmin & Rajput females of Garhwal 77.60+1.64 (FEML) and 162.66+1.10 (FEML) respectively. Sethi and Nath¹¹ in Punjabi females of Delhi 97.95+1.28 (FEML), Bhavna and Nath et al.¹² in Shia Muslim females of Delhi 66.82+2.25 (FEML) which shows variations in the regression equations in different ethnic

groups in India. So, regression equations of the present study cannot be applied to other population groups.

The multiplication factor is a handy tool and proves vital in situation where the forensic investigator is not well versed with complex mathematical equations or where the investigator is dealing with number of cases like mass disaster or people affected in terrorist attacks etc. The multiplication factor derived in present study for percutaneous femoral length (4.10) was found to be lower as compared to females in the study by Bhavna et al.¹⁶ on Jat females (4.36) & Brahmin females (4.40) of Sampla, Haryana. Lower multiplication factors were observed in other studies too- 3.92 in Jain et al.⁷ 3.74 in Chhikara et al.,⁸ 3.74 in Kumar et al.⁹ 3.33 and 3.37 respectively in Brahmin and Rajput females of Garhwal in the study by Anand et al.,¹⁰ 3.76 in Sethi and Nath,¹¹ and 3.97 in the study by Bhavna and Nath.¹²

Conclusion

Anthropometric measurements (stature and built) differ in different sex and ethnic groups due to demographic factors which are strongly influenced by genetic and environmental factors, suggesting the need for different nomograms for each endogamous group. Furthermore, the need for the alternative formulae for males and females has been substantiated as the rate of skeletal maturity in both sexes vary during the course of development. Limited literature is available on the estimation of stature using percutaneous length of femur in Central India. Further research on the subject across different demographic locations is suggested.

Ethical clearance: A prior approval was obtained from the institutional ethics committee.

Conflict of Interest: None

Financial Assistance: None

References

- Martin R, Saller K, Lehrbuch der Anthropologie in Systematischer. Fischer Darsetllung, Stuttgart.1959
- Krishan K, Sharma A. Estimation of stature from dimensions of hands and feet in a North Indian population. J Forensic Legal Med. 2007; 14: 327-32.

- Dayal Manisha, Styen Maryna, Kuykendall KL. Stature estimation from bones of South African whites. South African J Sci. 2008; 104: 124-8.
- Vij K. Textbook of forensic medicine and toxicology. 4th Ed. India: Elsevier Publisher, Reed Elsevier India Private Ltd; 2009:48-50.
- 5. Krishan K. Anthropometry in forensic medicine and forensic science- forensic anthropometry. Int J Forensic Sci 2007; 2(1): 1-8.
- Alphonse Bertillon. Wikipedia, the free encyclopaedia. https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Alphonse_Bertillon accessed on 20.03.2020.
- Jain P, Nath S. Study about determination of stature using lower limb dimensions. Modern Trends in Forensic Science. New Delhi: Shree Publishers & Distributors. 2002.
- Chhikara P, Dhattarwal SK, Sharma R, Soni J, Khanna K. Comparison of body height and percutaneous femur length among North Indian students. Medico-Legal Update. 2014; 14(2): 31-34
- Kumar P, Shahnawaz K, Varma G. Study of estimation of stature by the length of femur. J Evol Med Dent Sci. 2014; 3(12): 3166-72.
- Nath A, Nath S. Estimation of stature through percutaneous measures of the upper and lower extremities among brahmins & rajputs of pauri garhwal. Indian J Forensic Sci. 1991; 5; 83-9.
- Nath S, Rajni, Chhibber S. Reconstruction of stature from percutaneous lengths of upper and lower extremity segments among Punjabi females of Delhi. Indian J Forensic Sci. 1990; 4: 171-81.
- Nath BS. Use of lower limb measurements in reconstructing stature among Shia Muslims. Internet J Biol Anthropol. 2008; 2(2) :86-97.
- Mohanty BB, Agrawal D, Baisakh P, Samantsinghar P, Kumar S, Chinara PK. A study of different parameters of human extremities and its relationship with human height in residents of eastern India. Tanta Med J. 2015; 43: 1-8
- Singh S, Tabrej Alam M, Rai R. Estimation of stature from leg length: a prospective regional study in western Uttar Pradesh population. European J Biomed Pharm Sci. 2016; 3(3): 202-06.
- Ansah EO. A preliminary anthropometric study of height and sex determination using percutaneous ulnar and femoral lengths. Int J Anat Res. 2017; 5(1): 3638-43
- 16. Bhavna, Khurana K, Singh S, Kaur K, Nath S. Prediction of stature through the lower limb dimensions among brahmin and jat females of Sampla, Haryana. Modern Trends in Forensic Science, New Delhi: Shree Publishers & Distributors. 2006; 112-119.

Dermatoglyphics and saliva blood grouping can be used for sex identification

Snehal Dhumal, Sheetal Korde Choudhari, Sneha Masne, Palak Khetan, Sangeeta Patankar

Department of Oral Pathology and Microbiology, YMT Dental College and Hospital, Kharghar, India- 410210

Abstract

Fingerprints and blood-groups constitute identifying characteristics of individuals. Correlation between dermatoglyphics and bloodgroups can be of use in victim identification. The aim of the present study was to determine accuracy of blood-group determination from saliva and to establish the association between distribution of fingerprint pattern and blood-groups in gender identification. 100 dental undergraduate students aged 18-22 years participated in the study. Fingerprint pattern was determined using Ink Method. ABO blood- grouping was done from saliva using the absorption-elution method. Present study showed that, most common fingerprint pattern was Loops (60%), followed by Whorls (26%) and Arches (14%). Most common blood-group was B, followed by A and O. Higher percentage of secretors in saliva was observed with females (86%) as compared to males (80%). In males, most common blood-group was AB while A was more common in females. In males, arches were most common finger print pattern (60%) whereas in females loops (55%) and whorls (52%) were more common. The study reports association between blood-group and dermatoglyphics which may help in gender identification in Forensic Medicine. It also suggests that saliva can used for ABO bloodgroup determination when blood stains are not available at crime-site.

Keywords

Dermatoglyphics; Blood grouping; Finger printing; Saliva; Forensic odontology; Victim identification.

Introduction

Identification of humans is a prerequisite for personal, social and legal reasons. There are various traditional methods of personal identification which include anthropometry, dermatoglyphics, DNA fingerprinting, sex estimation, estimation of age, measurement of stature, post-mortem reports and differentiation by blood groups. Among these, dermatoglyphics, that is, the study of fingerprints is considered as the best tool for the purpose of individualisation and identification.¹ It has its origin from the Greek word 'derma' meaning skin and 'glyphics' meaning curved.² Dermatoglyphics deals with study of the epidermal ridges and their configuration on the volar aspect of fingers, palms and soles. The ridge pattern depends upon cornified layer of epidermis as well as dermal papillae. The characteristic patterns of epidermal ridges are formed during third and fourth month of fetal life.² It is genotypically determined and remains unchanged from birth to death.³ The finger prints are classified depending upon their primary pattern as loops, whorls and arches.

Among many biological evidences in medico-legal cases, blood is an important parameter as once established blood group remains unchanged throughout life, constituting thus an

Corresponding Author Dr. Snehal Dhumal (MDS) Email: drsnehald8@gmail.com Mobile: 9653210287

Article History

Received: 24th June, 2020; Revision received on: 15th March, 2021 Accepted: 28th March, 2021 identifying class characteristic.⁴ Blood groups are classified on the basis of presence or absence of antigens on the surface of the RBCs. The two most important blood groups are ABO (Landsteiner) and the 'Rhesus' antigen which determines the blood type.⁵ Though blood can serve as a primary source of evidence, in some cases, where, blood stain may not be found at the crime site, saliva found in some form or the other which could be relied on. It is of utmost importance in determining the blood group of a victim or suspected culprit. Saliva may be obtained from bite marks, cigarette ends, envelope flaps, dental appliances or other articles contaminated with saliva.

Fingerprints constitute a highly individualistic form of evidence. Given the persistence and unchanged characteristic of these two evidences, a correlation between dermatoglyphics and blood group can be of use in victim identification.

Materials and Methods

The present study was conducted at Yerala Medical Trusts' Dental College and Hospital, Kharghar, Navi Mumbai with voluntary participation of 100 under graduate dental students aged 18-22 years. The present study was initiated after approval from the Institutional Ethics Committee. Participants were subjected to finger print identification and blood grouping using saliva and blood after obtaining a written informed consent from the participants. Participant's details like name, age, sex were noted. Subjects with normal thumb were included in the study. Students with permanent scars on their fingers and/or thumbs, or with any hand deformities due to injury, birth defect or disease, those having worn fingerprints, extra webbed or bandaged fingers, hypersensitivity to endorsing ink were excluded from the study.

The subjects were asked to give imprints of their left thumb by using the Ink Method as described by Cummins and Midlo.⁶ Sweat, oil and dust from the skin surface was removed, by cleaning the hands with soap and water and wiping with ethyl alcohol, so as to enhance the quality of dermatoglyphic prints. Primary patterns such as loops, whorls and arches were observed with the help of a powerful hand lens.

ABO blood grouping was done using saliva and correlated with ABO blood grouping system. ⁷ ABO blood group of the patient was assessed by slide agglutination method. The results were recorded accurately and the detected blood group from blood was considered as standard against which the salivary blood group was compared. For blood group identification using saliva, all the samples were subjected to absorption-elution method because of its high sensitivity.⁸ The subjects were asked to rinse their mouth thoroughly to remove debris and asked to spit in clean and dry test tubes. 1.5 ml of saliva was added to distilled water and the test tubes were placed in a hot water bath for 10 minutes. After discarding the sediment, supernatant was taken in two test tubes and labelled as A and B to which antisera A and B were added respectively. The test tubes were then thoroughly shaken and then placed into an incubator for 5 hours for adequate antigen-antibody reaction to occur. The test tubes were then heated in a hot water bath maintained at 56°C to break the bond between the antigen and the antibodies. A single drop of freshly prepared pooled red blood cells of known group was added to the respective test tubes and shaken well following which, incubation was done for 15 min at 37° celcius. Both the test tubes were then centrifuged for 1 min at 2000 rpm. The agglutination was observed microscopically and the presence of agglutination was considered as a positive result.

Results

In the present study, among 100 participants, 76 were females and 24 were males. On analyzing the distribution of finger print patterns, we found that loops (60%) is the most common pattern followed by whorls (26%) (Table 1). The least common pattern was found to be arches (14 %). In males the most common finger print pattern was arches (60%) while in females the most common was loops (55%) and whorls (52%). When we correlated the ABO blood group determination using blood and saliva, we found that higher percentage of secretors in saliva was observed in females (86%) than males (80%). Most common blood group on saliva was found to be B (62%) followed by A (21%) and O (10%) which correlated with the findings on blood. In males the most common blood group was AB while in females the most common blood group was found to be A (Table 2). Table 3 shows distribution of primary finger print patterns among A, B, O and AB blood groups on saliva. In

blood group B, the most common pattern observed was loops (40%) followed by whorls (31%).

Table 1: Distribution of fingerprint patterns among study participants

Fingerprint patterns	Ν
Loops	60
Whorls	26
Arches	14

Table 2: ABO blood group distribution in Males and Females

Blood Group	Males (26)	Females (74)
А	(20%)	(80%)
В	(24%)	(76%)
AB	(55%)	(45%)
0	(25%)	(75%)

Table 3: Fingerprint pattern distribution among ABO blood groups

Blood groups	Loops	Whorls	Arches
А	34%	27%	39%
В	40%	31%	29%
0	39%	31%	30%
AB	29%	40%	31%

Discussion

Fingerprints are a unique characteristic which can be used in identification. Blood group is one of the important factors for identification of an individual for ruling out the identity of suspected unknown individual. At present the most common method for ABO blood typing is from a drop of blood obtained by pricking the finger. Besides blood, these antigens are secreted in various body fluids including saliva. In medicolegal cases, where blood stains are not available, saliva can be of paramount importance in blood group identification. In this study, we tried to find the accuracy of blood group determination using saliva. As finger print pattern and blood group remains unchanged once they are established, we tried to find an association between distribution of finger print patterns and blood groups, where blood group was determined from saliva.

In this study, among finger print patterns, loops showed highest frequency (70%), whorls showed moderate incidence (20%)

and arches (10%) were least common. These findings are similar to the studies by Gowda et al. 1996⁹, Bharadwaja¹⁰ and Hamid et al.¹¹ In males the most common finger print pattern observed was arches while in females loops and whorls were common.

Indirect blood grouping by saliva, yielded that the most common blood group was B (62%) followed by A (21%) and O (10%) which is similar to the results by Verma et al. (2015) using blood. ¹² In males the most common blood group was AB and in females A was most common blood group. In our study higher percentage of secretors in saliva were observed in females (86%) than males (80%). Similar results were obtained for a study conducted by Motghare et al.. ¹³ More number of Indians are secretors of blood group antigens in saliva as compared to other races.¹³ Results of our study suggest that saliva can used for ABO blood group determination where blood stains are not available at the crime site.

For all blood groups, the most common fingerprint pattern was loops, which is in accordance with the study by Desai et al. 2103.¹ When we tried to correlate gender with blood group and finger print pattern we observed that, in females the most common blood group was A and the most common fingerprint pattern was loops. This was followed by blood group B and whorl pattern. Blood group O was third most common and arches were least common in this blood group. In males the most common blood group was arches. Blood group O and whorl pattern was second most common finding which was followed by blood group B and arches.

There are some studies where the association between blood group and dermatoglyphics have been studied, however in these studies, blood groups were determined from blood directly. This is the first study to report an association between finger print pattern and blood group where blood group was determined using saliva. Result of the study suggests that an association exists between finger print pattern, blood groups and gender. This association may help in gender identification in forensic medicine. However, whether this association changes with different regions and populations requires further evaluation.

Conclusion

Present study reports an association between blood group and dermatoglyphics and this association may help in gender identification in forensic medicine. Result of our study also suggests that saliva can used for ABO blood group determination where blood stains are not available at the crime site.

Acknowledgement

Our sincere thanks to Dr. N. V. Kumar, Professor and Head of Department of Biochemistry and Mrs. Sailee Pokharkar, Department of Oral Pathology and, for their contribution and guidance in standardization of the method.

Ethical clearance: A prior approval was obtained from the Institutional Ethics Committee

Conflict of interest: None to declare

Source of funding: None to declare

References

- Desai Bhavana, Jaiswal Ruchi, Tiwari Prakash and Kalyan JL. Study of Fingerprint Patterns in Relationship with Blood group and Gender a Statistical Review. Res J Forensic Sci 2013; 1(1): 15-17.
- Purkinje JE. Physiological Examination of Visual Organs and of The Cutaneous System. Brirlaree / Vratisavial Typis Universities, 1823 (translated to English by Cummins H and Kennedy RW). Am J Crim Law Criminal 1940;31:343-56.
- Vij K. Textbook of Forensic Medicine and Toxicology. 3rd ed. New Delhi: Elsevier, 2005: 89-91.
- Neiders ME, Standish SM. Blood group determinations in forensic dentistry. Symposium on the Forensic Dentistry: Legal Obligations and Methods of Identification for the Practioner. DCNA 1977; 21(1):99–111.
- 5. Bijlani RL. Textbook of Physiology, 2nd ed. Blood Groups: 93 94.
- Cummins H, Midlo C. Finger prints palms and soles an introduction to dermatoglyphics. (first ed.), Dover Publications, New York (1961).
- Waters AH. Red cell blood group antigens and antibodies. In: Dacie VJ and Lewis SM, editors. Practical Haematology. 8th ed. London: Churchill Livingstone. 1995. p. 445-64.
- Sen MP, Vanishree M, Hunasgi S, Surekha R, Koneru A, Manvikar V. A comparison of absorption inhibition and absorption elution methods for estimation of ABO blood groups in saliva. J Med Radiol Pathol Surg. 2015 Jan;1(1):1-4.
- Gowda MST and Rao CP. A Study to evaluate relationship between dermatoglyphic features and blood groups. J Anat. Society of Ind. 1996; 45: 39.
- Bharadwaja A., Saraswat PK., Agrawal SK., Banerji P., Bharadwaj S. Pattern of fingerprints in different ABO blood groups. J Indian Acad Forensic Med 2004; 26(1): 6 – 9.
- Hamid S, Hassan AU, Yasin S. Pattern of finger-prints in different blood groups among first year medical students. Sch J App Med Sci. 2016;4(7D):2575-8.
- 12. Usha Verma, Ritu Singroha, Preeti Malik et al. A study to find correlation between dermatoglyphic patterns and ABO blood groups. Int J Anat Res 2015, 3(3):1293-97.
- Motghare P, Kale L, Bedia AS, Charde S. Efficacy and accuracy of ABO blood group determination from saliva. J Indian Acad Oral Med Radiol 2011;23(3):163.

Histopathological changes in pancreas in cases of death due to burn injuries-A pilot study on postmortem histopathology

Abhishek Das,¹ Nandini Das,² Arani Chakraborty,¹ Shuvro Bhattacharya,¹ Bhawna Bhutoria Jain,³ Biswajit Sukul¹

1 Upgraded Department of Forensic and State Medicine, Medical College Kolkata, Kolkata, India

2 Department of Pathology, Medical College Kolkata, Kolkata, India

3 Department of Pathology, Rampurhat Government Medical College, Rampurhat. India

Abstract

Burn injury causes significant fatality every year with its immediate effect or complications. This is 6th most frequent cause of unnatural death & 3rd most frequent cause of suicidal death. Organ specific pathology has been studied a lot, but pancreatic pathology has been missed and overlooked over the years. This prospective, observational, cross-sectional study was aimed to find out gross & microscopic histopathology changes of pancreas in burn cases & to correlate the pathological findings with the duration of survival after receiving burn injury and total body surface area burnt (TBSA). It was done on medico-legal autopsy cases with burn injury over 4 months. All cases irrespective of gender and age were included except decomposed bodies. The survival period was noted from available documents and TBSA calculated using 'Rule of nine'. Pancreatic specimen retrieved and preserved in 10% formalin solution, processed & examined macro & microscopically. Total 13 cases (9 female, 4 male) aged between 19 to 38 years examined while survival period varied from 7 hours to 429.5 hours & TBSA varied from 44.5% to 93.5%. Patchy area of blackish discoloration found in 3 cases macroscopically. Microscopically- pancreatic oedema, congestion was most consistent finding, hemorrhage being inconsistent & necrosis rarest along with various other significant findings suggestive of severe pancreatic inflammation. Extensive study with larger sample size and extensive recruitment of samples can yield significant evidence in future.

Keywords

Burn injury; Histopathology; Postmortem changes; Pancreas; Post burn pancreatitis

Introduction

Human civilization has changed since the use of fire has enhanced life to its greatest. But hazards due to heat and fire have also been a globally prevalent serious public health concern in the form of burn injury.¹ It has been marked as fourth commonest trauma after traffic accident, interpersonal violence and falls.^{2,3} National Health Portal of India reports almost 7 million Indians to be injured and 1.4 Lacs to be dying due to burn yearly.⁴ Burn Injury is a thermal injury which causes tissue destruction and affect vital systems of the body namely, nervous system, gastro-intestinal system, male and female reproductive system, renal and endocrine system.^{5,6} There is no exact single reason for death in burn patients but many early and late causes have been identified till date. It is established that morbidity and mortality in burn is directly proportional to age and total body surface area burnt.⁷ Different pathophysiological response following burn injury affects various organs leading to many frank and occult complications

Corresponding Author Dr Nandini Das (Demonstrator)

Email: nandini1004@gmail.com Mobile: +91 9681992794

Article History Received: 5th June, 2020; Accepted: 22nd November, 2020 like septicemia, pneumonia, acute kidney injury and multiorgan failure.^{8,9,10,11} Forensic pathologists thus studied target organ specific histopathology to find out the not-so-infrequent unidentified aetiology behind the death of burn patient. Organs like lungs, kidney, liver have been experimented for any change in burn injuries but pancreas has been studied very less. But it has significant contribution in complication of burn patients. It has been 45 years when Goodwin, in a conference paper, showed burn patients affected with pancreatitis. Advancements in burn care led to an uprise in the survival rate of people by managing previously hidden and unrecognized complications which are now better handled and managed.¹² Even after extensive study, pancreatic complications remain undiagnosed or neglected in the broad umbrella of multiorgan dysfunction syndrome (MODS) or frequently missed.¹³ This study is an attempt to delve deep into the pancreatic pathology in burn patients complicating to death with the objective of finding out gross & microscopic histopathological changes of pancreas in burn cases & to correlate those findings with duration of survival after receiving burn injury and total body surface area burnt (TBSA).

Materials and Methods

After receiving proper approval from the institutional ethics committee, this prospective, observational and cross-sectional study was done in a tertiary care referral centre and Government medical college over a period of 4 months on burn injury cases coming for medico-legal autopsy. All the cases during the study period including both sex and open age range were considered except bodies with decomposition, postmortem burns, electrocution and chemical burns. Bodies were dissected with proper care and skill, maintaining conventional autopsy protocol. After opening the abdominal cavity, whole pancreas was dissected out carefully as sample. It was duly collected and preserved in a medium sized plastic container by submerging in 10% formalin. Dissected specimens of pancreas were examined for gross pathological findings, if any, before preservation. Then these samples were further examined in Department of pathology for further gross pathological examination after fixation for 24 hours. The pancreas sample was properly cut into randomized sections of small size. Transverse or longitudinal or random sections were done from head, body and tail of pancreas as required. Tissue processing was done with automated tissue processor Lieca TP 1020 followed by staining with haematoxylin and eosin (H&E) stains. Thereafter, slides were examined under microscope for histopathological findings and the data were tabulated, plotted and analyzed in MS Excel spreadsheet.

Results

Thirteen burn injury cases (n=13) coming for medicolegal autopsy were selected according to inclusion and exclusion

criteria. Among 13 cases, 9 were female and 4 cases were male, all aged between 19 to 38 years and having survival time ranged from 7 hours to almost 18 days. Survival time showed an average of 131.7 ± 99.8 hours. Total Body Surface Area burnt (TBSA) ranged from 44.5% to 93.5% with an average of $60.5\pm14.2\%$. On random section in macroscopic examination, red patchy areas of hemorrhage [Figure 1] and blackish areas of necrotic tissues [Figure 2] were spotted within pancreatic parenchyma in different cases. We found pancreatic congestion and edema to be most consistent finding (in 12 cases) followed by hemorrhage (in 9 cases), inflammation (in 8 cases), acinar homogenization and destruction (in 5 cases) and fat necrosis (in 4 cases) [Table: 1]

On arranging the cases in the increasing order of the survival time, we came to a conclusion that hemorrhage was evident after 2 days of survival whereas necrosis was prominent around 4^{th} day and after 6^{th} day. Similar attempt was made with Total Body Surface area burnt (TBSA) and it was evident that hemorrhage had no specific trend in relation to TBSA and necrosis was found in more than 45% TBSA, though it was not a very consistent finding. Other findings, though inconsistent in relation to survival period or TBSA, were dilated pancreatic ducts with mucinous discharge within it, acinar homogenization and fibrin thrombi visible in vessels with infiltration of inflammatory cells.

Case no	Sex	Age in years	Survival in hours	TBSA%	Congestion	Oedema	Haemorrhage	Inflammation	Acinar destruction	Fat necrosis
1	Female	19	154	46.5	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
2	Female	19	162	65.5	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
3	Female	31	139	93.5	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	No
4	Female	22	429.5	46	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No
5	Female	30	119	89.5	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
6	Male	36	10	64.5	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No
7	Male	38	53.5	61	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No
8	Male	24	122.3	58	Yes	No	No	Yes	No	No
9	Female	22	7	53.5	Yes	Yes	N	Yes	No	No
10	Female	36	91	60	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	No
11	Female	19	112	50	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	No
12	Male	26	91	44.5	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
13	Female	21	163	82	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	No

Table 1: Demographic and pathological desciption of cases (n=13)

*TBSA= Total Body Surface Area burnt



Figure 1: Red patchy areas of pancreatic hemorrhage as shown by the black arrow



Figure 2: Blackish areas of pancreatic necrosis in gross pathology as shown by the black arrow



Figure 3: Pancreatic edema, hemorrhage, congestion with acinar cell homogenization and inflammatory cell infiltration

*Green arrow=Edema; Red arrow=Hemorrhage; Brown arrow=Congestion; Black arrow=Acinar cell homogenization; Blue arrow=Inflammatory cell infiltration.



Figure 4: Dilated pancreatic duct with denuded endothelium and mucinous discharge within (Inset: Magnified view)



Figure 5: Fibrin thrombus within pancreatic vessel with surrounding inflammatory cell infiltration (Inset: Magnified view)

Discussion

Burn injury initiates a high metabolic response within body and exacerbates the inflammatory response through free radicals in the body leading to organ dysfunction involving predominantly liver, heart, lung, kidney, gastrointestinal tract and pancreas.^{11,14} Though upgradation of knowledge in pathophysiology of shock in burn injury and fluid replacement therapy reduced early death and increased survival in severely burnt patients, still organ dysfunction pathology has always been a point of interest to the researchers and studied over years.¹⁵ But pancreas has

always been studied very less and very few studies mention about pancreatic pathology in burn patients namely pancreatitis etc.⁸ In our study, all cases were adult with TBSA more than 44% which is consistent with what WHO says that >15% TBSA in adult is serious.⁷ Though earlier studies on burn pathology recruited 50% to 57% of total study population having >40% TBSA.^{16,17} So this study deals with severely affected population having more chance of organ specific pathology and thus conclusions drawn are more trustworthy.

In acute pancreatitis, proenzymes get activated to cause autodigestive tissue necrosis which is classified into mild or edematous and severe or necrotic variety through Atlanta classification. Grossly, it ranges from swollen and firm to hemorrhagic and necrotic in appearance. Post burn pancreatitis is caused mainly due to hypovolemia and pancreatic ischemia where extent of is a major determinant. The histopathological findings depend on severity and duration of the disease process. Edema is more prominently marked in fibrous and adipose tissue. Marked parenchymal hemorrhage, acinar destruction and fat necrosis, dilated ducts with discharge within and thrombi within capillaries and vessels indicate severe inflammation.¹⁸ In our study, all of these findings were evident in different cases establishing the presence of pancreatic inflammation of severe degree. Ryan et al in their retrospective review of 121 adult burn patients found elevation of amylase and lipase levels in 40% cases and symptoms of pancreatitis in 82% cases of burn injury having >20% TBSA. It was claimed that high enzyme elevation and ≥50% TBSA are risk factors.¹⁹ A record-based study in Canada on 2699 pediatric burn patients revealed evidence of pancreatic inflammation including fat and parenchymal necrosis on autopsy to establish acute pancreatitis in 13 (0.05%) cases.²⁰ But in our autopsy-based study, pancreatitis has been found more frequently. Acute pancreatitis (AP) after extensive burn injury is under-recognized and easily missed complication which is associated with significant increase in mortality. Low-density area detected in the pancreas on CT scan early after receipt of burn injury may predict the development of pancreatitis.²¹ Increase in extent of inflammation and necrosis of pancreatic tissue within 48 hours of burn injury indicates pancreatitis.¹⁸ Some researchers claim no acute change in function of liver, heart and pancreas in early phase of post burn period and also no correlation between serum enzymes, except amylase, and TBSA%.¹¹ The assessment of magnitude and severity of the pathology is necessary for systematic planning of prevention.²² The limitation of our study was small sample size, exclusion of electric and chemical burns, non-estimation of serum enzymes (amylase, lipase etc.) to correlate with the pathology. The duration of untreated hours before admission of the patients was also not available.

Conclusion

From this pilot study, we conclude that pancreatic pathology causes serious complications including fatality in early to late phase of burn injury. Thus, a better prevention strategy is solicited which can save life in low to middle income country like India. Developments in burn care and enhanced technologies have decreased the chances and a risk of death as compared to past and it has increased the longevity of life in many affected persons. More advancements and more detailed research with various organs can pave a way to discovery of more accurate causes of death in cases of burn injury. A multi centric study with a larger sample size and more extensive recruitment criteria of samples can be further enlightening. Pancreatic studies have a positive impact as very few have been done till now. So in a distant future, we can aim at the most beneficial treatment and management of burn injuries which will be the least invasive and will target the minimum suffering of the patients.

Ethical clearance: A prior approval was obtained from the Institutional Ethics Committee

Conflict of interest: None to declare **Source of funding:** None to declare

References

- 1. Kumar V. Prevention of burns. Indian J Burns 2019;27:1-2.
- Aggarwal A, Chittoria RK, Chavan VK, Gupta S, Reddy CL, Mohan PB, et al. The role of comorbidities in the prognosis of thermal burns. Indian J Burns 2019;27:16-19.
- Mathers CD, Ezzati M, Lopez AD. Measuring the burden of neglected tropical diseases: The global burden of disease framework. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 2007;1:e114.
- 4. Burns| National Health Portal of India [Internet]. Nhp.gov.in. 2020[cited January 2020]. Available from: https://www.nhp.gov.in/disease/skin/burns [Accessed : 23rd May 2020]
- Saukko P, Knight B. Knight's Forensic Pathology. 4th Ed. London: CRC Press; 2016: 311-324
- Aggrawal A. Textbook of Forensic Medicine and Toxicology. 1st Ed. New Delhi: Avichal Publishing Company; 2014: 299-309
- 7. Management of Burns. World Health Organization [Internet]. Who.int. 2020 [Cited January 2020]. Available from: https://www.who.int/surgery/publications/Burns_management.pdf & v e d = 2 a h U K E w i i k r q K 1 fpAhXH6XMBHenKD7wQFjAAegQIARAB&usg=AOvVaw0hm PXRjt1mZDnK7SfwtHFv [Accessed : 23rd May 2020]
- Chadha A, Bhatia V. Complications of burn injury. Indian J Burns 1993;1(1):59-64.
- 9. Bilwani PK. Burns in elderly. Indian J Burns 1994;2(1):45-49.
- 10. Chadha A, Chadha IA. Multiple Organ Dysfunction Syndrome in

the Critically ill. Indian J Burns 2003;11(1):21-27.

- 11. Khubchandani A, Shaikh MF, Sachde J, Suri M, Sanghani H, Study of functional disturbances in liver and pancreas after thermal injury. Indian J Burns 2011; 19(1): 49-51.
- Goodwin CW, Warden GD, Wilmore DW, et al. Pancreatitis: A Hidden Complication in the Burn Patient. Presented at the 6th Annual Meeting of the American Burn Association, April 4-6, 1974; Cincinnati, OH.
- Ramakrishnan MK, Ravikumar KG, Ravikumar K, Mathivanan T, Jayaraman V, Babu M. Management of acute complications of pediatric burns - our experience of 7 years. Indian J Burns 2015; 23:12-8.
- 14. Gupta JL. Burn management in this century and the way ahead. Indian J Burns 2004;12(1):7-8.
- 15. Gupta AK, Chander K, Jindal Y, Kawatra B. Multiple organ failure in extensive burns. Indian J Burns 1998;6(1):55-59.
- Ziadi N, Alam K, Maheshwari V, Khan AH, Khan HM, Ahmad I. Clinico-pathological correlation and assessment of burn wounds. Indian J Burns 2011;19(1):33-37.

- Dalal R, Sharma CA, Chakravarty BB, Alam Parwaz CM, Malik CA. A study of prognostic factors for prediction of complications and outcomes in burn patients. Indian J Burns 2014(1); 22:56-61.
- Mills SE, Carter DC, Greenson JK, Reuter VE, Stoler MH. Sternberg's Diagnostic Surgical Pathology. 5th Ed, Vol-2. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 1436-1440
- Ryan CM, Sheridan RL, Schoenfeld DA, Warshaw AL, Tompkins RG. Postburn pancreatitis. Ann Surg 1995; 222(2):163-170
- Rivero HG, Lee JO, Herndon DN, Mecott GA, Kulp GA, Craft R et.al. The role of acute pancreatitis in pediatric burn patients. Burns. 2011; 37(1): 82–85. doi:10.1016/j.burns.2010.07.015
- Osuka A, Sugenoya S, Onishi S, Yoneda K, Ueyama M. Acute pancreatitis and necrotizing colitis following extensive burn injury. Acute Med Surg 2016; 3: 283–285. doi: 10.1002/ams2.181
- 22. Ahuja RB. Managing burns in India- Focusing on newer strategies. Indian J Burns 1995; 3(1): 1-7.

Road traffic injuries - A comprehensive retrospective analysis

Arsalaan F Rashid,¹ Farida Noor,¹ Masarat Jehan²

1 Department of Forensic Medicine, Government Medical College Srinagar, Jammu and Kashmir, India 2 Department of Anatomy, Government Medical College Srinagar, Jammu and Kashmir, India

Abstract

Road traffic injury has emerged as a major public health problem in recent years. The present study conducted over a period of two and a half years besides focusing on the demographic and medical aspects of road traffic injuries is unique in sketching a psychological and economical effects of the same in detail. Males 88.21% (187) predominate females 11.79% (25) as victims. Most victims coming to hospital had grievous injuries (47.17%) followed by dangerous (26.89%) and simple (25.94%) injuries. Firsthand accounts of reason leading to road traffic injuries reveal high speed 35 cases (16.52%) and rash driving from other vehicle 25 cases (11.79%). Most of cases of high-speed road traffic injuries involved young adults males in second or third decade of life travelling on two wheelers (mostly motorcycles) driven by a necessity for example, to reach work in time 15 cases (42.86%); thrill seeking behavior in 11 cases (31.43%); or influenced by speed centric films in 8 cases (42.86%). Maximum cases (49.53%) needed 1-2 weeks of hospitalization. The cost of such injuries is huge; a major operative procedure consumes 75 days of manpower besides a baseline cost of 4000 rupees. This excludes the cost of infrastructure; specialized treatment; or medical accessories needed for such a treatment. This baseline cost gets multiplied by a factor of 3 to 4 times at private run hospitals.

Keywords

Road traffic Injury; Demographics; Grievous injury; Thrill

Introduction

Road traffic continues to be a major developmental issue, a public health concern and is a leading cause of death and injury across the world killing more than 1.35 million globally in 2016 as reported in the Global Status report on Road Safety 2018 with 90% of these casualties taking place in the developing countries. As per the World Health Organization, accident related deaths, are known to be the eighth leading cause of death and the first largest cause of death among children aged 5-14 and adults in the age 15-29.1 Globally, 54% of accident related deaths are pedestrians, cyclists and motor cyclists. This results in considerable economic losses not only to individuals, their families, but also to the nations as a whole.¹ Road accidents in India kill almost 1.5 lakh people annually. Accordingly, India accounts for almost 11% of the accident related deaths in the world. In India a total of 4,67,044 road accidents were reported by States and Union Territories (UTs) killing 1,51,417 people and causing injury to 4,69, 418 persons in 2018. This translates into an average of 1,280 accidents and 415 deaths every day and nearly 53 accidents and 17 deaths every hour in 2018.² Total deaths reported under Sec 304 IPC in state of Jammu & Kashmir for year 2016 were 880 in 674 incidents with a crime

Corresponding Author

Dr Arsalaan F Rashid (Assistant Professor) Email: afrashid@gmail.com Mobile: +91-9797313757

Article History

Received: 3rd May, 2020; Revision received on: 8th February, 2021 Accepted: 20th February, 2021 rate of 5.4%. Among these deaths due to rash and negligent driving alone accounted for 652 incidents claiming 851 lives with a crime rate of 5.2% i.e. 96.70% of all the death occurring under sec 304 IPC.³ This figure has reached to 635 incidents with 958 deaths with a rate of 5.0% for the year 2017.⁴ This underscores the importance of Road traffic Safety in public health domain.

Similarly, there were 6451 injuries of Grievous nature (sec 320 IPC) in 4859 incidents of rash driving booked under sections 337 & 338 IPC in state of Jammu & Kashmir for year 2016 with a crime rate of 39.0%.³ The above-mentioned statistics run contrary to the inquest into the world's first road traffic death on 17th August 1896, where the coroner was reported to have said, "This must never happen again". The victim Miss Bridget Driscoll a 44-year-old mother of two, was a pedestrian who was struck down by a motor vehicle.⁵

Material and Methods

This is a retrospective study involving 212 road traffic injuries cases conducted by direct interview, medicolegal reports, police records, outdoor and in-door records of the patients involved. The study was conducted in Associated Hospitals of Govt. Medical College Srinagar a urban medical institution in northern Indian State of Jammu & Kashmir between January 2017 to June 2019. The Associated Hospitals serve as main centers of tertiary care in and around the major urban center of Srinagar. The study is representative of avoidable disease burden put on a population by a fast-tracked modern life. A total number of 230 cases were analyzed, out of which as per exclusion criteria 18 cases were

rejected as the injuries could not be directly linked to road traffic incidents because of non-coherence of patient statements, insufficient data and records. A unique feature of the study was to interview the victims in reassuring manner, allying fears of possible negligence on their part. Still in 49 cases (23.11%) no definitive or vague reasoning for causation of accident could be obtained in spite of best possible reassurance given.

Treatment in Govt. Hospital means average baseline cost of treatment for each hospitalization. All treatment modalities are exclusive of technical equipment and infrastructure needed for such procedures. It includes cost in rupees of only baseline items needed for procedure prevalent at that point in time. Baseline items refer to medication or allied resources like gauze; cotton; betadine; sutures; tetanus, diclofenac, ranitidine, penicillin injections; ringer lactate, dextrose, normal saline infusions; surgical gloves, aprons, masks, caps, foot covers; anesthetic drugs and similar items. Table No. 6 is therefore only an indicative of disease burden on community and does not cover the exact cost of each treatment which may be much more that indicated depending on type of surgery or postsurgical rehabilitation. Average manpower; money and other resources spent are highlighted as under:

- 1. Average for laceration repair like procedure needing 1 specialist; 1 technical staff;1 nursing staff and 1 house-keeping staff. For the same procedure average cost of surgical expendables and anesthetic expendables comes to 900 Rs per procedure.
- 2. Average for hernia repair like procedure needing 2 specialists; 1 assistant; 2 technical staff for surgical team and 1 specialist; 1 assistant; 1 technician for anesthetic team with 1 member of housekeeping staff on day of surgical procedure. An average 3-day post-operative hospitalization will need additional manpower per day of 2 junior doctors; 2 nursing staff; 1 technical staff and 2 housekeeping staff. For the same procedure average cost of surgical expendables and anesthetic expendables comes to 1650 Rs per procedure and 450 Rs per procedure respectively which does not include use of special equipment or medication needed for certain surgeries.
- 3. Average for a laparotomy like procedure needing 2 specialists; 2 assistants; 2 technical staff for surgical team and 2 specialists; 1 assistant and 1technical staff for anesthetic team with 2 members of housekeeping staff on day of surgical procedure. An average seven-day post-operative hospitalization will need additional manpower per day of 2 senior doctors; 2 junior doctors; 2 nursing staff; 1 technical staff and 2 housekeeping staff. For the same procedure average cost of surgical expendables and anesthetic expendables comes to 3000 Rs per procedure and 1000 Rs per procedure respectively which does not include use of special equipment or medication needed for certain surgeries.

Results

Males predominate females as far gender distribution of injuries is concerned. Males constitute 88.21% (187) and females 11.79% (25) of all cases. These results are similar to those obtained in numerous national and international studies.⁶⁻¹¹ One of the factors for dominance of injuries amongst males may be the fact that in majority of cases they are the sole earning members of the family and therefore get exposed to traffic and foreign environment outside home. In our study nearly 53.77% of cases belonged to 21-40-year age group which was the maximum percentage of population susceptible to road traffic accidents among any age groups (Table 1). This is similar to studies carried out by Nilamber et al. in JIPMER where maximum injuries were found to occur in the age group of 20-29 years (31.3%) and 71% of the victims were under 40 years of age¹² and also by Ganveer and Tiwari where majority of the victims were in the age group 18-37 years.¹³ This is similar to results obtained by Gururaj et al. in NIMHANS where highest number of Traumatic Brain Injuries was in the age group of 21-35 years (43%) with a male to female ratio of 4:1.¹⁴ Another study by Municipal Corporation of Delhi found maximum morbidity in age group of 15 to 35 years with males: female ratio of 4:1.¹⁵ In our study 144 cases (67.92%) belonged to rural population of the state and 68 cases (32.08%) belonged to urban population (Table 1). These findings are concordant with study done by Rastogi in Kota in 1994 where 16.66% and 29.16% road traffic accidents were found to occur in rural centers of population located around national and state highways respectively.¹⁶ Most of injuries suffered by victims had an overlap in the injuries observed, with abrasions presenting in maximum cases (53.50%) (Table 2). As per our study most injuries were confined to the appendicular skeleton especially the upper and lower limbs, which is again in conformity with studies done by Garg, Singh et al and Srivastava et al. (Table 3).^{6,10,11} The major organ system involved was observed to be the intestine in 14 cases, followed by the liver (11) and spleen (9) as shown in Table 4. Splenectomy and hepatic repair presented as major disabilities resulting from accidents (Table 5).

Most victims coming to hospital had grievous injuries (47.17%) followed by dangerous (26.89%) and simple (25.94%) injuries. On being asked to give firsthand accounts of reason leading to road traffic injuries (RTI); most of the victims blamed high speed 35 cases (16.52%) and rash driving from other vehicle 25 cases (11.79%). In 49 cases (23.11%) no reason for accident was provided (Table 6). In subset questionnaire it was found that most of cases of high speed RTI involved young adults males (32) and fewer females (3) in second or third decade of life travelling on two wheelers (mostly motorcycles) driven by a necessity for example, to reach work in time 15 cases (42.86%); thrill seeking behaviour in 11 cases (31.43%); or influenced by speed centric movies in 8 cases (42.86%) (Table

9). In our study primary target of RTIs were two-wheeler riders 101 cases (47.64%) followed by four wheelers like cars 62 cases (29.64%) (Table 5). This is similar to study done by Pramod and Tewari in Delhi where two-wheeler users account for 46.3% victims.¹⁵ In another study done at JIPMER two wheelers including motorcycles (31.1%) and bicycles (38.6%) accounted for maximum number of victims.¹²

Maximum cases (49.53%) needed 1-2 weeks of hospitalization were as in only 45 cases (21.23%) patients were discharged in single day only (Table 10) This may be due to our hospital being the primary referral center were specialized treatment is available. These results are in contrast to MCD community-based study were most of injured had simple injuries and needed lesser time of stay at hospital.¹⁵

Table 1: Age distribution of road traffic injury cases

Age group (years)	Ν	%
<10	15	7.08
11-20	35	16.51
21-40	114	53.77
41-60	45	21.23
>60	3	1.41
Total	212	100

Type of injury	N	%
Abrasions	113	53.50
Bruises	104	49.06
Laceration	68	32.07
Incised wound	8	3.77
Fracture	100	47.17
Injury Overlap	181	85.38

Table 3: Distribution of injury on the body $(N = 21)$	Table 3:	Distribution	of injury	on the	body (N= 21
---	----------	--------------	-----------	--------	--------	-------

Body part	Ν	%
Head	64	30.19
Neck	6	2.83
Upper limb	93	43.87
Lower limb	79	37.26
Chest	35	16.50
Abdomen	42	19.81
Back	14	6.60
Pelvis	11	5.19
Injury Overlap	132	62.25

Table 4. Distribution	according to	major organ	system invo	lved
Table 4: Distribution	according to	major organ	system mvo	nveu

Major organ system involved	N	%
Brain	8	14.04
Lungs	8	14.04
Liver	11	19.30
Spleen	9	15.79
Kidney	5	8.77
Intestine	14	24.56
Miscellaneous	2	3.50

Table 5: Major disabilities resulting from accidents

Type of disability	Ν	%
Aphasia	1	0.47
Permanent facial disfigurement	1	0.47
Hemiplegia	2	0.94
Paraplagia	1	0.47
Hemicolectomy	2	0.94
Nephrectomy	2	0.94
Splenectomy	4	1.89
Major hepatic repair	4	1.89
Penile amputations	1	0.47

Table 6: First-hand account regarding accidents

Cause of accident	Ν	%
High speed driving	35	16.52
Rash driving of other vehicle	25	11.79
Fall from moving vehicle	11	5.19
Bad roads	22	10.38
Loss of control of vehicle	32	15.09
Pedestrian hits	16	7.55
Mechanical failure	3	1.41
Stray bullet	1	0.47
Animals in middle of road	4	1.89
High light beam from incoming vehicle	6	2.83
Weather conditions	7	3.30
Drunk driving	1	0.47
No reason given	49	23.11
Total	212	100

Age group	Ν	%
11-20	10	28.57
21-40	23	65.71
41-60	2	5.71

Table 7: Age distribution of individuals involved in high speed accidents (N=35)

Table 8: Types of vehicles involved in high speed accidents (N=35)

Vehicle type	N	%
Motorcycle	15	42.86
Sumo	8	22.86
Car	5	14.28
Truck	5	14.28
Auto rickshaw	3	8.57

Table 9: Reasons given for high speed driving (N=35)

Reason given	Ν	%
Films	8	22.86
Thrill	11	31.43
Necessity	15	42.86
No reason	1	2.86

Table 10:	Hospital	stav	following	road	traffic	iniuries	(N=	212)
10010 101	ricoprim	Seag	ronomig	1044		inganteo	(* '	,

Days of stay	N	%
1	45	21.23
2-5	58	27.36
6-10	47	22.17
11-15	16	7.54
16-20	12	5.66
>20	34	16.04
Total	212	100

The cost of such injuries is huge and, in our estimates, keeping baseline treatment in mind at a government run hospital an average case of RTI needing major operative procedure consumes 75 days of manpower besides a baseline cost of 4000 rupees. This excludes the cost of infrastructure; specialized treatment; or medical accessories needed for such a treatment. This baseline cost gets multiplied by a factor of 3 to 4 times at private run

hospitals. For daycare procedures, the 4 workdays were used alongside a baseline cost of Rs. 700, whereas, for minor operative procedures it amounted to 29 working days and 2000 rupees.

Discussion

The economic cost of road crashes and injuries is estimated to be 1% of Gross National Product (GNP) in low-income countries, 1.5% in middle income countries and 2% in high-income countries. The global cost is estimated to be US\$ 518 billion per year. Low-income and middle-income countries account for US\$ 65 billion, more than they receive in development assistance. The global burden of disease due to RTI (in terms of DALYs-Disability Adjusted Life Years) is expected to move from ninth position to third position by 2020.¹⁷

Recognizing the magnitude of the problem the World Health Organization in 2004 had its theme as "Road Safety: is no accident."¹⁸ This may be interpreted in two ways, i.e. roads are safe only when there are no injuries on the road (including foot paths and sidewalks), which is straightforward. But the most important point is that Road safety cannot be achieved accidentally, unless there is a concerted and sincere effort from all the areas concerned with road safety. Use of accident with road traffic is a tragedy of sorts in itself. A WHO expert committee has defined accident as "A premeditated event resulting in recognizable injury."¹⁹

Arbous has defined accident as "In a chain of events, each of which is planned or controlled, there occurs an unplanned event, which being the result of some non-adjustive act on the part of the individual (variously caused) may or may not result in injury. This is accident."¹⁹ When this is applied to the field of Injury Prevention the term 'accident' would actually suggest that the event leading to an injury cannot be prevented. This is in fact an observation made by researchers earlier in the field of Injury prevention. "There has been a change in the terminology regarding injuries, which were earlier regarded as accidents and one serious handicap in systematic research on the causes of accidents is the lack of precision in terminology."20 It is to be understood that injuries are no longer regarded to be result of 'accidents'. Road traffic injuries are no exception to this understanding of injury occurrence. Systematic research into injury causation has shown that most of the injuries are predictable and therefore preventable.²¹ It is therefore necessary to define injury rather than an accident if we are to prevent injuries in general and Road Traffic Injuries in particular.

Conclusion

A number of facts become clear from research results which help us to sketch a complete picture of a Road Traffic Injury. Young individuals mostly males in their second or third decade of life in chase of a quick success, influenced by today's media, fancied by physical thrill, unmindful of regulations of society and law become easy victims of Road Traffic Injuries. Not only are these occurrences common but as author of two research publications²² the data of which has come from two tertiary care hospitals; the morbidity and economic burden that a state has to bear is extreme. Time has come for us to understand that as responsible members of a civilized society we should regulate our self as per laws of land which involves educating our younger generation in safe driving and traffic laws. Another observation of this study was that only 15 First Information Reports were registered which is grossly inadequate. Registering a FIR in India is generally not considered easy by people as they are reluctant to interact with the police. It is widely known that the tedious administrative process of attending in the court of law is a major rein for people to report RTA to police, therefore, not reporting it or outside settlement between those involved are the preferred choices for the majority.23 The administrators of state should also understand that laws cannot be followed unless they are strictly enforced. The state in recent past has realized this mistake and new laws regulating Road Traffic which enlist strict punishments with heavy fine for Road traffic offences have been formulated and implemented so that this modern epidemic is nipped in its bud.²⁴

Ethical clearance: A prior approval was obtained from the Institutional Ethics Committee

Conflict of interest: None to declare

Source of funding: None to declare

References

- World Health Organisation (WHO). Global status report on road s a f e t y 2 0 1 8 : S u m m a r y . A v a i l a b l e f r o m : https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/277370/WHO-NMH-NVI-18.20-eng.pdf?ua=1 [Last accessed on 2020 May 31].
- 2. Government of India. Ministry of Road Transport & Highways. Road Accidents in India 2018. Available from: https://morth.nic.in/sites/default/files/Road_Accidednt.pdf [Last accessed on 2020 May 31].
- 3. National Crime Record Bureau, Ministry of Home Affairs. Government of India. Crime in India 2016.p 12 - 14. Available from http:// ncrb.nic.in [Last Accessed on 17th October 2019.
- National Crime Record Bureau, Ministry of Home Affairs. Government of India. Crime in India 2017.p 13. Available from http:// ncrb.nic.in [Last Accessed on 28th October 2019].
- Wikipedia the free encyclopedia. Death of Bridget Driscoll. Available from:https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Death_of_Bridget_ Driscoll [Last Accessed on 31 May 2020].
- 6. Garg N, Hyder AA. Road traffic injuries in India: A review of the literature. Scand J Public Health 2006;34(1):100–9.
- 7. Lamawansa M, Piyathilake A. Incidence of physical injuries in a rural community in Sri Lanka: Results of the first community

survey in Sri Lanka. Indian J Community Med 2008;33(4):238-42

- 8. Kobusingye O, Guwatudde D, Lett R. Injury patterns in rural and urban Uganda. Inj Prev 2001;7(1):46–50.
- Olawale OA, Owoaje ET. Incidence and pattern of injuries among residents of a rural area in south western Nigeria: A communitybased study. BMC Public Health 2007;7:246.
- Singh H, Dhattarwal SK. Pattern and distribution of injuries in fatal road traffic accidents in Rohtak (Haryana). J Indian Acad Forensic Med 2004;26(1):20–3.
- 11. Srivastava AK, Gupta RK. A study of fatal road accidents in Kanpur. J Indian Acad Forensic Med 1989;11(1):24–8.
- Nilamber J, Goutam R, Jagadish S. Epidemiological study of road traffic cases: A study from sout India. Indian J Community Med 2004 Jan-Mar; XXIX(1): 20-24.
- Ganveer GB, Tiwari RR. Injury pattern among non-fatal injury cases: A cross sectional study in central India. Indian J Med Sci 2005;59 (1):9-12.
- Gururaj G, Kolluri SVR, Chandramouli BA, Subbakrishna DK, Kraus JF. Traumatic Brain Injury. Publication No. 61. Bangalore 560029, India: National Institute of Mental Health and Neurosciences; 2005.p17-23.
- Pramod KV, Tewari KN. Epidemiology of road traffic injuries in Delhi: Result of a survey. Regional Health Forum. Delhi. WHO-SEAR 2004; 8 (1): 4-14.
- 16. Rastogi R. A study of accidents in and around Kota city. Indian highways 2006; 34 (4): 5-16.
- Corinne PA, Bonnie D, Jess FK, Roger D, James M, Robert B, Heizo T. Injury control: The Public Health Approach. Oxford Text Book of Public Health. 4th ed. London: Oxford University Press; 2002. p1533-1547.
- World Health Organisation (WHO). Road safety: A public health issue 2004 Available from:https://www.who.int/safety/en/[Last Accessed on 31 May 2020].
- Park K. Park's Textbook of Preventive and Social Medicine. 19th ed. Jabalpur: M/s Banarasidas Bhanot Publishers; 2007. p340-345
- Gururaj G, Kolluri SVR, Chandramouli B.A. Prevention of Head injuries due to Road Traffic injuries in Bangalore. Proceedings of the WHO sponsored workshop NIMHANS Bangalore India 1999 Apr 23-24.
- Barry PI, Brent EH. Injury Prevention: A Glossary of terms. J Epidemiol Community Health 2005; 59:182-185.
- 22. Arsalaan F, Rifat Fazili. A two year study on road traffic accident cases admitted in SKIMS medical college hospital Bemina, JK Practioner 2013; 18(3-4) : 15-19.
- Elvik R, Mysen AB. Incomplete accident reporting; meta-analysis of studies made in 13 countries. Transp Res Rec 1999; 1665:133-40.
- Government of India, Ministry of Law and Justice. The motor vehicles (Amendment) Act,2019 No. 32 of 2019. Available from: http://egazette.nic.in/WriteReadData/2019/210413.pdf [Last Accessed on 31 May 2020].

Analysis of firearm deaths from Central Delhi region - A 6-year retrospective study

Raj Kumar¹, Dhiraj Buchade², Rohit Bhart², Upender Kishore²

1 Medical Officer, Maulana Azad Medical College, New Delhi, India 2 Department of Forensic Medicine, Maulana Azad Medical College, New Delhi, India

Abstract

Firearm injuries were well known for their atypical findings and appearances in routine so a retrospective study from 2013 to 2018 was performed to evaluate the morphology of firearm injuries and the damaged caused by it. Data of 65 cases was collected from post mortem notes of the deceased. It was observed that the age group of 21-40 years was most commonly affected with 63 cases (96.9%) and a male : female ratio 31.5:1. Individuals of the Hinduism religion (50 cases, 76.9%) were most commonly affected and most of the victims were brought dead or were dead on the spot (34 cases, 52.3%). Rifled firearm weapon most commonly used (63 cases, 96.9%) while shotgun was used in 02 cases (3.1%). Single entry (43 cases, 66.2%) and exit wounds 37 cases (56.9%) were most commonly observed. In 41 cases (63.1%) no bullet was recovered while single bullet was recovered in 16 cases (24.6%) during post mortem examination. Entry wounds were most commonly found on head, face and neck region of body in 29 cases (44.6%) followed by chest region in 26 cases (40.0%), while right lower limb region with one case (1.5%) was least commonly found. Exit wounds were most commonly found on head, face and neck region (22 cases, 33.8%) followed by back region (15 cases, 23.1%). Lungs (22 cases, 33.8%) and brain (21 cases, 32.3%) were most commonly damaged organs in firearm injuries while kidneys and spleen (2 cases, 3.1%) each were least commonly involved organs. Skull and facial bones (23 cases, 35.4%) were most commonly fractured bones by firearm weapons followed by ribs and clavicle (17 cases, 26.2%). Abrasion collar was the most common entry wound artefact (53 cases, 81.5%) followed by smudging/ blackening/ stippling (20 cases, 30.8%). Homicidal was the most common manner of death with 44 cases (67.7%), followed by Suicidal with 15 cases (23.1%). Shock and Haemorrhage was the most common cause of death with 30 cases (46.2%).

Keywords

Firearm injuries; Entry wound; Exit Wound; Rifled firearm; Shotgun firearm; Cause of death.

Introduction

Deaths due to firearm weapons have increased tremendously around the world, especially in developing countries where illegal firearms and locally made or country made guns are easily available without licensing. This unregulated use of firearms has resulted in an increased rate of death and injuries by these weapons. Though there were previously published studies on firearm injuries of many countries, there were only a few studies on the incidence and pattern of death from firearm injuries in Delhi City. In the present study, our objective was to investigate the pattern of injuries, autopsy findings, survival period, cause of death and the range of firearm in cases of deaths due to firearm injuries. In case of firearm injuries, their severity was determined by following factors: The damage of the tissues caused by the mechanical interaction between the bullet and the tissues, and the effects of the temporary cavity produced by the bullet.¹

Corresponding Author

Dr Dhiraj D. Buchade (Associate Professor) Email: dhirajfmt@gmail.com Mobile: +91-9868666771, +91-9968604394

Article History

Received: 21st May, 2020; Revision received on: 11th February, 2021 Accepted: 16th February, 2021

Material and Methods

The present retrospective study was conducted in the Department of Forensic Medicine of the Maulana Azad Medical College and Lok Nayak hospital, New Delhi which caters to the Central Delhi population. The data of 6 years from 1st January 2013 to 31st December 2018 was collected from post mortem notes of the deceased. During this period, a total of 7127 post mortem cases were conducted, of which 65 cases (0.91%) were deaths due to firearm injuries. The data was collected in a proforma prepared for this study purpose. The collected data was analyzed using Statistical Package for the Social Sciences [SPSS, IBM Corp., Armonk, NY], Version 20.0.

Results

In the present study, male gender 63 cases (96.9%) most commonly affected with male: female ratio was 31.5:1. The age group of 21-40 Years was most commonly affected 41 cases (63.1%). Total 50 cases (76.9%) were found to belong from Hindu religion and only 15 cases (23.1%) were from Muslim religion. Most of the victims 34 cases (52.3%) were died on Spot or brought dead on arrival in accident and emergency department followed by period of survival 1-10 days in 13 cases (20.0%) after hospitalization. The rifled firearm weapon was most commonly used in this study of 63 cases (96.9%) and

shotgun firearm was least used in 2 cases (3.1%). Single firearm entry wound were found in 43 cases (66.2%) followed by two entry wounds of firearm were found in 13 cases (20.0%). While single exit wound of firearm was found in 37 cases (56.9%) followed by no exit wound of firearm were found in 16 cases (24.6%). In 5 cases (7.7%) multiple entry and exit wound of firearm were found from single bullet. In 2 cases (3.0%) penis was injured in firearm injuries with age of victim of 20 years and 30 years.

Table 1: Age Group wise distribution of cases

Age Group (years)	Cases	%
0-20	11	16.9
21-40	41	63.1
41-60	12	18.5
>61	1	1.5
Total	65	100

Table 2: Period of survival after incidence wise distribution of cases

Period of survival after incidence	Cases	%
Spot dead/Brought dead	34	52.3
Death within 12 hrs	3	4.6
Death after 12 hrs to 1 Day	5	7.7
1-10 Days	13	20.0
>11Days	10	15.4
Total	65	100

Table 3: Number of Entry and Exit woun	ids present on the body
--	-------------------------

Number of wound	Entry wound N (%)	Exit wound N (%)
0		16 (24.6)
1	43 (66.2)	37 (56.9)
2	13 (20.0)	5 (7.7)
3	04 (6.3)	3 (4.7)
4	01 (1.5)	2 (3.1)
5	01 (1.5)	01 (1.5)
6	01 (1.5)	01 (1.5)
7	01 (1.5)	
9	01 (1.5)	
Total	65 (100)	65 (100)

During post mortem examination in 41 cases (63.1%) no bullet were recovered from body and in 16 cases (24.6%) single bullet were recovered from body. In one case (1.5%) wad & pellets were recovered during post mortem examination. Firearm entry wounds in 29 cases (44.6%) were most commonly present over the head, face and neck region of body followed by chest region of body in 26 cases (40.0%). While the head, face and neck region of body was most commonly involved region of body in exit wound of firearm in 22 cases (33.8%) followed by back region of body in 15 cases (23.1%). The lungs were the most commonly damaged organ in body in 22 cases (33.8%) followed by brain in 21 cases (32.3%). The skull and facial bones were most commonly fractured in 23 cases (35.4%) followed by fractures of ribs and clavicle in 17 cases (26.2%).

Abrasion collar were most commonly found in entry wounds of 53 cases (81.5%) followed by smudging / blackening / stipplings in 20 cases (30.8%). Alleged manner of death was homicidal in 44 cases (67.7%) followed by suicidal in 15 cases (23.1%). The most common cause of death in this study was shock and haemorrhage in 30 cases (46.2%) followed by cranio-cerebral damages and sepsis following firearm injuries both were in 19 cases (29.2%) each.

Table 4: Number of Bullets recovered from the body

Number of Bullets	Cases	%
0	41	63.1
1	16	24.6
2	6	9.2
3	2	3.1
Total	65	100

Table 5: Region of body involved in Entry and Exit wounds

Region of Body	Entry Wound N (%)	Exit Wound N (%)
Head Face and Neck	29 (44.6)	22 (33.8)
Chest	26 (40)	12 (18.5)
Abdomen including Genital	21 (32.3)	8 (12.3)
Back	8 (12.3)	15 (23.1)
Right Upper Limb	9 (13.8)	6 (9.2)
Left Upper Limb	6 (9.2)	2 (3.1)
Right Lower Limb	1 (1.5)	1 (1.5)
Left Lower Limb	3 (4.6)	3 (4.6)

Organ damaged	Cases	%
Brain	21	32.3
Heart	7	10.8
Lungs	22	33.8
Liver	7	10.8
Spleen	2	3.1
Kidneys	2	3.1
Stomach	7	10.8
Pancreas	4	6.2
Small Intestine	14	21.5
Large Intestine	12	18.5

Table 6:	Organ	damaged	in	firearm	case
----------	-------	---------	----	---------	------

Bones fractured	Cases	%
Skull and Facial bones	23	35.4
Ribs and Clavicle	17	26.2
Spine	16	24.6
Humerus	5	7.7
Radius	4	6.2
Ulna	3	4.6
Femur	1	1.5

Table 7: Bones fractured by Bullets

Table 8: Entry wound cha	racteristics	
Entry wound characteristics	Cases	%
Abrasion collar	53	81.5
Contusion collar	6	9.2
Singing of Hairs	8	12.3
Smudging / Blackening / Stippling	20	30.8
Muzzle imprint	6	9.2
Bullet graze	3	4.6

Discussion

In the present study male gender 63 cases (96.9%) was most commonly affected with male:female ratio was 31.5:1 which were consistent with the findings of studies done by Mariam et al^[2], Myint et al^[4], Thube et al^[3], Khetran et al^[7], Kohli et al^[9] and Rastogi A.K.^[5]. The age group of 21-40 years was the most commonly affected 41 cases (63.1%), this finding was consistent with studies done by Mariam et al^[2], Myint et al^[4], Thube et al^[3], Khetran et al^[7], Kohli et al^[9] and Rastogi A.K.^[5] and

Kumari et al^[8].

The youngest victim was found to be 11 years old male and oldest victim was 68 years old male which was similar to study of Mariam et al^[2]. Most of the victims were spot or brought dead 34 cases (52.3%) followed by period of survival 1-10 days in 13 cases (20.0%) after hospitalization, this was similar to the finding of Sachan et al^[6]. Rifled firearm 63 cases (96.9%) were the most commonly used weapon which were consistent with finding of Myint et al^[4], Thube et al^[3] and Khatran et al^[7]. However this finding was in contrast to the finding of the study done by Kumari et al^[8] in which shotgun weapon 60% (country made guns) used. Single firearm entry wound were found in 43 cases (66.2%) which were consistent with finding of the study done by Myint et al^[4], Kohli et al^[9], Kumari et al(8] and Sachan et al^[6].

Exit wound of firearm was found in 49 cases (75.4%) and in remaining 16 cases (24.6%) no exit wound present. Out of 49 cases single exit wound was found in 37 cases (56.9%) and in remaining 12 cases (18.4%) more than two exit wounds were found which were similar with Kumari et al^[8]. In 16 cases (24.6%) single bullet was recovered from body after post mortem examination and in 41 cases (63.1%) no bullet was recovered from body which were consistent with Myint et al^[4] and Kohli et al^[9]. Head, face and neck region 29 cases (44.6%) followed by chest region of body in 26 cases (40.0%) which were consistent with the studies done by Myint et^[4], Thube et al^[3], Kohli et al^[9] and Sachan et al^[6]. However this was not consistent with Khetran et al^[7] chest and abdomen region, Mariam et al^[2] chest region, Kumari et al^[8] abdomen region most commonly involved. Lungs 22 cases (33.8%) and Brain 21 cases (32.3%) were most commonly damaged organs which were consistent with the studies done by Kohli et al^[9].

Abrasion collar were most commonly found in entry wound 53 cases (81.5%) followed by smudging/blackening/stippling in 20 cases (30.8%) on the basis of which rang of firearm was determined. In 6 cases (9.2%) were from contact range, 8 cases (12.3%) were from near contact range which were consistent with the Myint et al^[4] and in contrast with Thube et al^[3], and Sachan et al^[6]. Whereas 20 cases (30.7%) were from intermediate range which were consistent with studies conducted by Thube et al^[3] & Sachan et al^[6] and in contrast with study conducted by Kumari et al^[8]. Alleged manner of death was homicidal 44 cases (67.7%) most commonly found, followed by suicidal 15 cases (23.1%) and accidental death 6 cases (9.2%) these findings were consistent with Mariam et $al^{[2]}$, Myint et al^[4], Thube et al^[3], Khetran et al^[7], Kohli et al^[9], Rastogi A. K^[5], Kumari et al^[8] and Sachan et al^[6]. Whereas most common deaths due to firearm were suicidal in nature in some of the foreign studies done by Sachan et al^[6], Kumari et al^[8], Norton et al^[13], Hagras et al^[10], Druid et al^[11] and De la Grandmaison et al,^[12].

Most common cause of death was shock and haemorrhage in 30 cases (46.2%) followed by cranio-cerebral damages in 19 cases (29.2%) and sepsis following firearm injuries in 19 cases (29.2%) which were consistent with the studies done by Thube et al^[3], Kohli et al^[9], Rastogi A. K.^[5], Kumari et al^[8] and Sachan et al^[6].

Ethical clearance: A prior approval was obtained from the Institutional Ethics Committee

Conflict of interest: None to declare

Source of funding: None to declare

References

- 1. Aggrawal A. Textbook of Forensic Medicine and Toxicology, 1st Ed. Avichal Publishing Company, New Delhi. 2014:366-92.
- Mariam A, Mushtaq A. Profile of Firearm Autopsies in Multan- A Five Year Study, Pak J Med Health Sci. 2015;9(2):565-7.
- Myint S, Rerkamnuaychoke B, Peonim V, Riengrojpitak S, Worasuwannarak W. Fatal firearm injuries in autopsy cases at Central Bangkok, Thailand: a 10-year retrospective study. J Forensic Legal Med. 2014;28:5–10.
- Thube H R, Chikhalkar B G, A study of fatal gunshot injuries over two years in Mumbai, India. Indian J Forensic Community Med. 2017;4(3):154-7
- 5. Kohli A, Aggarwal NK. Firearm fatalities in Delhi, India. Leg Med

(Tokyo). 2006;8(5):264-8.

- Khetran AK, Rehman S, Khan Z, Baloch MR. Incidence of deaths due to gunshot injuries at district Barkhan, Balochistan. J. Liaquat Univ. Med. Health Sci. 2012;11(2):90-2.
- Rastogi AK, Singh BK, Dadu SK, Thakur PS, Lanjewar AK, Raput PP. Trends of Homicidal Deaths in Indore (M.P.) Region One Year Retrospective Study. J Indian Acad Forensic Med. 2013;35(4):343-5.
- Kumari S. Medico-legal Aspects of Firearm Injury Cases in Agra Region; J Indian Acad Forensic Med. 2014;36(4);387-390.
- Sachan R, Kumar A, Verma A. Frequency of Firearm Injuries, Deaths and Related Factors in Kanpur, India; an Original Study with Review of Literature. Int J Med Toxicol Forensic Med. 2013;3(3):88-95.
- Hagras AM, Kharoshah MAA. Medico-legal evaluation of firearm injuries during the period from 2005 to 2010 in the Suez Canal Area, Egypt: A retrospective study. Egyptian Journal of Forensic Sciences. 2012;2(1):1–10.
- Druid H. Site of entrance wound and direction of bullet path in firearm fatalities as indicators of homicide versus suicide. Forensic Sci Int. 1997;88(2):147-62.
- De la Grandmaison GL, Fermanian C, Aegerter P, Durigon M. Influence of ballistic and autopsy parameters on the manner of death in case of long firearms fatalities. Forensic Sci. Int. 2008;177(2-3):207-13.
- Norton R, Langley J. Firearm related deaths in New Zealand 1978-87. N Z Med J. 1993 Nov 10;106(967):463-5.

Autopsy findings in sudden cardiac death victims at a tertiary health care centre

Suwarna Patil, Prashant Zamad, Ajay Jungare, Anuja Nasare, Pradip Umap, Pradip Rudra

Department of Pathology, Government Medical College, Akola, India

Abstract

In the present era there is a transition of the cause of death from communicable to non-communicable diseases (NCD) due to changing life style as well as environmental factors. Sudden cardiac death (SCD) is one of the most common NCD and an important mode of death all over the world. Hence, the accurate diagnosis of the causes of SCD is now of particular importance. Pathologists are solely responsible for determining the precise cause and mechanism of sudden death through autopsy. In present study we included 260 cases with age ranging from 1 to 80 years. 75 (28.8%) of these 260 cases showed cardiovascular lesions with a male: female ratio of 14:1. Coronary artery disease with or without other associated lesions was the most frequent finding (90.7%). Other causes included atherosclerosis of aorta, myocardial infarction (MI), myocarditis and cardiomyopathy. Rare findings were left atrial myxoma and malignant mesothelioma. Though predominantly affected age group was 41-50 years, there was significant number of affected young patients as well. Thus, this study highlights the importance of screening the population from young age itself for cardiovascular diseases to reduce related morbidity and mortality.

Keywords

Autopsy; Sudden cardiac death; Myocardial infarction; Coronary artery disease; Atherosclerosis

Introduction

Cardiovascular diseases are considered to be responsible for approximately 17 million deaths every year globally. It predominantly includes sudden cardiac death (SCD), myocardial infarction (MI), valve abnormalities and other coronary artery diseases (CAD).¹ India is also experiencing a rapid transition of communicable to non-communicable diseases (NCD) as the cause of morbidity and mortality. These NCDs include diseases like cardiovascular diseases, malignancies and diabetes mellitus (WHO). About 206 million people die of cardiovascular diseases in India, maximally affected age group being 35-64 years. Urban population is affected 3 times more than the rural areas. The most important risk factors are stress, tobacco chewing, smoking, alcohol abuse, obesity, unhealthy diet and physical inactivity.²

SCD is one of the most important modes of death worldwide (about 30% to 50% of all deaths).³ Sudden cardiac death (SCD) is a sudden unexpected event, from a cardiac cause, that occurs in less than 1 hour after the symptom onset in a person without any previous condition that would seem fatal or who was seen without any symptoms 24 hours before being found dead. Acute coronary findings, a fresh thrombus or recent myocardial infarction are often present in patients who die suddenly.⁴ As

Corresponding Author

Dr Anuja Nasare (Medical Officer) Email: anujanasare@gmail.com. Mobile: +91-7020943503

Article History

Received: 30th May, 2020; Revision received on: 10th March, 2021 Accepted: 18th March, 2021 CAD accounts for \geq 50% of heart failure (HF) patients in the Western world, it is possible that acute coronary events contribute importantly to the progression of HF and SCD.⁵ The incidence of SCD increases dramatically with age, in parallel with the age-related increase of CAD. Cardiomyopathies, myocarditis, premature coronary artery disease, congenital coronary artery anomalies and valve abnormalities play a major causative role.⁶ The role of autopsy is to know whether death is attributable to a *cardiac disease* or to other causes of sudden death; the nature of the cardiac disease and whether the mechanism was arrhythmic or mechanical or inherited, requiring family screening and counseling.⁷

Pathologists are responsible for determining the incidence, precise cause and mechanism of sudden death through autopsy, ensuring that in future appropriate preventive strategies are implemented.⁷ In many cases sudden death (SD) is often the first clinical manifestation of an underlying disease in previously asymptomatic, apparently "healthy" subjects. In this setting, autopsy represents "the first and the only" opportunity to establish and register an accurate cause of death.

Material and Methods

Present study was a retrospective cross-sectional study with total 260 autopsies being performed from July 2018 to June 2019, in the Department of Pathology which included both Medicolegal and Clinical autopsies. For autopsy the heart specimens were received in either pieces or as a whole. They were fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin. The cases included deaths predominantly due to sudden cardiac death (SCD), road traffic accidents (RTA), poisoning, drowning.

Detailed clinical history was retrieved from the records. Weight and gross findings like enlarged size, dilation of chambers, areas of infarction, valve abnormalities, atherosclerotic plaques were noted. Thereafter, multiple sections from representative areas were taken for histopathological study. The slides were stained with Hematoxylin and Eosin. Special stains were performed wherever required. All clinical, gross and histopathological findings were analyzed and correlated by Senior Pathologists and results were tabulated.

Results

Present study included 260 cases, out of which 176 (67.6%) were males while 84 (32.4%) were females. 75 (28.8%) of these 260 cases showed cardiovascular lesions. As shown in table 1, the age ranged from 1 to 80 years. 93.3% of all these cases were males while females were 6.7% with a male: female ratio of 14:1. Predominantly affected age group was 41-50 years and the least affected being 71-80 years.

Number of cases • Coronary Artery Disease (CAD) • CAD with Myocardial fraction(Acute old) • CAD with Left Ventricular Hypertrophy • Cardial Infraction With Sickle cdl Disease (SCD) • G CMyocarditis • Viral Myocarditis • Viral Myocarditis • Left Atrial Myxoma • Malignant Mesothelioma

Figure 1: Frequency of Cardiac Lesions (n=75)



Figure 2: Frequency of Coronary Artery Diseases and other cardiac lesions (n=68)

Coronary artery disease with or without other associated lesions was the most frequent finding (90.7%). Other causes included atherosclerosis of aorta, myocardial infarction (MI), myocarditis and cardiomyopathy. Rare findings were left atrial myxoma and malignant mesothelioma (Figure 1). As shown in Figure 2, CAD alone was seen in 41 cases whereas CAD with left ventricular hypertrophy (LVH), CAD with Acute MI and CAD with other ischemic heart diseases (IHD) were seen in 5, 7 and 15 cases respectively.



40-60% block
 60-80% block
 80-100% block
 20-40% block
 Figure 3: Percentage block in coronary vessels in coronary artery disease (n = 68)



Figure 4: Showing microscopic pictures of cardiac lesions: A: coronary artery atherosclerosis (H & E, 100X); B: Myocardial infarction with sickle cell disease (H & E, 100X); C: Acute myocardial infarction (H & E, 400X); D: Old myocardial infarction (H & E, 400X); E: Giant cell myocarditis (H & E, 400X); F: Malignant mesothelioma (H & E, 400X)

Table 1: Age and sex distribution of cases included in the study (n=75)						
Range (years)	Male	Female	Total	Percentage		
1-20	-	-	-	0		
21-30	3	-	3	4		
31-40	20	-	20	26.7		
41-50	23	-	23	30.7		
51-60	15	3	18	24		
61-70	8	1	9	12		
71-80	1	1	2	2.6		
Total	70	5	75	100		

Table 2. Tab	le Showing	A ge and Sev	Distribution	of Cardiac	Lesion

D		Age (years)					Sex		Table
Disease	21-30	31-40	41-50	51-60	61-70	71-80	Male	Female	Iotai
LVH	-	-	-	2	2	1	5	-	5
Acute MI	1	1	4	1	-	-	6	1	7
Old MI	-	-	2	3	10	-	14	1	15
MI with SCD	-	1	-	-	-	-	1	-	1
Giant Cell Myocarditis	1	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	2
Viral Myocarditis	1	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	1
Cardiomyopathy	2		-	-	-	-	2	-	2
LA Myxoma	1	-	-	-	-	-	1	-	1
Malignant Mesothelioma	-	-	-	-	-	1	1	-	1
CAD	4	6	22	5	4	-	39	2	41

LVH: Left ventricular hypertrophy; MI: Myocardial infarction; SCD: Sickle cell disease; LA: Left atrial myxoma; CAD: Coronary artery diease

Out of 68 cases of CAD, single vessel involvement was seen in 23 cases while triple vessel involvement was seen in rest of the cases. 40-60% block was seen in maximum cases (58.8%), whereas 80-100% block was seen in (14.7%) as shown in Figure 3. Acute MI was seen in about 34.8% and old MI was seen in 65.2% cases. Table 2 shows various cardiac lesions seen in different age groups with male and female distribution. Incidence of MI was significantly higher in males in forth decade. Whereas myocarditis both giant cell and viral, were particularly seen in young females.

Discussion

There is an alarming increase in the number of deaths due to coronary artery disease in India and this number is expected to escalate rapidly in the next decade. In the present study it was observed that 93.3% of all these cases were males while females were 6.7% which are more or less similar to most of the studies done in the past. Murthy et al.⁸ studied 150 cases out of which 123 (82%) were males and 27(18%) were females. Singh et al.⁹ studied 200 cases with 170 (85%) males and 30 (15%) females. Padmavati¹⁰ and Tandon¹¹ found 66.5% males and 33.5% females. Similarly Bhargava et al.¹² studied 74.8% males and 24.2% females in their study. The reason being that as males are predominantly earners in family which makes the males more vulnerable to accidents, violence and stress. Also, males more commonly get indulged in smoking, alcoholism and addictions.

Atherosclerotic lesions usually develop early in life starting from age 15 years onwards. In our study the incidence of atherosclerosis (Figure 4a) was found to be 68%. It was 40% in study by Yazdi et al.¹³ and 28.9% in study by Golshahi et al.¹⁴ The degree of atheroma encountered in different age group and in two sexes. The most commonly affected age group was 41-50 years (30.7%) followed by 31-40 years (26.7%) and thereafter there was a gradual decrease both in the severity and frequency of IHD. Earlier studies in India by Wig¹⁵ found significant atheroma in two-third of cases above the age of 20 years while Tandon¹¹ found atherosclerosis in second and third decade. Singh et al.¹⁵ found atherosclerosis atthe age of 17 years.

Coronary artery involvement was seen in 68 (90.7%) cases. Incidence of coronary involvement in Left Anterior Descending artery involvement was seen in 88.2% cases, Right Coronary Artery 75% & Left Circumflex Artery 69.1%. This was in concordance with the data given by Sudha et al.¹⁶ who showed Left Anterior Descending as the most common site for plaque (47%) and Yazdi et al.¹³ who showed Left Anterior Descending as the most commonly involved artery (60%) , followed by Right Coronary Artery (50%) and Left Circumflex Artery (42.5%). Single vessel involvement was seen in 33.8% while triple vessel involvement was seen in 66.1%. Triple vessels involvement was the most common in our study. It was correlated with the study given by Yazdi et al.¹³ whereas Virmani et al.¹⁷ found single vessel disease is greater than others (44%).

MI was seen in 23 cases (30.7%) which included both acute and old MI (Figure 4c and 4d) maximally in the age group of 41-50 years. Death due to MI was seen in a patient with sickle cell disease (Figure 4b). This is exponentially higher as compared to data given by Maru¹⁸ (6.5%). Out of 23, 20 were males while rest 3 were females. Youngest person dying of MI was 26 years

old. Less number of females might be as result of protective effect of estrogen. All MI cases showed significant atherosclerosis in aorta and coronary vessels.

We also reported a case of left atrial myxoma in a 30 years old male who presented with sudden death and left atrium showed 2X 1cm soft gelatinous tumor which showed microscopic features of myxoma. Modi et al. also reported a case of left atrial myxoma with sudden death.¹⁹ We also reported another rare case of 75 years old male who presented with sudden cardiac death and microscopy showed features of malignant pericardial mesothelioma (Figure 4f). Sudden cardiac death due to primary malignant pericardial mesothelioma was reported by Rafael Martínez-Girónet al.²⁰ in a 46 years old male. Other uncommon cardiac autopsy findings were Giant cell myocarditis (Figure 4e) in 23 years old female and viral myocarditis in 21 years old female. Shanmugam et al.²¹ reported a case of SCD due to giant cell myocarditis in a young male.

Hence it is important to screen population from third decade of life irrespective of symptoms for early detection of cardiovascular diseases and prevention of related deaths, thus reducing the prevalence of non- communicable diseases.

Conclusion

The present study showed very high prevalence of sudden death especially because of cardiovascular diseases in this region. The predominant cause being CAD. Though the incidence is more in males as, it is alarming for both males and females. There was a significant number of affected young population. Thus, this study highlights the importance of screening the population from young age itself, irrespective of symptoms for cardiovascular diseases, considering the emerging risk factors and changing lifestyle to reduce related morbidity and mortality.

Ethical clearance: A prior approval was obtained from the Institutional Ethics Committee

Conflict of interest: None to declare

Source of funding: None to declare

References

- 1 Mendis S, Puska P, Norrving B. Global atlas on cardiovascular disease prevention and control. World Heal Organ 2011:2–14.
- K. Park, Parks Textbook of Preventive and Social Medicine, 25th edition, India, Banarsidas Bhanot Publishers. 2019
- 3 Uretsky BF, Sheahan RG. Primary prevention of sudden cardiac death in heart failure: Will the solution be shocking? J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 1997;30:1589–97.
- 4 Bashe WJ, Baba N, Keller MD, et al. Pathology of atherosclerotic heart disease in sudden death. II. The significance of myocardial

infarction. Circulation 1975;52:III63-77.

- 5 Uretsky BF, Thygesen K, Armstrong PW, et al. Acute Coronary Findings at Autopsy in Heart Failure Patients With Sudden Death. Circulation 2000;102:611–6.
- 6 Myerburg RJ, Junttila MJ. Sudden cardiac death caused by coronary heart disease. Circulation 2012;125:1043–52.
- 7 Basso C, Aguilera B, Banner J, et al. Guidelines for autopsy investigation of sudden cardiac death: 2017 update from the Association for European Cardiovascular Pathology. Virchows Arch 2017;471:691–705.
- 8 Murthy MSN, Dutta BN, Ramalingaswami V. Coronary atherosclerosis in North India (Delhi area). J Pathol Bacteriol 1963;85:93–101.
- 9 Singh H, Oberoi SS, Gorea RK, Bal MS. Alerosis in coronaries in malwa region of Punjab. J Indian Acad Forensic Med 2005; 27:971-973.
- 10 Padmavati S, Sandhu I. Incidence of coronary artery disease in Delhi from medico-legal autopsies. Indian J Med Res. 1969; 57:465-475.
- 11. Tandon OP, Aggarwal VC, Katiyar BC. Coronary and aortic atherosclerosis. Indian Heart J 1969; 5:10.
- Bhargava MK, Bhargava SK. Coronary atherosclerosis in North Karnataka. Indian J Pathol Microbiol 1975; 18: 65 77.
- Yazdi SAT, Rezaei A, Azari JB, Hejazi A, Shakeri MT, Shahri MK. Prevalence of Atherosclerotic Plaques in Autopsy Cases with Noncardiac Death. Iranian J Pathol 2009;4(3):101-104.
- 14. Golshahi J, Rojabi P, Golshahi F. Frequency of atherosclerotic lesions in coronary arteries of autopsy specimens in Isfahan forensic medicine center. J Res Med 2005;1(10):16-9.
- 15 Wig KL, Malhotra RP, Chitkara NL, Gupta SP. Prevalence of coronary atherosclerosis in northern india. Br Med J 1962;1:510–3.
- 16 Prathiba D, Sudha L, Sundaram S, et al. Coronary atherosclerosis in sudden cardiac death: An autopsy study. Indian J Pathol Microbiol 2009;52:486.
- 17 Virmani R, Kolodgie FD, Burke AP, Farb A, Schwartz SM. Lessons from sudden coronary death: A comprehensive morphological classification scheme for atherosclerotic lesions. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2000;20:1262–75.
- 18 Maru M. Coronary atherosclerosis and myocardial infarction in autopsied patients in Gondar, Ethiopia. J R Soc Med 1989;82:399–401.
- 19 Kalgi Modi, Prasanna Venkatesh, Sujata Agnani, Tanya Rowland, Pratap Reddy. Sudden Death in a Patient with Left Atrial Myxoma: Report of two cases and review of literature. British Journal of Medical Practitioners 2010;3:318
- 20 Martínez-Girón R, Pantanowitz L, Martínez-Torre S, Joshua Pantanowitz. Sudden cardiac death due to primary malignant pericardial mesothelioma: Brief report and literature review. Respir Med Case Reports 2019;26:185–8.
- 21 Shanmugam J, Kumar PS, Panicker VK, Prathiba Duvooru. Sudden Death Due to Giant Cell Myocarditis: A Case Report. Cardiol Res 2015;6:372–5.

Pattern of asphyxial deaths: A medicolegal study

Bharath Kumar Guntheti

Dept. of Forensic Medicine & Toxicology, Mamata Medical College, Khammam, Telangana, India

Abstract

Violent asphyxia is a commonly reported mode of death. Based on a three years retrospective study, conducted in the Dept. of Forensic Medicine, Mamata Medical College between Jan 2016 and Dec 2018, details about all violent asphyxial cases collected. During the study period 148 (7.74%) cases were reported resulting from violent asphyxia (148/100000 per year) out of 1912 medicolegal autopsies conducted. The data was collected from relatives, hospital records and autopsy reports. Incidence of asphyxial deaths is 7.74% of total autopsies. Most victims were 21–30-year-old males. The most common method amongst them was hanging 77 (52.02%) followed by drowning 28 (18.91%). In majority of the cases, the incident occurred at the residence of the victim during the day. Most cases were encountered during winter especially in November. All cases of hanging were suicidal. Homicidal hanging was not reported for any case. On the other hand, all the cases of smothering, strangulation and throttling were homicidal. Among the cases of drowning, 89.28% were accidental and 10.71% were suicidal. The prime motive behind violent asphyxial deaths was personal problems. Domestic violence plays a great role in suicidal and homicidal cases. The primary objective of the study was to analyse the epidemiological profile, seasonal variation, motive, manner, cause, circumstance, recent trends and patterns of asphyxial deaths as well as the preventive measures.

Keywords

Asphyxial deaths; Pattern; Hanging; Drowning; Strangulation; Smothering; Recent trends; Manner; Motive.

Introduction

Adelson defined asphyxia as the physiological and chemical state in a living organism in which there is an acute lack of oxygen for cell metabolism and is associated with inability to eliminate excess carbon dioxide. There may be many forms of violent asphyxia such as Hanging, Drowning, Strangulation, Suffocation, and Traumatic asphyxia.

Mechanical asphyxia is a broad term in which either sufficient external pressure is applied to the neck, chest or other areas of the body or the body is positioned in such a way that respiration is rendered difficult or impossible. Asphyxial death usually implies mechanical blockage of the air passages. Drowning is a form of asphyxia due to aspiration of fluid into air-passages caused by submersion in water or other fluids. Submersion of the nose and mouth alone for a sufficient period can result in death from drowning.¹ Hanging results from the constriction of the neck as a result of the suspension of the body by ligature. Here, the constricting force is the weight of the body or a part of the body. Hanging is generally attributed to suicide.

Due to population explosion, poverty and increasing stress in daily life, the number of suicides and homicides have increased.

Corresponding Author

Dr Bharath Kumar Guntheti (Professor) Email: bk62743@gmail.com Mobile No: 09908339507

Article History

Received: 9th June, 2020; Revision received on: 14th March, 2021 Accepted: 21st March, 2021 Both males and females endure such stress but males tend to have greater exposure to the external environment and therefore, more cases of suicides are generally reported in males.²

Material and Methods

Data pertaining to a three-year retrospective study, from Jan 2016 Dec 2018, of 326 cases of violent asphyxia autopsied in the Department of the Forensic Medicine & Toxicology, Mamata Medical College, Khammam, Telangana, was collected and analysed to determine the epidemiological profile, seasonal variation, motive, manner, cause, circumstance, recent trends and patterns of asphyxial deaths, as well as, the preventive measures.

Results

During a study period of 3 years from Jan 2016 to Dec 2018, a total of 1912 post-mortem examinations were conducted in the morgue of Mamata General Hospital attached with Medical College, Khammam, of which 148 were asphyxial deaths. Each case was studied following proforma. The incidence of asphyxial death cases was 7.74% out of total number of cases autopsied.

The most commonly affected age group was 21-30 years (N= 62; 49.81%) followed by 31-40 years (N=46;31.08%) and 41-50 years (N=37;25.00%). Males (N=86;58.10%) predominated females (N=62;41.89%) with a male: female ratio of 1.38:1 The study also revealed that 103 victims were married (N=103;69.59%) and 45 victims were unmarried (30.40%).

In this study most of the individuals followed Hindu religion (N=88; 59.45%) followed by Islam (N=29; 19.59%%) and Christianity (N=21;14.18%). 35 deaths (N=86;58.10) were from urban areas which was greater than those reported in rural (N=62;41.89%) areas. Majority of victims 66 (44.59%) had secondary education and 42(28.37%) had not studied primary education. Most of the victims 66 (44.59%) belonged to a low socioeconomic status followed by middle socioeconomic status 48 (32.42%) as depicted in Table 1. Most of the victims were labourers 62 (41.89%) and 29 were farmers (19.59%) as depicted in Table 2.

Regarding seasonal variation, 46 asphyxial deaths (31.08%) were reported in winter, 36 in summer (36.32%) and 29 (19.59%) in monsoon. Majority of asphyxial deaths 90[60.81%] occurred in the house of victim followed by pond / river/well/drain (N= 28;18.91%) and those occurred in outfield were 20 (13.15%) cases as depicted in Table 3.

In the study, 98 deaths (66.91%) were reported during the day while 50(33.78%) occurred during night as depicted in Table 1. Monthly data indicated that 15 cases (23.43%) were in January, 10 cases (15.62%) were in November. June and October had lowest incidence of just 2 cases each.

Regarding monthly variations, 16.18% cases were reported in May followed by 14.86% cases December. Regarding the day of incidence, asphyxial deaths were more prevalent on weekends as depicted in Table 1.

In our study, the distribution of different forms of violent asphyxial deaths is shown in Table 1. Maximum number of violent asphyxial deaths was due to hanging (77cases; 52.02%) followed by drowning (28 cases; 18.21%), suffocation (26 cases; 17.56%), strangulation (17cases; 11.48%). Cases of mugging, garrotting and sexual asphyxia were not reported.

In this study, the motives behind asphysia included family disputes (66 cases; 44.59%), depression in 38 (25.67%), harassment in 20 (13.51%), ill health in 10 (6.75%) and financial problems in 8 (5.40%). In 6 cases motive was not mentioned.

The intention behind asphyxiation in majority was suicide. All cases of hanging were suicidal. Homicidal hanging was not recorded. All cases of smothering, strangulation and throttling were homicidal. Among cases of drowning, 89.28% were accidental and 10.71% were suicidal. In deaths due to hanging, male (52; 43.91%) outnumbered female (25 cases). Ratio of gender in hanging was 2.08:1 and is slightly higher than all other forms of asphyxia deaths.

In hanging, eyes remained open in 67 (45.27%), protrusion of tongue was seen in 56 (37.83%), dribbling of saliva at angle of mouth (33; 22.29%), discharge of semen from glans in 76 (51.35%) and inward displacement fracture of hyoid in 4.65% cases.

Table 1: Incidence of Asphyxial death

Year	Total cases	Asphyxial deaths	%
2016	620	44	7.09
2017	634	46	7.20
2018	658	58	8.81
Total	1912	148	7.70

Table 2: Socio-demographic profile

	Trait	N (%)
	Illiterate	42 (28.37)
Education	Primary	23 (15.54)
	Secondary	66 (44.59)
	Intermediate	10 (6.75)
	Degree	5 (3.37)
	Post Graduate	2 (1.35)
Socioeconomic Status	Low	66 (44.59)
	Middle	48 (32.42)
	High	18 (12.16)
	Labourers	62 (41.89)
	Farmers	29 (19.59)
	House wife	15 (10.13)
Occupation	Student	18 (12.16)
	Employed	8 (5.40)
	Unemployed	10 (6.75)
	Business	6 (4.05)
Habitat wise	Rural	86 (58.10)
Habitat wist	Urban	62 (49.81)
Magital Status	Married	103 (69.59)
Marital Status	Unmarried	45 (30.40)

Table 3: Seasonal Variation of incidents

Type of Asphyxia	Summer	Rainy	Winter	Cases	%
Hanging	20	32	25	77	52.02
Drowning	6	14	8	28	18.91
Smothering	2	4	3	9	6.01
Throttling	2	3	4	9	6.01
Ligature Strangulation	1	2	1	8	5.40
Suffocation	2	3	2	7	4.72
Choking	1	1	1	3	2.02
Traumatic asphyxia	2	2	1	5	3.37
Gagging	0	1	1	2	1.35
Total	36	29	46	148	

Type of Asphyxia	House	Out Field	On a tree	Work place	Pond	River	Well	Drain	n
Hanging	60	10	6	1	-	-	-	-	77
Drowning	-	-	-	0	19	2	5	2	28
Smothering	7	2	-	-	-	-	-	-	9
Throttling	8	1	-	-	-	-	-	-	9
Ligature Strangulation	6	2	-	-	-	-	-	-	8
Suffocation	5	2	-	-	-	-	-	-	7
Choking	2	1	-	-	-	-	-	-	3
Traumatic asphyxia	1	1	-	3	-	-	-	-	5
Gagging	1	1	-	-	-	-	-	-	2
Total	90	20	6	4	19	2	5	2	148

Table 5: Pattern of asphyx	ial deaths distributed by se	x

Type of Asphyxial Death	Male	Female	Total	%
Hanging	52	25	77	52.02
Drowning	12	16	28	18.91
Smothering	4	5	9	6.01
Ligature Strangulation	3	6	9	6.01
Throttling	5	3	8	5.40
Suffocation	3	4	7	4.72
Choking	2	1	3	2.02
Traumatic asphyxia	4	1	5	3.37
Gagging	1	1	2	1.35
Total	86	62	148	

Cause of Death	Suicidal	Accidental	Homicidal	Male	Female	Total	%
Hanging	77	0	0	52	25	77	52.02
Drowning	3	25	0	12	16	28	18.91
Smothering	0	0	9	4	5	9	6.01
Strangulation	0	0	9	3	6	9	6.01
Throttling	0	0	8	5	3	8	5.40
Suffocation	0	0	7	3	4	7	4.72
Choking	0	3	00	2	1	3	2.02
Traumatic Asphyxia	0	5	00	4	1	5	3.37
Gagging	0	0	2	1	1	2	1.35
Total	80 (55.04%)	33 (22.29%)	35 (23.64%)	86	62	148	

	~ /					
Table 6:	Cause of	asphyxial	death	distributed	by	manner

Discussion

The present study shows similarities & dissimilarities with the results of other studies. In the present study, a total of 148 cases of deaths due to asphyxia were analysed at Department of Forensic Medicine, Mamata Medical college, attached with MGH, Khammam, Telangana between period January 2016 to Dec 2018 showed that the incidence of asphyxial deaths was 7.70%. Similar observation made by similar to studies^{2,3}

In study, most victims were young, age group of 21-30 years 62 [49.81%] and 3140 years 46 [31.08%] with male predominance. This could be explained by the fact that the age group of 21-40 years is the most active phase in life. These were consistent with others studies ^{3,4} as depicted in Table 2. In the present study, a significant difference in the incidence of male 86 (58.10%) and female 62 (41.89%) victims could be observed, thus, giving male to female ratio of 4.81:1. Males are often sole bread winners of the family and responsibility of family is on males. When they are unable to fulfil responsibilities of family, suicidal tendency develops in males and hence any small reason can create a suicidal impulse in males. This could reflect a changing scenario in the sex ration of asphyxial deaths. ^{2,3,5,6,7}

Religion wise, majority of the victims followed Hindu belief (88; 59.45%), while followers of Islam were 29 (19.59%) and Christians were 21 cases (14.18%). This variation is due to the religious demography of India. This is supported by other studies.⁸

In the present study, urban population had 86 cases (58.10%) and rural had 62 cases (41.89). The probable reasons for higher incidence among urban people are due to migration, unemployment, urbanization, education of children etc. Similar observation was noted by others ^{7,8} as depicted in Table 2.

In the study we observed that the married victims (103; 69.50%) outnumbered unmarried victims (45; 30.40%). In married personal, male victims were 68 (45.94%) and female victims were 35 (23.64%). Of the 45 unmarried victims, 18 were male and 27 were female. This could be due to married people being the more vulnerable group when compared to unmarried people. Similar results were obtained by others 5.7, 8.9 as depicted in Table 2.

In our study, most of the asphyxial deaths occurred in lower socioeconomic class (66; 44.49%) followed by middle class (48; 32.42%) and upper class (34; 22.97%). Struggle for survival is the cause for this disparity. This is similar to other studies.^{5,9,10}

The study revealed that maximum number of were victims (66; 44.59%) had studied till high school, 42 (28.37%) were illiterates and 10 (6.75%) had completed intermediate level education. This concurs with studies conducted by other Indians.^{9,11,13}

We observed occupation wise, highest number of victims were daily labourers (62; 41.89%), followed by farmers (29; 19.59%) and 18 were students. Among others, 15 were house wife, 10 were unemployed, 8 were employees and 6 had business. This is similar with the other studies.^{7,9-12}

Regarding diurnal variation, maximum deaths occurred during day (98; 66.21%) as compared to night (50; 33.78%). The reason for more incidents reported during day was due to greater work stress, family, social stress. Similar findings were reported in studies conducted by others.^{5,13,14,18} (Table 2)

In our study, maximum number of asphyxial deaths took place at victim's residence (90; 60.81%) followed by outside (20; 13.51%). Total deaths due to drowning (28; 18.91%) were reported in different drowning sources like ponds (19), river (2), well (5) and drain (2). This could reflect that majority of victims chose their residence. These are consistent with other studies ^{5, 12, 13, 18} as depicted in Table 4.

Regarding seasonal variation, in our study highest number of asphyxial deaths (46; 31.08%) were reported in winter, in summer (36; 36.32%) and 29 (19.59%) were in monsoon. This is because people tend to spend more times indoors during winters. Similar observations were made by other studies ^{11, 12, 13} as depicted in Table 3. In this study we observed that monthly, maximum number of deaths were reported in January (16; 23.43%) and 13 were reported in December and 10 were in February, 7 cases (15.62%) were in November. June and October had the lowest incidence with just 2 cases each. These are consistent with other studies.^{12, 13}

In the present study most common mode of death due to asphyxia was hanging (77; 52.02%) followed by drowning in 28 cases (18.91%). Other mode of deaths due to asphyxia were suffocation (26), smothering (9), suffocation (7), traumatic asphyxia (3), choking (2). Ligature strangulation was observed in 9 (7.81%) cases, and manual throttling in 8 cases (3.12%). Similar findings were reported by other studies.⁹⁻¹⁴ Asphyxial deaths were categorized based on inquest reports and pattern of ligature marks. If ligature mark was oblique, non-continuous and high up in the neck, it was reported as hanging. When ligature mark was transverse, circular, continuous and below the thyroid cartilage, it was strangulation. When there was lack of oxygen from obstruction of the air passages at the level of the nose and mouth, it was suffocation (Table 5).

All cases of hanging were suicidal. Possibility of homicide was ruled out. Most victims were 21-30 years old (62; 41.89%). The male: female ratio was 2:08 with which other studies also concur.¹¹⁻¹⁷ Asphyxia death using plastic bag, showed that majority of victims searched for homicidal techniques on internet. This scenario was reported in India also as depicted in Table 6.

Among the 28 cases of drowning, 25 cases (89.28%) were accidental and 3 (10.71%) were suicidal in nature. Most victims were 21 to 30 years old and females predominated males. The male to female ratio was 0:75. Similar observations were made by others.¹¹⁻¹⁷

In our study, 9 cases of smothering were found. Five were female (21, 22 years,28,29 and 50 years respectively) and four were male as seen in another studies.¹³⁻¹⁹ This might be because females being the weaker sex may offer lesser resistance comparatively. In the present study, 7 cases of suffocation were observed. Four were females whereas three were male. We are noted that the 5 cases were of traumatic asphyxia cases, 3 of choking and 2 cases of gagging were found. Sexual asphyxia case was not found in our study. All the cases of throttling (9; 6.08%), smothering (9; 6.08%), strangulation (8; 5.40%), suffocation (7; 4.72%), choking (3; 2.02%) and gagging (2; 1.35%) were homicidal. In fact, strangulation should be assumed to be homicidal unless proven otherwise. All the cases of traumatic asphyxia (5) were found accidental. Other researchers made similar observations.¹⁵⁻¹⁹

Personal reasons were the cause in 41 cases (27.70%) of hanging followed by family problems in 26 (15.86%) and marital conflicts in 10 (06.75%). The main reasons for suicide among males were unemployment, crop failure, marital conflicts, family disputes, love failure and extramarital affairs. Deaths due to asphyxia were less common in females. Mental stress and depression are less common in females as they are more expressive emotionally. Main factors for suicide in females were marital conflicts, dowry, love failure and extramarital affairs. Other researchers made similar observations.¹⁵⁻²¹

In 4 cases of strangulation, the reason remained unknown. 9 victims were smothered for revenge. No victim drowned accidentally. In 8 cases of throttling, the reason for homicide was marital conflicts. It was elicited from the history that personal reasons like failure in the examinations, psychiatric problems, long time illness etc. were the most common reasons for hanging. Other researchers made similar observations.¹⁵⁻²¹ The most common external signs are cyanosis of the skin, lips, and nails in 60 cases, facial congestion in 56 and contusions in 16 cases. The most commonly seen is lung congestion with or without froth (28 cases) followed by tracheal congestion in 59 cases and blood vessels congestion in 42 cases. The mark on the neck was principal sign of hanging and ligature strangulation. Cyanosis (evident as bluish discoloration), petechial haemorrhages, visceral congestion, and dark fluid blood were noticed in all cases. In study, there was no fracture of hyoid bone in hanging. Similar findings were observed by other studies 15-21

Conclusion

This study of 148 cases of death due to asphyxia at the Department of Forensic Medicine, Mamata Medical college, attached with MGH, Khammam, Telangana during period January 2016 to Dec 2018 showed that hanging followed by drowning are the common modes of death by asphyxia. Death due to asphyxia was most common in age group of 21-40 years with male predominance. Death due to asphyxia was common for urban labourers belonging to low socioeconomic and low literacy class. Maximum deaths due to asphyxia were reported at victim's residence and during winter. Manner of death due to asphyxia was suicidal followed by accidental. The study further noted that accidental drowning can be prevented by using protective covering on well, protective fences around lake and using danger signs for deep water in rivers. Homicidal deaths were due to strangulation and throttling. The cause for homicide was marital conflicts which can be prevented by proper marital counselling.

Ethical clearance: A prior approval was obtained from the Institutional Ethics Committee

Conflict of interest: None to declare

Source of funding: None to declare

References

- Reddy KSN, Murty OP. Essentials of forensic medicine and toxicology. 34th ed. New Delhi: Jaypee; 2017:338.
- Kulshrestha P, Sharma RK and Dogra TD: The study of sociological and demographical variables of unnatural deaths among young women within seven years of marriage, J Punjab Acad Forensic Med Toxicol. 2002; 2:7-17.
- Azmak, D. Asphyxial Deaths: A Retrospective Study and Review of the Literature. Am J Forensic Med Pathol 2006; 27(20): 134-144.
- Sharija S, K. Sreekumari, Geetha O. Epidemiological Profile of suicide by hanging in Southern part of Kerala. J Ind Acad Forensic Med 2011;33[3]:237240.
- Chourasia N, Pandey SK, Mishra A. An Epidemiological Study of Violent Asphyxia Death in Varanasi Region [India] a killing tool. J Forensic Res. 2012; 3:174.
- Patel AP, Bhoot RR, Patel DJ, Patel KA. Study of Violent Asphyxial Death. Int J Med Toxicol Forensic Med.2013; 3[2]:48-57.

- Bansude Meacher RV, Dode CR. Trends of Violent Asphyxial Deaths in Southern Marathwada region of Maharashtra. Ind J Forensic Med Pathol. 2014; 7[2]:273-5.
- Mangesh Ghadge, Dinesh R. Samel.D.V. Kulkarni, Rajeshwar Pate. Sociodemographic factors in mechanical asphyxial deaths in Thane region, Maharashtra, India. Int J Res Med Sci.2016; 4[9]:4078-83.
- Sharma BR, Harish D, Sharma S, Singh H. Injuries to Neck Structures in Deaths Due to Constriction of Neck, with a Special Reference to Hanging. J Forensic Leg Med; 2015; 15:298-305.
- Vijaya Kumari N. Suicidal Hanging: a prospective study. J Ind Acad Forensic Med.2011; 33[4]:355-57.
- Rajesh C Dere et al. Violent Asphyxial Death: Annual Retrospective Study.at LTMMC and LTMGH, Sion Hospital Mumbai, Med.legal Update 2015; 15:296-99.
- Majumder BC. Study of Violent asphyxia deaths. J Ind Acad Forensic Med. 2002:24[2]:8-10.
- Bhosle SH, Batra AK, Kuchewar SV. Violent asphyxial Death due to hanging: a prospective study. J Foren Med Sci law.2014;23[1]:1-8.
- Gurdut KS, Kumar AS, Gouda HS. Analysis of fatal cases of mechanical asphyxia at belgam, Karnataka. J Forensic Med Toxicol .2011;28[2]:51-53.
- Prajapati P, Sheikh MI., Brahmbhatt J, Choksi C. A study of violent asphyxial deaths at Surat, Gujarat. Ind J Forensic Med Toxicol 2011; 5(1): 66-70.
- Ambade VN, Godbole HV, Kukde HG. Suicidal and homicidal deaths: a comparative and circumstantial approach. J Forensic Leg Med 2007; 14[5]:25360.
- Tiwari P, Sharma D, Meena SK, Tiwari H. Analysis of suicidal asphyxial deaths in Kota, the coaching city of India. J Ind Acad Forensic Med 2019;41[4]:243-244.
- Mddileti GB, Mohanty SK, Kumar V, Reddy B, Bhuvan V. An Epidemiological Study of Suffocation Deaths in Twin Cities of South India. Ind Acad Forensic Med.2015; 37[3]:232-236.
- Reddy SP, Kumar R, Rudramurthy R. Asphyxial Deaths at District Hospital, Tumkur-A Retrospective Study. Ind Acad Forensic Med. 2012; 34[2]:146-147.
- Dakhanar S, Maled V. Pattern of asphyxial deaths in Kolhapur district of Maharashtra. J Inte Med 2016; 3[2]:1093-1096.
- Musaib M, Shaikh M, Chotalia J, Modi AD, Parmar AP, Kalele SD. A Study of Gross Findings in Cases of Hanging and Ligature Strangulation Ind Acad Forensic Med. 2013;35[1]:63-65.
- Waghmare P B, Chikhalkar BG, Nanandkar S D. Analysis of asphyxial deaths due to hanging. J Ind Acad Forensic Med,2014: 36(4); 343-45.

Brought dead cases at a tertiary care hospital in Ahmedabad with reference to dispensing with the need of medico legal post-mortem examination: Provisions, Protocol & Procedure

Mohammed Ziyauddin G. Saiyed¹, Rohan C. Jani², C. B. Jani³

1 Associate Professor, Department of Forensic Medicine, GCS Medical College, Hospital & Research Centre, Ahmedabad, Gujarat, India 2 Registered Medical Practitioner, Anand, Gujarat, India.

3 Private Medico Legal Consultant, Ahmedabad, Gujarat, India.

Abstract

Brought dead cases are of concern not only clinically with regards to medical certification of cause of death, but also medico legally. Generally, brought dead cases are considered as medico legal, which in fact need not be always. Need has arisen to study the provisions and practice of handling brought dead cases with respect to whether medico legal post-mortem is required for all such cases or not. A retrospective, cross-sectional, observational study was carried out by examining case files, police papers and post-mortem reports of brought declared dead cases (n=62) received at a tertiary care hospital in Ahmedabad with the objective being to observe the epidemiology of brought dead cases and to review the provisions and practice of handling brought dead cases, as well as, medico legal post-mortem examination (Under S. 174 Cr.P.C.) for such cases. Majority cases belonged to more than 50 years of age with a history of previous/current major illness. Hence, ascertaining the cause of death became quite obvious after excluding common unnatural causes. Only 23.72% cases were subjected to autopsy. In some cases police denied permission for performing the autopsy. A protocol to handle brought dead cases is suggested which might require some reforms in relevant law(s) and state resolutions. The centers with high load of autopsies of brought dead cases from natural manner should carry out such a study to decide whether really medico legal autopsy is required in such cases or not and to request the state authorities to amend the provisions accordingly.

Keywords

Brought dead; Medical certificate of cause of death; Medico legal post-mortem

Introduction

Brought dead case is that in which on arrival of the patient to the hospital, no signs of life are detectable on examination by the attending medical practitioner. Brought dead cases are of due concern, not only clinically with regards to medical certification of cause of death (MCCD), but also for medico legal purposes. The prime issues to be addressed in such cases include deciding the cause and manner of death. It is generally observed that brought dead cases are considered as medico legal case (MLC) and police is informed for sending the body for autopsy to ascertain cause and manner of death. The facts concerning the history of past or recent medical illness, its severity, treatment being taken for the same, whether treatment was being provided by the same doctor declaring the patient dead or another are of utmost importance; but unfortunately, are not focused upon while deciding the cause and manner of death. Assessing the role of above mentioned factors is crucial in dealing with such cases and further, suggesting guidelines to the law making bodies for smooth operation in such cases. The

Corresponding Author

Dr. Mohammed Ziyauddin G. Saiyed (Associate Professor) Email: dr_ziya_saiyed@yahoo.com, dr.ziya.saiyed@gmail.com Mobile: +91-9662737129

Article History

Received: 27th June, 2020; Revision received on: 4th March, 2021 Accepted: 13th March, 2021 centers with high load of medico legal autopsies of brought dead cases resulting from a natural manner can reduce their burden after thoroughly assessing such cases and helping in formulating the guidelines by the government and law making agencies. Hence, the authors undertook the present study with the aims and objectives to observe the epidemiological distribution of brought dead cases received at a tertiary care hospital in Ahmedabad, to review the procedure of handling brought dead cases, to review the provision(s) and practice of medico legal post-mortem examination (under S.174 of CrPC.) in brought dead cases.

Materials and Methods

A retrospective, cross-sectional, observational, document based study was carried out in the department of Forensic Medicine and Toxicology at a tertiary care hospital in Ahmedabad, Gujarat after obtaining approval from the Institutional Ethics Committee. The case files, police papers and autopsy reports of total 62 brought dead cases were studied. All the data was entered in Microsoft Office Excel 2007 software and analysis was carried out.

Results

Table 1 shows that majority of the brought dead cases 29 (46.77%) belonged to 51-70 years age group.

J	Indian Acad	Forensic	Med.	2021	Jan-Mar;	43(1)
---	-------------	----------	------	------	----------	-----	---	---

Age group (years)	Male	Female	Total
0-1	3	0	3
1-10	3	2	5
11-20	2	0	2
21-30	2	3	5
31-40	2	2	4
41-50	5	1	6
51-60	12	4	16
61-70	5	8	13
71-80	3	3	6
81-90	0	2	2
Total	37	25	62

Table 1: Age & Sex wise distribution of cases

Table 2: Pr	ocedure followed	for handling	Brought dead cases	(No.	of cases -	percentage)
		/ 1				

Т	otal Broug	ght Dead cases 62 (100%))	
:	MLCno 3 (4.	ot issued 88%)		
MCCD issued	MCCD not issued		MCCD issued	MCCD Not issued
1 (1.69%)		58 (98.31%)	3 (100%)	0
	MCCD	♦ not issued (58)		
Police informed		Police not informed		
56 (96.55%)		2 (3.45%)		
Police Informed (56)			
Autopsy conducted	A	autopsy not conducted	-	
14 (25%)		42 (75%)		
I	-			
Refusal by relatives & known illness - Requisition from police for not conducting autopsy		al by relatives ast history of any known) – Requisition from for not conducting y		
36 (85 71%)	1			

Table 3	 Distribution 	of cases	according to	nast medical	record
Table 5	• Distribution	UI Cases	according to	Dast incurcar	ICCOIU

Cases with history of major past illness					
Present	Absent	Total cases			
42 (67.74%)	20 (32.26%)	62 (100%)			

Cases with history of Major Past illness (42) – All Natural deaths						
History of treatment	(42)	Absent	4 (9.52%)			
taken in past		Present	38 (90.48%)			
Past illness Documents	(42)	No	31 (73.81%)			
availability		Yes	11 (26.19)			
Past treatment taken at	(38)	At present hospital	9 (23.68%)			
		Other than present hospital	29 (76.32%)			
Last visit to the doctor	(38)	Within 1 day	9 (23.68%)			
		Within last 1 week	4 (10.53%)			
		Before more than 1 week	25 (65.79%)			
MCCD issued or not	(42)	Issued	2 (4.76%)			
		Not issued	40 (95.24%)			
MLC issued or not	(42)	Issued	41 (97.62%)			
		Not issued	1 (2.38%)			
Autopsy	(41)	Conducted	6 (14.63%)			
		Not conducted	35 (85.37%)			
		Reason for not conducting autopsy	Police gave requisition for not conducting autopsy due to refusal by relatives & known illness			
Discrepancy between History in inquest and	(6)	No	5 (83.33%)			
Cause of death		Yes	1 (16.67%)			

Table 2 shows that total 62 brought dead cases were studied during the study period out of which 59 (95.16%) cases were issued as Medico legal cases, while in 3 (4.88%) medico legal case was not issued & medical certificate of cause of death (MCCD) was issued. Out of 59 cases which were issued as medico legal cases MCCD was issued in only 1 (1.69%) case, while in rest 58 (98.31%) cases MCCD was not issued by the attending doctor at emergency. Out of 58 cases in which MCCD was not issued police was informed in 56 (96.55%) cases, while police was not informed in 2 (3.45%) cases due to the reasons best known to the emergency medical officer. Out of 56 cases in which police was informed regarding brought dead status of the patient medico legal autopsy was conducted in 14 (25%) cases only, while in 42 (74%) cases medico legal autopsy was not conducted because police requested for handing over the body to the relatives without conducting autopsy in 36 (85.71%) cases out of 42 due to known illness of the patient and refusal by the relatives and in 6 (14.29%) cases out of 42 due to refusal by the relatives even in absence of any significant past medical history or any known illness.

According to Table 3 out of total 62 brought dead cases history of significant past history of major illness was present in 42 (67.74%) cases, while such history was absent in rest 20 (32.26%) cases.

Table 5: Description of cases with absence of any history of past medical illness (20)

Manner	No. of cases	
Natural	12 (60%)	
MCCD issued (Based on sympto of other un-natural events)	2 (16.67%)	
MCCD not issued	10 (83.33%)	
	Autopsy done	2
MCCD not issued (10)	Autopsy not done	8
-Police was informed for Medico legal autopsy	Reason for not conducting autopsy	Police gave requisition for not conducting autopsy due to refusal by relatives
Discrepancy between history in (2)	No	2 (100%)
after autopsy	Yes	0 (0%)
Un natural	8 (40%)	
Road Traffic Accident (RTA)	1 (12.5%)	
Corrosive ingestion	1 (12.5%)	
Hanging	1 (12.5%)	
Drowning	3 (37.5%)	
Fall from height	1 (12.5%)	
Abdominal injury	1(12.5%)	
	Autopsy done	6 (75%)
All un-natural cases (8)	Autopsy not done	2 (25%) (Drowning cases)

Table 4 shows details of the brought dead cases with significant past history of major illness (42) which were all concluded to be natural deaths. Out of these 42 cases, 38 (90.48%) patients had history of treatment taken in past for major illness, while 4 (9.52%) patient did not have any kind of treatment in past. Out of these 42 cases only 11 (26.19%) patients' relatives could bring documents/records of past illness and treatment, while 31 (73.81%) patients did not have any kind of documents. Out of 38 patients who had history of treatment taken in past only 9 (23.68%) patients took treatment in the present hospital, while 29 (76.32%) patients took treatment at any hospital other than present hospital. Out of these 38 cases 9 (23.68%) patients visited the doctor within one day, 4 (10.53%) within last one week & 25 (65.79%) before more than one week of their death, Out of 42 cases with history of major past illness MCCD was issued in only 2 (4.76%) cases and medico legal case was issued in 41 (97.62%) cases. Out of the 41 cases in which

medico legal case was issued in only 6 (14.63%) cases medico legal autopsy was conducted, while in 35 (85.37%) cases police gave requisition to the doctor for not conducting autopsy due to refusal by the relatives of patients and known past illness. Out of the 6 cases in which autopsy was carried out, in only 1 (16.67%) case the discrepancy was found between the history in inquest and cause of death after autopsy conducted at present hospital. In rest of the 5 (83.33%) cases the cause of death after autopsy was in consonance with the history mentioned in the inquest report.



- In all above conditions, entry in "Brought Dead Register" has to be done by CMO. - Where MLC is not issued as per above mentioned criteria in the flow-chart, negative consent for MLC & autopsy to be taken from the nearest kin of the deceased with due signature and name.

Figure 1: Protocol to be followed in case of Brought dead Patient

Table 5 describes the brought dead cases with absence of any significant past history of major illness (20) out of which 12 (60%) cases were of natural death, while 8 (40%) cases were due to un-natural events. Out of these 12 cases of natural death MCCD was issued on the basis of symptoms & exclusion of unnatural causes only in 2 (16.67%) cases, while MCCD was not issued in 10 (83.33%) cases. Out of the 10 cases where MCCD was not issued medico legal autopsy was done in only 2 (20%) cases, while police gave requisition for not conducting autopsy due to refusal by the relatives in 8 (80%) cases. No discrepancy was found between history mentioned in inquest and the cause of death derived after medico legal autopsy in any of the case in which autopsy was performed. The 8 cases which were of unnatural deaths consisted of 3 (37.5%) of drowning and 1 (12.5%) case each of road traffic accident, corrosive ingestion, hanging, fall from height and abdominal injury. Out of these 8 cases of un-natural deaths autopsy was requested by police in 6 (75%) cases, while in 2 (25%) cases of drowning police gave requisition for not conducting autopsy due to refusal by relatives of the deceased. Out of the 6 autopsies carried out, 5 autopsies were conducted at present institute amongst which there was discrepancy between history mentioned in inquest and the cause of death derived after autopsy in only 1 (20%) case. 1 autopsy was carried out at the some other institute on request of police so, information about cause of death in that case is unavailable to the authors.

Discussion

Brought dead cases form a good chunk of total autopsies conducted at any centre. It is generally observed that brought dead cases have a history of some or the other past major illness. It is crucial to assess the expectedness of death in such cases. Almost all brought dead cases are generally considered as medico legal but they may not be. An autopsy based study by Gupta et al¹ shows 10.7% cases of total autopsy conducted was under the category of "Brought dead" and the difference between the cause of death given in police papers and after autopsy was found only in 8 out of 457 cases (1.75 %) v/s 2 out of 14 cases (14.28%) in present study. The reason deduced was the type of study - the earlier study being an exclusively autopsy based study. Gupta et al.¹ raise the question about necessity of conducting post-mortem examination in such cases. In present study, out of total 62 brought dead cases, 59 were issued MLCs, amongst which medico-legal autopsy was carried out in only 14 (23.72%) cases. In rest of the 45 (76.28%) cases, when police personnel in the beginning gave written requisition to hand over the body without medico legal postmortem; we were cautious concerning any such existing provisions. Earlier we believed that the police was exercising its powers under S. 174 of Cr.P.C. "impliedly" provided in the

referred section. But in addition Gujarat Police Manual²; S. 144 contains an "expressed" provision. It goes as: "S. 144 Postmortem examination when necessary, - 1) In any case under investigation, in which a person has met with his death, the Police Station officer or a Police officer not lower than a Sub-Inspector is empowered by S. 174(3), Criminal Procedure Code, to send the body to nearest Civil Surgeon or other qualified medical man for post-mortem examination: - i) if, there is doubt as to the cause of death or ii) in cases where bodies are found in well, tank, lake, river etc. to decide whether the death was homicidal, suicidal or accidental, iii) if, there is no such doubt the Police officer thinks it expedient, to do so e.g. in order to procure expert medical evidence as to:- a) the period of time that might have elapsed since death; b) the personal identity of the deceased; c) whether the deceased is a case of infanticide was born dead or alive, or d) whether the death was due to accident, when a prosecution is intended in case of motor accident. Note: No examination will ordinarily be necessary in cases of motor car or other accidents where no prosecution is intended and there is clear evidence of the cause of death." A more or less similar circular exists for Union Territory of Chandigarh³, where the District Magistrate, Chandigarh issued a memo to the Senior Superintendent of Police (SSP) of Chandigarh and instructed the Station House Officers (SHOs)/Investigating officers to act according to rule 25.36(2) of the Punjab Police Rules, 1934, which categorically states that "the investigating officers are fully competent to dispense with the post-mortem of a body and have it delivered to the heirs of the deceased without post-mortem." A notification from Home department, state of Rajasthan⁴ with reference to deaths in rail and road accidents mentions that police has power to dispense the medico legal post-mortem examination, if investigating officer does not have any doubt regarding cause of death. Moreover, Khandekar in his report⁵ submitted to the Prime Minister of India, Chief Minister -Maharashtra state, Home & Law Minister - Maharashtra state and Union Home Minister in December, 2015 stated that the government should direct the police department that they should not order a post-mortem examination of dead body and collection of organs forcefully without the consent of next of kin till the law is amended in this regard. He also suggested removing the flaws in law, and that the government should take immediate steps to lay down special laws for forensic medical death investigation or to amend the existing laws so that the scientific forensic death investigation system functions effectively. Chaphalkar et al.6 in their study concluded that using structured format for inquiry/investigation into the cause of death i.e. inquest which includes the indication for forwarding the case for post-mortem examination as per section 174 $CrPC^7$ and by reviewing its first three sub-clauses in cases where there is no justifiable reason for post-mortem

examination, it can be possible to reduce the number of unnecessary post-mortem examinations carried out.

In the light of increasing demand for not conducting postmortems in cases of natural deaths, the authors have designed an institutional protocol to deal with such brought dead cases whilst safeguarding legal duty as a registered medical practitioner, which might require the relevant existing laws and state resolutions to be amended accordingly by law making agencies and central / state governments. Suggested protocol is described in Figure 1.

Conclusion

It is concluded that majority of the brought dead cases (59.68%) were more than 50 years of age, amongst which history of major past illness was predominant (67.74%). In majority of such cases expectedness of death was not low. Out of 32.26% cases, where history of major past illness was absent, 60% cases were of natural deaths in which autopsy was not conducted due to written requisition given by the police for dispensing the need of autopsy on refusal by the relatives and known past illnesses. Even in un-natural deaths, 25% cases were not subjected to autopsy due to request given by the police for not conducting autopsy following refusal by the relatives. Till the desired reforms with expressed provisions for handling the brought dead cases are made by the state; an institutional protocol as suggested by the authors in this study can be followed post a critical reviewed and customization without contravening state directives, which can help in decreasing the load resulting from un-necessary autopsies. This protocol requires some reforms to be made by law making agencies and government for laws like S. 174 CrPC, Birth & Death Registration Act and other relevant central and state

government orders/directives/resolutions. The centers with high workload of autopsy are suggested to carry out such a study in compliance with concerned state directives and illuminate further with respect to this debatable issue.

Ethical clearance: A prior approval was obtained from the Institutional Ethics Committee

Conflict of interest: None to declare

Source of funding: None to declare

References

- Gupta BD, Vaghela PC, Singh G, Mehta R. Futility of postmortem examination in 'Brought in dead' cases: A retrospective study. J Punjab Acad Forensic Med Toxicol 2006;6(1):9-10.
- 2. Gujarat Police Mannual, 1975. (Personal communication)
- The District Magistrate, Chandigarh. Memo No. DC/MA/2001/3302 to the Senior Superintendent of Police, U. T. Chandigarh about Handing over body without post-mortem dated 27/02/2001.
- Home department, Government of Rajasthan. GSR 31. No. 19(5) Home – 10 /2004. Jaipur dated September 25, 2004.
- Khandekar IL. Medico-legal Death Investigation: Constitutional Validity of Police Officials Existing Practice of Ordering Postmortem Examination vis a vis 174 Cr.P.C. - A Cause of Concern. A report submitted to Prime Minister of India, Chief Minister – Maharashtra state, Home & Law Minister – Maharashtra state and Union Home Minister on 15th Dec., 2015.
- Chaphalkar KN, Khandekar IL, Tirpude BH. A retrospective analysis of project undertaken to curtail the number of postmortem examinations based on Section 174 Cr.P.C. with respect to burn injuries. J Indian Acad Forensic Med 2020;42(1):13-6.
- 7. The Code of Criminal Procedure, 1973, (Act No. 2 of 1974 dated 25th January, 1974).

Paradoxes of suicide and psychological crisis - An Uttarakhand phenomenon during COVID-19 lockdown

Shinto Devassy¹, Abel K. Samuel Johnson², Chandra Prakash Bhaisora¹, Pooja Hatwal¹

1 Department of Forensic Medicine, Government Medical College, Haldwani, Uttarakhand, India

2 Department of Community Medicine, Believers Church Medical College, Thiruvalla, Kerala, India

Abstract

Indian government had mandated nationwide lockdown with stringent guidelines from March 24^{th} to May 4^{th} 2020. Lockdown created huge impact on everything. It has exacerbated pre-existing mental illness in many, thereby leading to "Quarantine Blues." This retrospective study had been conducted in Department of Forensic Medicine and Toxicology at a tertiary health care centre, Haldwani in Nainital district; Uttarakhand to focus on how the lockdown effect correlated to suicide from March 24^{th} to May 4^{th} 2020 with the same time period of preceding years (2016-2019). There was a decline in the trend of suicides during lockdown (n=1) when compared with concurrent time interval over the previous years. Domestic violence spikes are supposed to bloom the number of suicides, but Uttarakhand phenomenon is a paradox which needs to be further evaluated.

Keywords

Suicide; Lockdown; Covid-19; Pandemic; Deliberate self-harm

Introduction

Suicide has been a leading cause of preventable death. According to the NCRB data of 2018, the number of death due to suicide was 1,34,516 and there was an increase of 3.6% compared to 2017. The national suicide rate in 2018 was 10.2 where the highest was in Andaman and Nicobar Islands with a rate of 41 while in Uttarakhand it was 3.8.¹ The major causes for suicide are family problems followed by illnesses, marriage related issues, drug abuse/addiction, love affairs, bankruptcy, exam failures, unemployment, career issues and property disputes. The most prominent methods of suicide were hanging, poisoning, drowning and fire/self immolation. The total number of suicides in Uttarakhand was 421 which was an increase of 27.2 % compared to that of 2017.¹

Lock down period has given families an opportunity to spend time together. But at the same time WHO predicts that the effect of lockdown may increase domestic violence and its subsequent consequences like suicide. These are two sides of the same coin. In this article, we are attempting to study about the comparison of suicides during the lock down with the corresponding time period of preceding years.

Corresponding Author

Dr Shinto Devassy (Assistant Professor) E-mail: shinto.devassy@gmail.com Mobile: +91-9742383741

Article History

Received: 28th May, 2020; Revision received on: 7th January, 2021 Accepted: 19th February, 2021

Materials and Methods

Uttarakhand is a newly formed state in India. Haldwani is a small city in the Nainital district of the state. The study was conducted in a tertiary care centre in Haldwani catering the entire population of Kumaon region. This is a retrospective data analysis comparing the suicide fatality during the lockdown period starting from March 24 to May 4, 2020 with the same time period of the previous years (2016-2019) that was reported in this teaching hospital. Being the sole hospital in the district with a forensic surgeon, most of the cases of the fatal deliberate self harm are brought to this hospital for autopsy and are reported.

The data was obtained from the records regarding the number of suicides, age, gender and cause of death. The data was entered in MS Excel. The data was presented as numbers, means and proportions. All the cases reported were included in the study and confidentiality of the information collected was strictly maintained.

Results

Following the lockdown, there was a dramatic decline in the number of suicide fatality. There were only eleven deaths due to suicide when compared with nineteen, seventeen, twenty one and nineteen during the same time period of the preceding years. This showed that the effect of lockdown has brought down the number of deaths due to suicide. Males were more affected than females in 2020, 2019, 2018 and 2016, though the difference is very minimal. The mean age of the affected remained almost the same with 34.45 years in 2020. Poisoning was the commonest cause of death followed by hanging in the

studied population as observed during the study period. More than 70% of the affected choose poisoning for the deliberate self harm.

Discussion

Lockdown was announced in India to curb the spread of COVID-19. The first and second phase of the lockdown was from March 24 to May 4, 2020 accompanied with strict rules and regulations. All the non essential shops remained closed and people were not allowed to step outsides their homes because of strict enforcement and fear of contracting the disease. Mental health issues were roiling with the number of corona cases, henceforth government commenced a helpline within few days of lockdown. According to Indian Psychiatry Society there was a hike of 20% in total number of cases related to mental health illness.² The launch of helpline in NIMHANS, Bangalore, has subsequently recorded 16,000 calls within a month.³ It clearly indicates how the lockdown has fortified anxiety, fear and depression in the population. This study was mainly to observe the mortality rate of this specific time period compared with that of earlier years.

Lockdown was a time where life came to a standstill, it was like a pause button in the life of a person. Social distancing had proved to be one of the most effective ways to reduce the spread of Covid-19. Over this period, one was always with the family, desperately thinking of what to have and desires were not over and above. The stress of the outbreak in Haldwani was not as intense compared to urban cities. According to the NCRB data of 2018, the maximum number of suicides in Uttarakhand was due to family problems of about 150 out of 421. The other major causes were marriage related issues (52), love affairs (29), drug abuse/addiction (22), illness (8) and unemployment (7)¹. In our study among fatal suicide cases during this lockdown period, there was a significant decrease in the total number of cases compared to earlier years (Figures 1 and 2). The mean age of the fatal cases as depicted in Figure 1 remain almost same as that of 2019. There was no difference in the sex distribution or mean age or type of self harm when compared with the previous years. The age standardization was not done in the present study as there was no significant difference in the mean age of the subjects in the study.

Preponderance of family problem related cases contributed to more than half of the total cases. This was in ordinance with the importance of the family in Indian culture. Indian parents always want their children rooted to Indian cultural heritage, thereby providing them with ample social and moral support simultaneously enforcing numerous rules and regulations. Parental expectations create undesirable pressure on children which compels them to take their own life in the long run. Similar scenarios are seen in husband wife relationship along with various other confounding factors that constitute family issues. Most of the studies reports the majority of suicide deaths are among married people.^{4,5,6,7}

In a report by National Legal Services Authority the maximum number of domestic violence cases during lockdown period was reported from Uttarakhand.⁸ In our study out of 11 cases, 7 cases were directly linked with family problems which consisted of fight between couples regarding their child's school admission, to newly married couple having fight over substance abuse by husband. Accessibility of any lethal methods have become difficult due to presence of all the family members at home subsequently reducing the number of suicidal cases over this particular time interval.

Probable factors could be the stoppage of alcohol sale and nonavailability of other abusive substances. According to a recent study, in places with no alcohol outlets ban during pandemic time exhibited a jump in consumption with fueling rise in the calls in suicide hotlines and preventive services⁹. Implementation of the liquor ban during the first phase of the lockdown where Kerala witnessed around 7 suicidal cases due to withdrawal symptoms,¹⁰ our study has reported no such cases. The method of suicide was found to be hanging and poisoning by the usage of pesticide meant for agricultural purposes which were easily accessible at home.¹¹ Although the trend in the method of suicide remains almost the same as depicted in Figure 1, the total number of cases has tremendously reduced in both groups. This might be subjected to difficulty in procuring poison due to closure of shops. Concurrently, hanging also became difficult as family members are staying indoors.

In accordance to history; two cases revealed direct relationship with lockdown. The first case was on antidepressant drugs. He was experiencing severe anxiety and stress on unavailability of drugs which led him to suicide. The second case was a migrant laborer from Nepal who after being unemployed and was stranded in the area due to lockdown; committed suicide out of stress. Another case indirectly connected to lockdown was the one struggling with debt.

The decrease in suicide number is supported from another study conducted in the western world where the cases got decreased by 50% compared to that of the previous 7 years.⁹ Historically cases have shown a steep decline during the early stages also known as the honeymoon time period but the amalgamation of multifactorial risk factors could precipitate an influx of cases in the near future.¹² The repercussions of job loss, unemployment, global recession, low demand in consumer market, unexpected loss of near ones in pandemic, stress during the quarantine time period, increased usage of substance abuse after lockdown period, social isolation, decreased access to religious and spiritual support, difficulty in availing health treatment could
trigger an increase of suicide rates in the coming days. In addition, the reforming labour laws in favour of companies and labour exploitation may add up to the scenario.

Mental distress and economic hardship are the well known factors of suicide. As discussed in many articles there may be a storm of cases. But the relationship between suicide and disasters are complex. In some studies, there is an increase in the number of suicides,^{13, 14, 15} some with a decrease in number¹⁶ and other that show no significant changes¹⁷ after the disaster. This research is not sufficient to study the effect of lockdown and has to be investigated in the coming months to reach a conclusion.

Conclusion

The long term effect on mental health over the pattern of Deliberate Self Harm by the pandemic and the lock down effects needs to be further investigated and take necessary steps to reduce the ongoing threat. In this study, the number of completed suicide cases has reduced significantly in this short term but the major causes for suicide like domestic violence and mental health illness have increased significantly as seen by several statistics. While the whole planet is affected by this pandemic, it becomes difficult to take steps regarding how to cope with the mental health of an individual without appropriate planning.

Ethical clearance: A prior approval was obtained from the Institutional Ethics Committee

Conflict of interest: None to declare

Source of funding: None to declare

References

- National crime records bureau. Accidental deaths and suicides in India 2018. New Delhi: Ministry of Home Affairs, Government of India; 2020.
- Lolwal M. 20% increase in patients with mental illness since coronavirus outbreak: Survey. India today. 2020 March 31 (cited 2020 May 17). Available from http:// www.indiatoday.in/india/story/20-per-cent-increase-in-patientswith-mental-illness-since-coronavirus-outbreak-survey-1661584-2020-03-31.
- Helpline providing COVID-19 mental health counselling in 21 states: NIMHANS tells HC. The Hindu. 2020 April 29 (cited 2020 M a y 1 7). A v a i l a b l e f r o m http://www.thehindu.com/news/national/karnataka/helpline-

providing-covid-19-mental-health-counselling-in-21-statesnimhans-tells-hc/article31466837.ece.

- Sharma SD, Gopalakrishna R. Suicide-a retrospective study in a culturally distinct community in India. Int J Soc Psychiatry. 1978; 24: 13-18.
- Shukla G, Verma B, Mishra DN. Suicide in Jhansi City. Indian J Psychiatry. 1990; 32: 44-51.
- Bhatia MS, Aggarwal NK, Aggarwal BBL. Psychosocial profile of suicide ideators, attempters and completers in India. Int J Soc Psychiatry. 2000; 46: 155-163.
- Sharma BR, Sharma V, Harish D, Vij K. Suicides in northern India: causes, methods used and prevention. Med Sci Law. 2003; 43: 221-229.
- 8. Uttarakhand witnesses highest number of domestic violence amid lockdown, Delhi on number 3. Mirror Now Digital. 2020 May 17 (cited 2020 May 18). Available from https://www.timesnownews.com/mirror-now/infocus/article/uttarakhand-witnesses-highest-number-of-domesticviolence-amid-lockdown-delhi-on-number/593038.
- Brown S, Schuman DL. Suicide in the Time of COVID-19: A Perfect Storm. J Rural Health. 2020;10.1111/jrh.12458. doi:10.1111/jrh.12458
- No booze, 8 commit suicide in Kerala. The Tribune. 2020 May 13 (cited 2020 May 18). Available from https://m-tribuneindiacom.cdn.ampproject.org/v/s/mm/tribuneindia.com/news/nation/nobooze-8-commit-suicide-in-kerala-64002.
- Bonvoisin T, Utyasheva L, Knipe D, Gunnell D, Eddleston M. Suicide by pesticide poisoning in India: a review of pesticide regulations and their impact on suicide trends. BMC Public Health. 2020; 20(1):251.
- Joiner Jr TE, Hollar D, Orden KV. On Buckeyes, Gators, Super Bowl Sunday, and the miracle on ice: "pulling together" is associated with lower suicide rates. J Soc Clin Psychol. 2006;25(2):179-195.
- Chou YJ, Huang N, Lee CH, et al. Suicides after the 1999 Taiwan earthquake. Int J Epidemiol. 2003;32(6):1007-1014.
- Tsai JF, Cho W. Re-examination of the seasonality of suicide in Taiwan during 1991-2008: a population-based study. Psychiatry Res. 2011;186(1):147-149.
- Yang CH, Xirasagar S, Chung HC, Huang YT, Lin HC. Suicide trends following the Taiwan earthquake of 1999: empirical evidence and policy implications. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 2005;112(6):442-448.
- Nishio A, Akazawa K, Shibuya F, et al. Influence on the suicide rate two years after a devastating disaster: a report from the 1995 Great Hanshin-Awaji Earthquake. Psychiatry Clin Neurosci. 2009;63(2):247-250.
- 17. Krug EG, Kresnow M, Peddicord JP, et al. Retraction: suicide after natural disasters. N Engl J Med. 1998;338(6):373-378.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Screening for violence risk assessment of juveniles in a reformatory school in a capital city of Central India

Neeharika Mishra¹, Richa Choudhury²

1 Dr Ram Manohar Lohia Institute of Medical Sciences, Lucknow, India. 2 Dept. of Forensic Medicine & Toxicology, Dr Ram Manohar Lohia Institute of Medical Sciences, Lucknow, India.

Abstract

Juveniles of today will become the adults of tomorrow, the face of the world. Hence, it is of utmost importance to make sure that the youth of nation are given a wholesome protected environment to thrive and grow in. It has been recommended that the juvenile delinquents should be given special care and their psychological and risk assessments should be done to prevent recidivism in future. The main purpose of this study is to carry out violence assessment of juvenile delinquents. We also wish to address the juvenile related factors associated with violence risk. All willing inmates who gave their consent for participation were included in our study. Both male and female inmates of the reformatory schools were studied for violence risk assessment screening. We used the violence risk screening questionnaire (V-RISK-10). The assessment of juveniles in the remand home revealed that 100 boys were at low risk for violence, 20 (15.9%) were at moderate risk and 6(4.8%) were at high risk. The individuals with moderate risk for violence will be subjected to more detailed violence risk assessment. Violence can be prevented in many cases by building strategies addressing the underlying cause of violence. Thus, by proper counselling of aggressive individuals we can combat violence.

Keywords

Juveniles; Delinquents; Counselling

Introduction

Juveniles of today will become the adults of tomorrow, the face of the world. Hence, it is of utmost importance to make sure that the youth of nation are given a wholesome protected environment to thrive and grow in. As we are all aware children come under one of the most vulnerable groups of societies which makes them more prone towards risk of many social evils. Hence it should be considered a priority to provide them with a protected environment with adequate love and care for their appropriate growth and development. ¹ According to many studies on adult law offenders, it has been found that they had a history of being a juvenile offender in their teenage years. ^{2,3} It has been recommended that the juvenile delinquents should be given special care and their psychological and risk assessment should be done to prevent recidivism in future. ^{4,5}

Violence means the actions or words intended to hurt people. Physical violence is a serious crime and has multifaceted forms including domestic violence, sexual violence, gang fights, homicide and terrorism. ⁶ Numerous factors like poverty, income and gender inequality, the harmful use of alcohol, and the absence of safe, stable, and nurturing relationships between

Corresponding Author

Dr Richa Choudhury (Associate Professor & Head) Email: drricha_c@hotmail.com Mobile: +919415458333

Article History Received: 16th June, 2020; Accepted: 12th March, 2021 children and parents plays a role in determining the frequency and severity of violence. $^{\ensuremath{^{7.8}}}$

Screening for Violence risk assessment is considered a necessary tool in violence management and prevention in future. ⁹ Violence risk assessment is considered a challenging task especially in juvenile settings. ¹⁰

Violence can be prevented in many cases by developing strategies addressing the underlying cause of violence. Thus, by proper counselling of aggressive individuals we can combat violence. ^{11,12} The main motive of this research is to identify the juveniles who are more likely to indulge in violence and commit crimes in the future. By identifying such persons in advance, we can counsel them effectively in time and prevent crimes. This can in turn reduce the crime rates in our nation. By giving proper counselling we can propel the delinquent youth in the right direction making them good citizens of tomorrow.

The main purpose of this study is to carry out violence assessment of juvenile delinquents. We also wish to address the juvenile related factors associated with violence risk. These results could be utilized by health professionals to initiate appropriate treatment either via psychotherapy or counselling for averting violence episodes and crime prevention in future. Our study is focused on the violence and aggression assessment of juveniles in reformatory school. The main objectives our study were:

- The causative factors behind the unlawful acts of juveniles
- The vulnerable age of juveniles which make them prone towards going against the law

- To assess the current psychological state of the juveniles.
- To study the risk of violence in these juveniles.
- To find out the Factors contributing to violence risk
- To highlight the probable consequences of violence
- To chart the juvenile -related variables used in the risk assessments

Materials and Methods

The study was conducted on the juveniles of government Reformatory schools in the capital city of Lucknow (Rajkiya Bal Sudhar Grah boys and Rajkiya Bal Sudhar Grah, Girls, Barabanki). All the willing inmates who gave their consent for participation were included in our study. Both male and female inmates of the reformatory schools were studied for violence risk assessment screening. We made use of the violence risk screening questionnaire (V-RISK-10). ¹³ Permission was taken from the institutional ethical committee before the commencement of the research work.

Data collection was done in a phased manner. Permission was taken from the concerned authority, i.e. the Juvenile Justice Board Magistrate to meet and interview the juvenile inmates. The juvenile inmates were screened by the violence risk assessment screening tool which comprised of 10 questions. The detailed opinion of officials in charge of remand homes were also taken. The Juvenile inmates were interviewed for the following -

- Any previous or current episode of violence.
- Previous and /or current threats (verbal/physical)
- Previous and/or current substance abuse
- Previous or current major mental illness
- Personality disorder
- Shows lack of insight into illness and/or behaviour
- Expression of suspicion
- Shows lack of empathy
- Unrealistic planning
- Future stress situations

All the collected data was analysed in the form of tables and charts. The inmates were divided into two groups i.e. below 16 years of age and above 16 years of age. The children of juvenile homes were also studied for various factors like family history and background. Simultaneously they were also assessed for the level of education they had received. The type of offence committed i.e. non-heinous crime or a heinous crime was recorded. The number of inmates who were involved in sexual crimes was also noted separately. Presence or absence of drug

abuse was also noted. The type of addiction and age of onset was enquired.

Results

A total of 126 boys and 42 girls were included in the study. The percentage of boys aged <16 years and >16 years was 36.5% and 63.8% respectively, and the percentage of girls aged <16 years and >16 years was 83.3% and 16.7% respectively. The percentage of boys aged <16 years (36.5%) in remand home was significantly higher (p<0.05) than girls aged <16 years (16.7%).

Assessment of the education level of the adolescents shows association of gender with the education level. It is seen that a significantly higher number of males with lower educational status were likely to be booked under the juvenile act than females (p=0.030).

The assessment of juveniles in the remand home revealed that 100 boys were at low risk for violence, 20 (15.9%) were at moderate risk and 6(4.8%) were at high risk. 2((4.8%) girls were found to be at high risk for violence and 5(11.9%) at moderate risk. The individuals with moderate risk for violence will be subjected to more detailed violence risk assessment

Table 1: Division into two groups (126 boys, girls 42)

Age of Juvenile	Boys	Girls
Age <16	46 (36.5%)	7 (16.7%)
Age >16	80 (63.5%)	35 (83.3%)
Total	126	42

Table 2: Educational Qualification of Juveniles

Education level	Boys	Girls	p-value
Illiterate*	16 (12.7%)	0	
Up to Primary*	42 (33.3%)	10 (23.8%)	
Up to High School	57 (45.2%)	25 (59.5%)	0.030*
More than High school	11 (8.7%)	7 (16.7%)	
Total	126	42	

*Merged for statistical calculations

Table 3: Violence risk in Juveniles (as reported by wardens)

Education level	Boys	Girls	p-value
Low	100 (79.5%)	35 (83.3%)	
Moderate	20 (15.9%)	5 (11.9%)	
High	6 (4.8%)	2 (4.8%)	0.821
Total	126	42	

Our study revealed that the major part of the population of juvenile offenders in remand homes belong to the age group of older than sixteen (63.49%). This finding is significant as it may point towards the increasing tendency of older adolescents to commit crimes. The reasons may vary. Increased testosterone levels in this age group may contribute greatly to the tendency to commit violent and sexual crimes. Batrinos in his study linking testosterone and violent behaviour indicates similar trends.¹⁴

73.57% of the female inmates are older than 16. Some of the girls were even eighteen years old and one of them was twentyone. These findings indicate the same trend of increasing rates of crimes in older adolescents. The younger population in general committed relatively minor crimes like theft and fraud.

Surveillance of the family background reveals that most of the inmates belong to lower, upper lower and lower middle socioeconomic background. It may seem to point towards the greater tendency of juveniles from poorer backgrounds to commit crimes. Various researches disprove this notion and find no correlation between income and crimes like theft, assault, burglary and robbery when poverty is adjusted. ¹⁵ The scarce number of inmates from the upper middle class and upper socioeconomic strata might reflect loopholes in the Indian judiciary system. The conviction rate is much lower in the affluent strata of society. This may be due to access to superior lawyers, better knowledge of laws and rights and corruption amongst the police and judiciary set up of India.

One of the inmates of the remand home belonged to the upper middle-class socioeconomic strata. His family was substantially well off and he had been receiving good education in a very prominent school of the area. He had a love affair with one of his classmates. The parents of the girl spurned by this affair accused the boy of rape and got him arrested. The juveniles belonging to more affluent sections have mostly been arrested under the charges of rape. Many of them were in consensual relationships. This is a very typical scenario in the present age where advantage of existing archaic laws is misused for personal revenge. Despite engaging in sexual activities with full consent, the boy was found guilty of rape as the legal age for consent is 18. Perhaps it is indeed time to review and change the legal age of consent. The age of consent varies amongst nations ranging from puberty to after marriage. The ages of attaining puberty in general have been declining indicating earlier onset of puberty.¹⁶ In addition, trends of increasing age of marriage and westernization and liberalization of attitudes towards sexual relationships lead to greater number of teenage relationships. The dynamic, changing attitudes of the society must be contemplated and laws be amended.

The majority of inmates had lower educational qualifications. Out of the 126 boys, 12.67% were found to be illiterate. 23.81% of the individuals have studied only till 5th grade, 45.24% from 6th to 10th grade and the remaining 8.73% have completed 11th or 12th grade. And 1 boy was of madrasa level. The presence of illiteracy in these adolescents despite several educational programs in our country is alarming. Overall a connection between low academic achievement and crime rates was observed. Some studies have found the tendency of less violent behaviour in adolescents with higher educational aspirations. ¹⁷ Hormonal levels may also be contributory, as, studies have linked violent sexual crimes and repeated sexual offences to high levels of testosterone. ¹⁸

The violence displayed in movies, television, videos and videogames may also lead to aggression and violence in the youth. Various studies provide solid evidence suggesting an increase in violence and aggression amongst youngsters due to violence depicted in media. This may be due to the tendency of youngsters to emulate observed behaviour. The research by Anderson et al. emphasizes the link between media and violence. ¹⁹ It suggests that violent behaviour is learnt by various learning processes such as imitation, admiration for the aggressive characters, and desensitization or reduction in the normal negative response to violence. There must be parental supervision of multimedia consumption by children, and awareness about detrimental impact of violent media. Brockmyer in his study found evidence of aggression and violence.²⁰

An extremely disturbing trend observed was the massive number of female juveniles convicted for murder. 45.25% of the girls had committed murder. The reasons for this finding are not properly understood. This must be delved into and analysed by further research.

Some inmates showed recidivism i.e. they were arrested many times for various offences. These individuals must be given special attention and the underlying causes should be assessed.

One of the juveniles was a drug peddler and had been arrested for possession and selling of illegal drugs. Although there was allegedly no substance abuse and drug use in the reformatory homes, the authorities must remain vigilant and prevent the penetration of drug nexus into remand homes and prisons.

An important aspect to be looked into is the mental health of the juveniles. The contribution of family in the mental health of juveniles cannot be overlooked. Ceballo et al. found a positive impact of parental monitoring on the psychological wellbeing of affected youths. ^{21,22} The remand homes must strive to provide a nurturing and fear free environment for growth and wholesome development of the juveniles.

The assessment of juveniles in the remand home revealed that 100 boys were at low risk for violence, 20 (15.9%) were at moderate risk and 6(4.8%) were at high risk. The individuals with moderate risk for violence will be subjected to more

detailed violence risk assessment. The 6 juveniles marked as high risk have greatest possibility of committing violent crimes in future. These juveniles will be given utmost attention. 2(4.8%) girls were found to be at high risk for violence and 5 (11.9%) at moderate risk. The high-risk juveniles have exhibited acts of violence including physical attacks like kicks, punches, blows etc. By providing special care, proper guidance and counselling to these juveniles, we might effectively prevent such crimes in future.

Conclusion

Many juvenile participants in the study had committed violent and sexual crimes. Hence, we suggest appropriate measures should be taken to prevent youth victimization and violence, which includes comprehensive violence prevention plans in all spheres of life, i.e. homes, schools, communities. This will definitively reduce as well as prevent juvenile delinquency as well as recidivism We recommend Juvenile Drug treatment centres should be set up to address these needs and initiate strategic planning. They could help in implementing treatment, tracking as well as family engagement and support. Juvenile mentoring programs should be initiated in the reformatory schools where the mentors should guide the juveniles and provide technical assistance and training in their field of interest. There should be a facility for web based free learning and training. Thus, we can expect that through proper care and counselling, these juveniles including those showing predisposition towards violence could be molded to grow in the right direction and become good and responsible citizens of our nation.

Ethical clearance: A prior approval was obtained from the Institutional Ethics Committee

Conflict of interest: None to declare

Source of funding: None to declare

Acknowledgements- We're extremely thankful to the Superintendents of Reformatory schools for their support and cooperation in this research work

References

- 1. Barnum R. An agenda for quality improvement in forensic mental health consultation. Bulletin of the American Academy of Psychiatry and the Law. 1993; 21: 5–21.
- Bow JN, Quinnell FA. Psychologists' current practices and procedures in child custody evaluations: five years after American Psychological Association guidelines. Prof Psychol. 2001; 32: 261–8.
- Grisso T. Forensic evaluation of juvenile offenders: A manual for practice. Sarasota, FL: Professional Resource Press. 1998.
- 4. Ewig C.P. Juveniles or adults. Forensic assessment of juveniles considered for trial in criminal court. Forensic Rep.1990;3: 3-13.

- Fegan JA. The comparative advantage of juvenile versus criminal court sanctions on the recidivism among adolescent felony offenders. Law and policy. 1996; 18: 77-113.
- 6. Heilbrun K. The role of psychological testing in forensic assessment. Law Hum Behav. 1992; 16: 257–272.
- Keilin WG., & Bloom L. J. Child custody evaluation practices: A survey of experienced professionals. Prof Psychol: Res Pract.1986; 17: 338-346.
- 8. Hart SD, Kropp PR, & Hare, R. D. Psychopathy and conditional release from prison. J Consult Clin Psychol.1988; 56: 227-232.
- Niarhos FJ., & Routh DK. The role of clinical assessment in the juvenile court: Predictors of juvenile dispositions and recidivism. J Clin Child Psychol.1992;21: 151–159.
- Quinn KM. The clinical evaluation for juvenile court. In M. G. Kalogerikas (Ed.), Handbook of psychiatric practice in the juvenile court (pp. 37–46). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association.1992.
- Faust D, Hart K, &Guilmette, TJ. Pediatric malingering: The capacity of children to fake believable deficits on neuropsychological testing. J Consult Clin Psychol.1988; 56: 578-582.
- Keilin WG, & Bloom LJ. Child custody evaluation practices: A survey of experienced professionals. Prof Psychol: Res Pract.1986; 17: 338-346
- 13. Violence Risk Screening Tool(V-Risk-10); http://www.forensicpsychiatry.no/violence_risk/index.html
- Batrinos ML. Testosterone and aggressive behaviour in man. Int J Endocrinol Metab. 2012 Summer;10(3):563-8. doi: 10.5812/ijem.3661. Epub 2012 Jun 30.
- Pare PP, Felson R. Income inequality, poverty and crime across nations. Br J Sociol. 2014;65(3):434-58. doi: 10.1111/1468-4446.12083.
- Walvoord EC (2010) The timing of puberty: is it changing? Does it matter? J Adolesc Health 47: 433–439
- Basch CE. Aggression and violence and the achievement gap among urban minority youth. J Sch Health. 2011;81(10):619-25. doi: 10.1111/j.1746-1561.2011.00636.
- Studer LH, Aylwin AS, Reddon JR. Testosterone, sexual offense recidivism, and treatment effect among adult male sex offenders. Sex Abuse. 2005;17(2):171-81.
- Anderson CA, Berkowitz L, Donnerstein E, Huesmann LR, Johnson JD, Linz D, Malamuth NM, Wartella E. The Influence of Media Violence on Youth. Psychol Sci Public Interest. 2003;4(3):81-110. doi: 10.1111/j.1529-1006.2003.pspi_1433.x. Epub 2003 Dec 1.
- Brockmyer JF. Playing violent video games and desensitization to violence. Child Adolesc Psychiatr Clin N Am. 2015;24(1):65-77. doi: 10.1016/j.chc.2014.08.001.
- Gorman-Smith D, Henry DB, Tolan PH. Exposure to Community Violence and Violence Perpetration: The Protective Effects of Family Functioning. J Clin Child Adolesc Psychol. 2004;33(3):439–449.
- 22. Ceballo R, Ramirez C, Hearn KD, Maltese KL. Community violence and children's psychological well-being: Does parental monitoring matter? J Clin Child Adolesc Psychol. 2003;32(4):586-592

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Smartphone dependence: A socio-physiological nightmare

Arsalaan F. Rashid¹, Akashdeep Aggarwal², Farida Noor¹, Masarat Jehan³ /

Department of Forensic Medicine & Toxicology Government Medical College Srinagar;

2 Department of Forensic Medicine & Toxicology Government Medical College Patiala;

3 Department of Anatomy Government Medical College Srinagar.

Abstract

Smartphone has become a common platform for communication, education, entertainment, infotainment. Not only has such diverse usage made it an indispensable item of daily usage but its infiltration into our personal lives in form of social media platforms like Facebook, WhatsApp etc have put a lot of strain on our social interactions. A combination of multipurpose usage and socialization has made smartphone and its dependence producing habit a subject of intense studies in recent past. Present study is exceptional and productive because it utilizes the environment of sudden depravation of smartphone usage and applies the withdrawal produced by it in understanding the basic human socio-physiological response. This study is also unique by the fact that predominant population used in the study, had a professional medical background and were more accurate in providing data especially related to physiological aspect of study.

Keywords

Smartphone; Social media; Multipurpose usage; Dependence; Socialization; Physiological.

Introduction

A prospective study involving use of smartphones by general population was carried out between October 2019 to December2019 in Govt. Medical College Srinagar. The Govt. Medical College Srinagar and its Associated Hospitals serve as main centers of tertiary care, in and around, the major urban center of Srinagar. The study is a representative of avoidable disease burden put on an individual due to reckless abuse of modern technology.

Smartphone term was introduced in the market, referring a new class of mobile phones that provides integrated services from communication, computing and mobile sectors. ¹ Later on Smartphone evolved to include capabilities to display photos, play games, play videos, navigation, built-in camera, audio/video playback and recording, send/receive e-mail, television, built in apps for social web sites and surf the Web, wireless Internet and much more. This ability of Smartphone to provide such diverse range of products on a single platform is the main reason for its dependence inducing behavior in sharp contrast to helping the business community for whom it was actually introduced.²

People are likely spend more of their quality time on social media, doing online business, academic search, playing games, watching films, random searching for answers on the net etc.

Corresponding Author

Dr Arsalaan F. Rashid (Assistant Professor) Email: afrashid@gmail.com Mobile: 9797313757

Article History

Received: 3rd May, 2020; Revision received on: 8th February, 2021 Accepted: 28th February, 2021 This "necessity" for smartphone use is exemplified by fact that in developed country like America almost 95 percent of population own cell phones and 77 percent own smartphones. Around the world, smartphones were used by 1.85 billion people in 2014 which is expected to be 2.32 billion in 2017 and 2.87 billion in 2020.³

A unique aspect of this study is to highlight socio-physiological effects of smartphone dependence which was made scientifically more reliable and accurate by a sudden blanket internet ban on the newly formed union territory. Outcomes during this stage were systematically recorded and results obtained were outstanding.

Material and Methods

This is a prospective study involving 448 individuals with access to smartphones conducted by direct interview by means of a questionnaire. The study was conducted in an urban medical institution in northern Indian union territory of Jammu & Kashmir between October 2019 and January 2020. A total number of 448 cases were analyzed, out of which as per exclusion criteria 16 cases were rejected as the information provided was incomplete; and could not be reasonably justified. A unique feature of the study was to interview the individuals in reassuring manner where they were given a chance to share any additional information not given in questionnaire which could be of use to study. Another important aspect of study was to educate the individuals about some of the medical terms used in the study before questioning them. The physiological results from the study were made more reliable by the fact that most of the individuals in the study had a professional medical background.

Results

Demographic data collected in the study shows that majority of study sample comprises of young adults with almost equal male to female ratio and having slightly more rural component (Table 1).

Table 1: Socio-demographic charac	teristics of study sample (N= 432)
-----------------------------------	------------------------------------

Age group	Ν	%
15-20	228	52.78
21-25	171	39.58
26-30	9	2.08
31-40	8	1.86
41-50	4	0.92
51-60	8	1.86
61-70	3	0.69
71-80	1	0.23

Table 2: Smartphone and its primary usage in study group (N= 432)

Smartphone usage	Ν	%
Communication	399	92.36
Social Media	294	68.06
Education	363	84.03
Entertainment	346	80.09

Primary usage of smartphones in study population is Communication 399 cases [92.36%]; Education 363 cases [84.03%]; Entertainment 346 cases [80.09%] and Social media 294 cases [68.06%] with overlap of 69.19% that is multiple usage of smartphones in two or more of above faculties (Table 2).As far as timed usage of smartphone was concerned 94 cases [21.76%] used smartphones for 3 - 4hours: 72 cases 4-5 hours [16.67%] whereas in 29 cases 6.71%] smartphone usage was in range of 10 hours or above. In rest usage ranged from less than 30 minutes to 10 hours (Table 3). Analysis in to time spent with relatives revealed that 1hour-2hours in 129 cases [29.86%]; less than 30 minutes in 88 cases [20.38%]; 2hours - 3hours in in 83 cases [19.21%]. In rest time spent ranged from 3 hours to above 10 hours (Table 3). When asked about non digital media usage in most cases fell in less than 30 min range 102 cases [23.61%]; 1hr-2hr 83 cases [19.21%]; 2hrs -3hrs 83 cases [19.21%]. In rest of the cases usage was between 4hrs to more than 10 hrs (Table 3). At the time of internet ban when asked about any non social interaction 304 cases [70.37%] read books or newspapers; 267 cases [61.81%] played (Table 3). Digital games or physical games like cricket etc; 177 cases [40.97%] devoted more time to television/cable; 170 cases [39.35%] preferred to spend more time in gym. There was overlap of 486 cases [47.06%] were more than one means of recreation was preferred (Table 4). During the same time when asked social interactions 348 cases [80.56%] spent more time with their mother, father or siblings; 299 cases [69.21%] increased frequency of visits to their close relatives; 162 cases [37.50%] found more time for picnics or outings with family and friends and 120 cases [27.78%] were interested in other activities like gardening etc. (Table 5). Sudden and blanket withdrawal of internet from entire population did produce withdrawal symptoms like decreased sleep 51 cases [11.81%]; decreased

Table 3:	Smartphone	and its	timed	usage	(N = 43)	2)
----------	------------	---------	-------	-------	----------	----

Hours spent on smartphone			Hours spent with relatives			Hours spent on non-digital media			
Range	N	%	Range N %		Range	N	%		
<30 min	7	1.62	<30 min	88	20.38	<30 min	102	23.61	
30min- < 1hour	6	1.39	30min- < 1hour	54	12.50	30min-<1hour	22	5.09	
1hour - < 2hours	25	5.79	1hour - < 2hours	129	29.86	1hour - < 2hours	83	19.21	
2hours - < 3hours	57	13.19	2hours - < 3hours 83		19.21	2hours - < 3hours	83	19.21	
3hours - <4hours	94	21.76	3hours - <4hours	40	9.26	3hours - <4hours	51	11.81	
4hours - < 5hours	72	16.67	4hours - < 5hours	14	3.25	4hours - < 5hours	45	10.42	
5hours - < 6hours	59	13.66	5hours - < 6hours	8	1.85	5hours - < 6hours	17	3.94	
6hours - < 7hours	45	10.42	6hours - < 7hours	3	0.69	6hours - < 7hours	24	5.56	
7hours - < 8hours	16	3.70	7hours - < 8hours	2	0.46	7hours - < 8hours	1	0.23	
8hours - < 9hours	18	4.17	8hours - < 9hours	2	0.46	8hours - < 9hours	1	0.23	
9hours - < 10hours	4	0.92	9hours - < 10hours	2	0.46	9hours - < 10hours	1	0.23	
10hours & more	29	6.71	10hours & more	7	1.62	10hours & more	2	0.46	

appetite 54 cases [12.50%]; restlessness 120 cases [27.78%]; increased anxiety 136 cases [31.48%] (Table 6). These results are to be considered more reliable in comparison to similar other studies as the study population had major component of individuals having sound medical background and could therefore understand the medical meaning of questions that they were answering. When enquired about their personal experience vis a vis "smartphone withdrawal" 146 cases [33.80%] had worst experience viz communication, education, entertainment component; 252 cases [58.33%] had better experience viz increased social interaction and increased use of non-digital media; 23 cases [5.32%] had both worse and better experiences and 11 cases [2.55%] found no effect of "smartphone withdrawal" on their lives (Table 7).

Table 4: Alternatives to smartphone usage	- Non social	interactions	(N=432)
---	--------------	--------------	---------

Alternatives to smartphone usage	Ν	%
Books/ Newspapers	304	70.37
Games-Video/ Physical	267	61.81
Television/ Cable	177	40.97
Gym/ Exercise	170	39.35

Table 5: Alternatives to Smartphone usage - Social Interactions (N= 432)

Alternatives to smartphone usage	Ν	%
Time spent with mother/father/siblings	348	80.56
Time spent with close friends/ relatives	299	69.21
Picnics/ Outings	162	37.50
Miscellaneous	120	27.78

Tabla 6.	Withdrawal	symptome	arising d	hue to	suddan	stonnage	ofemart	nhone use	M-	- 132
Table 0:	winnawai	symptoms	ansing c	iue to	sudden	stoppage	or smart	phone use	; (IN-	432

Withdrawal symptoms	Ν	%
Decreased sleep	51	11.81
Decreased appetite	54	12.50
Restlessness	120	27.78
Increased anxiety	136	31.48

Fable	7:	Withdrawal	effetcts	due to	sudden	stoppage	of smar	rtphone	use-	persona	1
				exner	rience ()	N = 432)					

Effects	N	%
Drastic withdrawal	146	33.80
Improved quality of life	252	58.33
Both good and bad effects	23	5.32
No effect	11	2.55

Discussion

Mobile phone use has both advantages as well as disadvantages. while they make our lives comfortable but they also tie us down psychologically. Mobile dependence not only has physical effects but also psychological and social effect at the same time. Sleep deficit, anxiety, stress, and depression which are all associated with internet abuse, have been related to mobile phone usage too. De-Sola Gutiérrez et al., 2016 found association between physiological effects like anxiety, stress; depression and smartphone usag.⁴ Alavi et al., 2012 were of view that all entities which can stimulate a person can be an addiction and whenever a habit is converted into an obligation, it becomes an addiction. 5 Thomée et al., 2011 and Rosen et al., 2013 are of view that excessive use of smartphone paired with negative attitude and feeling of anxiety and dependency on gadgets may increase the risk of anxiety and depression. 6,7 Jones (2014) conducted a survey about Elon Students' behavior along with an online survey and found that students seemed to be addicted to their mobile phones.⁸ Reinecke et al. (2017) investigated psychological health effects and stimulator of digital stress. He surveyed 1,557 German internet users aged 14 to 85 and reported that communication load was positively related to perceived stress and had an indirect impact on depression and anxiety. ⁹ Boumosleh & Jaalouk (2017) investigated whether anxiety and depression independently contributed to smartphone addiction. Their sample was 668 random Lebanese undergraduate students. Their cross-sectional study proposed that depression and anxiety were also a positive predictor of smartphone addiction. ¹⁰ Negi and Godiyal (2016) observed HNBUG-SRT college students while walking around the campus, along with a questionnaire and found 64 % of students used mobile phones in the campus. A randomized sample of 100 students was collected. The survey showed that there were negative psychological effects of smartphone usage on the young generation. They felt depressed and anxious while using cell phones.¹¹ An online study conducted by Parasuraman et al., in 2017 on Malaysian 409 respondents stated that heavy mobile phone usage may lead to physiological and psychological complications when a study was conducted on.¹² Cha and Seo (2018) aimed to examine the predictive factors of smartphone addiction in middle school students in South Korea. ¹³ Another study by Augner and Hacker (2012) examined an association between over usage or dysfunctional usage of cell phones and psychological health. They indicated that low emotional stability, chronic stress, and depression have a correlation with phone usage.¹⁴

Addiction to Smartphone is major impact on social life. Surveys show that Smartphone addiction is interfering with our night's sleep. According to the survey, 33% of mobile workers admitted that they check their phones for email and message throughout the night. Nearly 50% of those surveyed said, they wouldn't even think of going to bed without have their Smartphone's tucked under their pillows. This addiction to Smartphone is impacting the social and family life and creating frictions in our lives. ¹⁵ According to another research the organizations expect their employees to respond to the emails immediately even after working hours, due to that employee feel compelled to respond to official emails. Many Smartphone users engage in continuous monitoring of their work related emails, which creates compulsive routines of chronic checking and in the long run it is responsible for increased stress. There are evidences that Smartphone usage is responsible to blur the distinctions between the work and family life. ¹⁶

Cyber bullying is another major issue of smartphone abuse finds targets among emotionally vulnerable population that cannot share their ordeal with others and as such face significant unshared stress that can ruin their lives.

Conclusion

Smartphone usage among young adults is clearly showing a pattern where this extremely beneficial technology might lead to certain amount of psychological and physiological dependence. This combined with "technological socialization" has weakened our family bonds and have made us forget our social obligations. The olden days book readings skills; family picinics ; and other means of personality development traits have all come to occupy back stage of present day life. Fast tracked life; quick profits; increased desire to succeed in shortest possible time have all contributed to loss of quality family life. An interesting outcome of this study was to find people searching for old world entertainment; infotainment; socialization skills and not only reconciling with them but often enjoying freedom from modern technology. A worrying outcome of this study was that all features of smartphone dependence were found in certain groupings and it is this form of dependence that finally leads to technology addiction which is akin to other addictions and often has long standing negative socio-physiological outcomes. What better answer could I have got from this study than that from one of the volunteers that she "learnt to re-establish her bond with her parents that had long been lost because she never had time to talk to them and in spite of living in the same house most of their communications happened to be on facebook or whatsapp posts".

Ethical clearance: A prior approval was obtained from the Institutional Ethics Committee

Conflict of interest: None to declare

Source of funding: None to declare

References

- Pei Zheng, Lionel M. Smart Phone and Next Generation Mobile Computing. Available from:http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/book/9780120885602. [Last Accessed on 28th November 2020].
- 2. Definition of Smartphone . Available at http://www.techterms.com. [Last Accessed on 28th November 2020].
- Cha S-S, Seo B-K. Smartphone use and smartphone addiction in middle school students in Korea: prevalence, social networking service, and game use. Health Psychology Open 2018;2018:1-5.
- 4. De-Sola Gutiérrez J, Rodríguez de Fonseca F, Rubio G. Cell-phone addiction: a review. Front Psychiatry 2016;7:175.
- Alavi SS, Ferdosi M, Jannatifard F, Eslami M, AlaghemandanH, Setare M. Behavioral addiction versus substance addiction: correspondence of psychiatric and psychological views. Int J Prev Med 2012;3:290-4.
- Thomée S, Härenstam A, Hagberg M. Mobile phone use and stress, sleep disturbance, and symptoms of depression among young adults-A prospective and cohort study. BMC Public Health 2011;11:66.
- Rosen LD, Whaling K, Carrier LM, Cheever NA, Rokkum J. The media and technology usage and attitudes scale: an empirical investigation. Comput Human Behav 2013;29:2501-11.
- Jones T. Students' cell phone addiction and their opinions. Elon J Undergrad Res Commun 2014;5(1):74-80.
- Reinecke L, Aufenanger S, Beutel ME, Dreier M, Quiring O, Stark B, et al. Digital stress over the life span: the effects of communication load and internet multitasking on perceived stress and psychological health impairments in a German probability sample.Media Psychol 2017;20:90-115.
- Boumosleh JM, Jaalouk D. Depression, anxiety, and smartphone addiction in university students- a crosssectional study. PLoS One 2017;12(8):e0182239.
- 11. Negi KS, Godiyal S. College students' opinion about cell phone usage. Int Educ Sci Res J 2016;2(10):35-8.
- Parasuraman S, Sam AT, Yee SW, Chuon BL, Ren LY.Smartphone usage and increased risk of mobile phone addiction: A concurrent study. Int J Pharma Investig 2017;7:125-31.
- Cha S-S, Seo B-K. Smartphone use and smartphone addiction in middle school students in Korea: prevalence, social networking service, and game use. Health Psychology Open 2018;2018:1-5.
- Augner C, Hacker GW. Associations between problematic mobile phone use and psychological parameters in young adults. Int J Public Health 2012;57:437-41.
- Douglas Idugboe, 2011. 1 in 3 Are Addicted to Smartphones. Available from: http://smedio.com/2011/06/03/1-in-3-are-addictedto-smartphones [Last Accessed on 28th November 2020].
- 16. Daantje Derks, Lieke L. ten Brummelhuis, Dino Zecic, and Arnold B. Bakker, 2012. Switching on and of : Does smartphone use obstruct the possibility to engage in recovery activities?. European Journal of Work and Organization Psychology. Available from http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/1359432X.2012.7110 13 [Last Accessed on 28th November 2020].

REVIEW ARTICLE

Waive off or conduct medicolegal autopsy in suspected, probable or confirmed COVID-19 patients - A dilemma for Forensic Pathologists in an Indian scenario

Gautam Kumar,¹Kaushal Kishore,²Avinash Kumar,³Amit Patil,³Sanjeev Kumar,⁴Madhuri Kumari,⁵Anand Kumar,⁶Ratnesh Kumar⁷

1 Department of Forensic Medicine & Toxicology, Dumka Medical College, Dumka, India

2 Department of Forensic Medicine & Toxicology, Manipal Tata Medical College, Jamshedpur, India

3 Department of Forensic Medicine & Toxicology, All India Institute of Medical Sciences, Patna, Bihar.

7 Department of Community Medicine, Dumka Medical College, Dumka, India

Abstract

COVID -19, declared by WHO as a pandemic disease,1 is derived from SARS -corona virus-2 which originated from Wuhan, China in the late 2019, is still peaking across the world and in India. It has been predicted that the disease is here to stay till 2021 or beyond. The Mode of transmission, as it is understood is person to person transmission through droplets, skin contacts.2The clinical presentation includes fever, fatigue, dry cough, myalgia, dyspnea, sore throat, rhinorrhea, gastrointestinal symptoms etc.3,4 Containment and prevention remains the best option. Globally, about 3.4% of reported COVID-19 cases have died.5 Cause of Death is mostly due to respiratory failure, septic shock, and multi organ failure etc.6 Autopsy guidelines have been released by various committees, however to practice those in Indian scenario may not be as easy. The article thus, may be considered as a summary and interpretation of the standard guidelines taking into consideration of Indian scenario. Clinical history, and Histopathological correlation aspects will be discussed.

Keywords

COVID -19;Pandemic; Autopsy; Transportation;Embalming; Disposal

Introduction

Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) is an infectious disease caused by a newly discovered coronavirus.⁷ The virus responsible for the disease is severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) classified and nomenclature by International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses (ICTV) on 11 February 2020. WHO announced "COVID-19" as the name of this new disease on 11 February 2020, following guidelines previously developed with the World Organisation for Animal Health (OIE) and the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO).WHO has begun referring to the virus as "the virus responsible for COVID-19" or "the COVID-19 virus" when communicating with the public. Neither of these designations are intended as replacements for the official name of the virus as agreed by the ICTV.⁸ The name coronavirus refers to the fringe of surface projections, surrounding the virus, resembling the solar corona. Corona viruses (CoVs) have single - stranded RNA genome covered by an enveloped structure .9 The group originally contained veterinary pathogens such as avian infectious bronchitis virus, and transmissible gastro enteritis-virus of swine.

Corresponding Author

Dr. AvinashKumar (Assistant Professor) Email:staravinash008@gmail.com Mobile: +91-9570073048

Article History

Received: 2nd June, 2020; Revision received on: 6th March, 2021 Accepted: 12th March, 2021 Human coronaviruses were first isolated from cases of common cold by inoculating organ culture of human embryonic trachea with nasopharyngeal washings.⁹

Seven different types of strains of human CoVs have been identified, which includes:¹⁰HCoV-229 E,HCoV-NL63,HCoV-OC43, HCoV-HKU1, Middle East Respiratory syndrome (MERS)-CoV,Severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS)-CoV, Severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS)-CoV 2 (COVID 19 virus).

21st century witnessed 3 major epidemics from the 3 strains of coronavirus. In 2003, severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus (SARS-CoV) originated at Guangdong, China.¹¹ In 2012, Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus (MERS-CoV) caused epidemic in Saudi Arabia.¹²The most recent pandemic started in the late 2019 i.e. novel coronavirus (COVID 19), which originated from Wuhan province of China and has now spread worldwide.¹³

The primary mode of transmission as understood from the recent studies is droplet transmission via cough, sneezes or by touching a surface or object that has the virus on it and then touching their own mouth, nose, or possibly their eyes. Virus have been also found on faeces, though faeco oral route of transmission has not been established.¹⁴

COVID 19 has a high infectivity and the incubation period is approximately 14 days and has been observed to last up to 24 days or more in few cases.^{15 16} Clinical presentation includes Fever, Fatigue, Dry cough, Myalgias, Dyspnea, Headache, Sore throat, Rhinorrhea and Gastrointestinal symptoms etc.

⁴ Department of Pathology, Dumka Medical College, Dumka, India

⁵ Dentist, Sadar Hospital, Arwal, India

⁶ Department of Biochemistry, Dumka Medical College, Dumka, India

Pneumonia appears to be the most common and severe manifestation of infection.¹⁷

On the day of writing this review article the disease burden is 3595662 cases worldwide and took 247652 lives in 215 counties¹⁸ and in India total infected cases are 49390 among them 33514 active cases with 1694 deaths.¹⁹There is no specific antiviral treatment recommended for COVID-19, and no vaccine is currently available at time of writing this article. The therapeutic strategies which are in practice at the moment are only supportive and prevention aimed at reducing transmission by containment and prevention in the community remains the best option.²⁰

Medicolegal autopsy, if warranted shall be based on the national regulations, guidelines and should be backed up by scientific approach. In Indian setting where the mortuary lacks basic facilities, it is a herculean task in dealing with suspected, probable or confirmed COVID 19 patients. The guidelines have been issued by The Royal College of Pathologists, World health Organization, and from India through Ministry of Health & Family Welfare, Directorate general of Health services which provide recommendations for biosafety and infection control practices during specimen collection and handling, as well as autopsy procedures.

Thus, this article aims to summaries these guidelines based on our current understanding of COVID-19 in early March 2020 and may change as more information becomes available.

It is expected from a forensic pathologist/ institution to be timely updated with knowledge of COVID-19 and the recommended practices and principles should be followed to avoid infection.

Approach to management of dead body in Medicolegal Autopsy in COVID 19 pandemic

Approach of a Forensic Pathologist can be classified under:

- A. Case and contact definition
- B. Identification and characterization of pathogens
- C. Requirements/Resources
- D. Role of Forensic Pathologist

A. Case and contact definitions²¹

a) Suspect case

A patient with acute respiratory illness (fever and at least one sign/symptom of respiratory disease, e.g., cough, shortness of breath), AND a history of travel to or residence in a location reporting community transmission of COVID-19 disease during the 14 days prior to symptom onset.

OR

A patient with any acute respiratory illness AND having been in contact with a confirmed or probable COVID-19 case in the last 14 days prior to symptom onset;

OR

A patient with severe acute respiratory illness (fever and at least one sign/symptom of respiratory disease, e.g., cough, shortness of breath; AND requiring hospitalization) AND in the absence of an alternative diagnosis that fully explains the clinical presentation.

b) Probable case

A suspect case for whom testing for the COVID-19 virus is inconclusive.

OR

A suspect case for whom testing could not be performed for any reason.

c) Confirmed case

A person with laboratory confirmation of COVID-19 infection, irrespective of clinical signs and symptoms.

d) Contact

A contact is a person who experienced any one of the following exposures during the 2 days before and the 14 days after the onset of symptoms of a probable or confirmed case:

- a) Face-to-face contact with a probable or confirmed case within 1 meter and for more than 15 minutes;
- b) Direct physical contact with a probable or confirmed case;
- c) Direct care for a patient with probable or confirmed COVID-19 disease without using proper personal protective equipment; OR
- d) Other situations as indicated by local risk assessments

Identification and characterization of pathogens

Advisory Committee on Dangerous Pathogens (ACDP) of UK have categorized the pathogen according to the risk to the human. SARS-CoV2 has been categorized as Hazard group 3 pathogen (HG-3) i.e., these may lead to severe human disease and can be a significant risk to employees. It can spread to other humans. Prophylaxis and/or treatment are generally accessible. ²²The objective of such categorization is to sensitize forensic pathologist, technician and other mortuary staff against potential risk while handling such infectious cases.

Requirements/Resources

a. Design and layout of autopsy room for the deceased with COVID 19. $^{\scriptscriptstyle 23}$

A study was conducted during the outbreak of SARS CoV2 infection where the serious nature of infection compelled the pathologist in China to consider about the Biosafety level 3

Autopsy room for dissection and tissue processing. Study suggested that BSL-3 autopsy laboratory to be efficient in dealing with contaminated cadavers and also was safer to both the clinicians and environment. Autopsy, if has to be performed should be done in separate and well illuminated autopsy room and it should be adequately ventilated room, i.e., at least natural ventilation with at least 160L/s/patient air flow or negative pressure rooms with at least 12 air changes per hour (ACH) and controlled direction of air flow when using mechanical ventilation.²⁴. The wall and the floor of autopsy room should have washable wall and floor. A single autopsy table should be installed in the autopsy room with the facility of both hot and cold water. The drainage inside the autopsy room should be covered and rodents free. Extra items like table, cupboard etc. should not be present in autopsy room. The door of autopsy room should remain closed except during the entry and exit.

In absence of the above-mentioned facility, cadavers can be examined in a disposable safety bag specially designed for postmortem examination of infectious diseases. Poor infrastructure with lack of basic facilities in Mortuaries in India, it becomes difficult in handling of such infected cadavers. More over autopsy being carried out by specialist not specialized in Forensic Medicine also adds to problem.

Body storage system for COVID 19 cases

The body storage system (dead body cooling/freezing chamber) should be available in the mortuary. It should have at least six dead body preservation in capacity and dedicated only for COVID 19 cases. The mortuary should have 24-hour power backup. Dead bodies should be stored in cold chambers maintained at approximately 4°C.

b.Personal protective equipment (PPE) Recommendations for Autopsies of dead body with COVID-19²⁵

The following PPE should be worn during autopsy procedures:

- 1. Double layered latex surgical gloves interposed with a layer of cut-proof synthetic mesh gloves
- 2. Fluid-resistant or impermeable gown
- 3. Waterproof Protective suit
- 4. Goggles or face shield
- 5. Protective shoe covers
- 6. NIOSH-certified disposable N-95 respirator or higher (e.g. Powered, air-purifying respirators (PAPRs) with HEPA filters).

The aforementioned PPE should be worn by all who are engaged in mortuary, i.e., Autopsy surgeon, technician, sweepers etc.

c.Instruments required for autopsy for the body with COVID-19.

Almost same autopsy instruments required for the autopsy of

the dead body with COVID-19 except a few. In case of dead body with COVID-19 oscillating bone cutting saw with vacuum aspirator should be used. Round ended scissors, PM40 or any other heavy-duty blades with blunted points should be used to reduce prick injuries. High duty gloves should be use along with surgical gloves.

d.Registration of cases of suspect, probable or confirmed in the Mortuary records

All the cases which come to the mortuary should be entered in a COVID-19 dedicated register. The data which enter in the mortuary records should include the preliminary data (name, age, sex, religion, detailed address with Mobile no if available), type of cases (suspect/ probable/ confirmed/ others), Nasopharyngeal sample collection (Yes/ No), result of Nasopharyngeal sample for COVID 19 virus (Positive/ Negative), result of Nasopharyngeal sample for other respiratory pathogens (name of organism).

e. Timing of Postmortem examination

The present scenario showing the low availability of PPE kit. For the better utilization of the present resources the time of autopsy should be restrict after 13:00 till the sunset (different in different places)

Role of forensic pathologist²⁶⁻²⁹

The forensic pathologist has to ensure that heath facilities and safety measures are in place prior to conduction of autopsy. Preparing a checklist would serve the purpose. All the documents pertaining to autopsy like inquest, hospital case sheet, lab reports etc. should be checked. Clinical history can be obtained from the family members, relative or police.

Objectives of management of dead body in COVID 19 pandemic

- 1. Protect Medical professional and health care worker from infection of SARS CoV2 virus (COVID-19 virus) during handling of dead body.
- 2. Protection of family members of the deceased from the infection of SARS CoV2 virus.
- 3. Safe and proper autopsy of medico-legal case.
- 4. Protection of society from infection of SARS CoV2 by proper disposal of dead body of COVID 19 patients.
- 5. Judicious use of PPE kit during the period of pandemic.

The dead body sent for medicolegal autopsy during COVID 19 pandemic can be categorized into following categories:

- 1. COVID-19 confirmed case
- 2. COVID-19 Suspected case

- 3. Brought dead cases
- 4. Dead body with Unknown identity.

Procedure of medicolegal autopsy in dead body with COVID-19²⁵⁻²⁹

Autopsy should be avoided until the case is a medicolegal. At the time of autopsy limited number of autopsy surgeon with helpers should be present inside the autopsy room. All member of autopsy team should use complete set of PPEs (coveralls, head cover, shoe cover, N 95 mask, goggles / face shield) during the procedure. The dead body with COVID-19 should be washed with 1% hypochlorite solution. The en-block technique should be used for opening of body cavity. The organ removed from the cavity should be held firm on the table and sliced with care.

In dead body with COVID-19 always take precautions to avoid aerosol generation. So, Oscillator saw with vacuum aspirator should be used for opening the cranial cavity. In case of unavailability of the above, hand saw with chain-mail gloves can be used. Handling of the lungs is important because of its spongy in nature it could generate aerosols, so precautions must be taken.

Preservation of Postmortem specimen in cases of death with COVID-19²⁵⁻²⁹

Collection of specimen depends upon the cases whether the case with COVID-19 is confirmed or suspected and whether autopsy will be done or waved off. In case, where autopsy is not performed in suspected COVID 19 case, two swabs should be collected from the nasopharynx, one sent for RT-PCR for SARS CoV2 virus and other for testing of other respiratory pathogens. In case of autopsy of suspected case two swab should be taken from both upper (Nasopharyngeal swab) and lower respiratory tract (Lung swab from each lung). One should be sent for RT PCR for detection of SARS CoV2 virus and next swab for detection of other respiratory pathogens. For histopathological examination both the lungs, upper airways and major organs should be preserved in formalin. If autopsy is being performed in dead body with COVID-19 then swab should be taken from the lungs for detection of other respiratory pathogen along with preservation of viscera in formalin according to their clinical history. The swab collected for the detection of SARS CoV2 virus should be stored at 2-8°C for up to 72 hours after collection. If a delay in testing or shipping is expected, store specimens at -70°C or below.

Death certificate in case with COVID-19 positive³⁰

If the death is influenced by COVID-19, like it aggravated the underlying causes and also led to pneumonia and/ or ARDS then COVID-19 should be written in lowest line of Part 2 of the

death certificate.³⁰

Procedure after completion of the autopsy of the dead body with COVID 19.²⁵⁻²⁹

After reconstruction of the autopsied body, it should be disinfected with 1% Sodium Hypochlorite and placed in a body bag, the exterior of which will again be decontaminated with 1% Sodium Hypochlorite solution. The body thereafter can be handed over to the police. Autopsy table to be disinfected as per standard protocol.

Embalming in case of dead body with COVID 19:²⁵⁻²⁹

Embalming of dead body should not be allowed.

Transportation of dead body with COVID-19²⁵⁻²⁹

The autopsied body secured in dead body bag (made up of plastic) should be decontaminated with 1% hypochlorite solution and then handed to the police/ transporting staff, as it does not carry additional risk. The personnel handling the dead body must follow standard precautions for infection control. The vehicle used for transportation of dead body with COVID-19 should decontaminated with 1% hypochlorite solution.

Disposal of remains from the dead body with COVID-19²⁵⁻²⁹

The blood, body fluid and body tissues that exude out after the postmortem examination should be treated before drain into the main drain. The belongings of the dead body with COVID-19 should be incinerated.

At the crematorium/ Burial Ground²⁵⁻²⁹

As per the government of India guideline during creation and burial gathering of more than 20 people are not allowed and they must follow the social distancing. The people working at crematorium and burial ground should be educated that dead body with COVID-19 doesn't carry any other risk than dead body without COVID-19. The staff of crematorium and burial ground should be educated about the standard precautions of hand hygiene, use of masks and gloves. If relatives want to see the dead body for last time, staff of crematorium and burial unzip the face end of body bag to see the face of dead body. Hugging, kissing, touching, bathing reading religious scripts in the ear should not be allowed. After cremation and burial all the staff and friends and family members should perform hand hygiene. The ash after cremation of the dead body with COVID-19 does not carry any risk so can be collected for last rites.

Conclusion

The condition of mortuaries in the periphery of India is not good. Due to presence of less resources, we need to upgrade the existing mortuary to the safety level 3 or government should develop separate mortuary with safety level 3 in every state according to their size. Due to less availability to PPE Kit in the hospital only single PPE can be utilized to conduct the all postmortem of the day. The timing of the autopsy examination should be restricted between 1 PM till the sunset so that we can utilize PPE Kit to its maximum. All the cases with COVID-19 should be registered as COVID-19 case so that the contact tracing can be done and also the data is also used for the future planning. The death certificate issue in these cases should include COVID-19 in the lowest line in part II. The similar practice update should also be release from time to time in the field of Forensic Medicine & Toxicology so that we can get aware about the present scenario.

Conflict of interest: None to declare **Source of funding:** None to declare

References

- World Health Organization, D.I.R.E.C.T.O.R.G.E.N.E.R.A.L. Briefing on 2019-nCoV on 11 February 2020. [Online]. Available from: https://www.who.int/dg/speeches/detail/who-directorgeneral-s-remarks-at-the-media-briefing-on-2019-ncov-on-11february-2020 [Accessed 6 May 2020].
- Osborn M, Lucas S, Stewart R, Swift Ben, Youd E. Autopsy practice relating to possible cases of COVID-19 (2019-nCov, novel coronavirus from China 2019/2020). The Royal College of Pathlogists. 2020;1(Final): 1-14.
- Huang, C., Wang, Y., Li, X., Ren, L., Zhao, J., Hu, Y., Zhang, L., Fan, G., Xu, J., Gu, X., Cheng, Z., Yu, T., Xia, J., Wei, Y., Wu, W., Xie, X., Yin, W., Li, H., Liu, M., Xiao, Y., Gao, H., Guo, L., Xie, J., Wang, G., Jiang, R., Gao, Z., Jin, Q., Wang, J. and Cao, B. Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China. The Lancet, 2020; 395(10223):497-506.
- Wang, D., Hu, B., Hu, C., Zhu, F., Liu, X., Zhang, J., Wang, B., Xiang, H., Cheng, Z., Xiong, Y., Zhao, Y., Li, Y., Wang, X. and Peng, Z., 2020. Clinical Characteristics of 138 Hospitalized Patients with 2019 Novel Coronavirus–Infected Pneumonia in Wuhan, China. JAMA, 323(11):1061.
- Who, D.I.R.E.C.T.O.R.G.E.N.E.R.A.L. Briefing on 2019-nCoV on 11 February 2020. [Online]. Available from: https://www.who.int/dg/speeches/detail/who-director-general-sremarks-at-the-media-briefing-on-2019-ncov-on-11-february-2020 [Accessed 6 May 2020].
- Zaim, S., Chong, J., Sankaranarayanan, V. and Harky, A. COVID-19 and Multi-Organ Response. Curr Probl Cardiolo. 2020; 45(8): 100618.
- Who.int. 2020. Coronavirus. [online] Available at: < h t t p s : / / w w w . w h o . i n t / h e a l t h -topics/coronavirus#tab=tab_1>[Accessed 6 May 2020].
- World Health Organization. Naming The Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) And The Virus That Causes It. (2020) [online] Available at: <a href="https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novelcoronavirus-2019/technical-guidance/naming-the-coronavirus-

disease-(covid-2019)-and-the-virus-that-causes-it> [Accessed 6 May 2020].

- 9. Ananthanarayan R. and Paniker C. Textbook Of Microbiology. 7th ed. Chennai, India Orient Longman Private Ltd; 2017:569.
- Ye, Z., Yuan, S., Yuen, K., Fung, S., Chan, C. and Jin, D.. Zoonotic origins of human coronaviruses. International Journal of Biological Sciences. 2020;16(10):1686-1697.
- 11. World Health Organization. SARS (Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome). World Health Organization. Available from: https://www.who.int/ith/diseases/sars/en/. (Accessed on March 06,2020).
- 12. World Health Organization. Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) advice for the public. [Online]. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/mers/about/index.html. [Accessed 8 April 2021].
- World Health Organization. Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). [Online]. Available from: https://www.who.int/docs/default source/ coronaviruse/situation reports/20200212 sitrep 23 ncov. [Accessed 8 April 2021].
- Bai, Y., Yao, L., Wei, T., Tian, F., Jin, D., Chen, L. and Wang, M.,. Presumed Asymptomatic Carrier Transmission of COVID-19. JAMA; 2020;323(14): 1406.
- 15. L X Zhonghua, X Z Bing. Special Expert Group for Control of the Epidemic of Novel Coronavirus Pneumonia of the Chinese Preventive Medicine Association. An Update On the Epidemiological Characteristics of Novel Coronavirus Pneumonia (COVID-19. 2020; 41(2):139-144.
- Backer J., Klinkenberg, D. and Wallinga, J. Incubation period of 2019 novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) infections among travellers from Wuhan, China, 2020; 25(5): 20–28.
- Guan, W., Ni, Z., Hu, Y., Liang, W., Ou, C., He, J., Liu, L., Shan, H., Lei, C., Hui, D., Du, B., Li, L., Zeng, G., Yuen, K., Chen, R., Tang, C., Wang, T., Chen, P., Xiang, J., Li, S., Wang, J., Liang, Z., Peng, Y., Wei, L., Liu, Y., Hu, Y., Peng, P., Wang, J., Liu, J., Chen, Z., Li, G., Zheng, Z., Qiu, S., Luo, J., Ye, C., Zhu, S. and Zhong, N., 2020. Clinical Characteristics of Coronavirus Disease 2019 in China. New England Journal of Medicine. 2019; 382(18): 1708-1720.
- World Health Organization.int. 2020. Coronavirus. [online] Available at: https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novelcoronavirus-2019> [Accessed 7 May 2020].
- Mohfw.gov.in. 2020. Mohfw | Home. [online] Available at: https://www.mohfw.gov.in/ [Accessed 7 May 2020].
- Bouadma L., Lescure, F., Lucet, J., Yazdanpanah, Y. and Timsit, J. Severe SARS-CoV-2 infections: practical considerations and management strategy for intensivists. Intensive Care Medicine, 2020; 46(4): 579-582.
- 21. Who.int. 2020 [cited 7 May 2020]. Available from: https://www.who.int/docs/default-source/coronaviruse/global-surveillance-for-covid-v-19-final200321-rev.pdf.
- 22. Rcpath.org. 2020 [cited 7 May 2020]. Available from: https://www.rcpath.org/uploads/assets/d5e28baf-5789-4b0fa c e c f e 3 7 0 e e e 6 2 2 3 / f e 8 f a 8 5 a - f 0 0 4 - 4 a 0 c -81ee4b2b9cd12cbf/Briefing-on-COVID-19-autopsy-Feb-2020.pdf.

- 23. Li L, Gu J, Shi X, Gong E, Li X, Shao H et al. Biosafety Level 3 Laboratory for Autopsies of Patients with Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome: Principles, Practices, and Prospects. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2005;41(6):815-821.
- 24. Apps.who.int. 2020 [cited 7 May 2020]. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/44167/978924154 7857_eng.pdf?sequence=1.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020). Interim guidance for collection and submission of post-mortem specimens from deceased persons under investigation (PUI) for COVID-19, February 2020. https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019- ncov/hcp/guidancepostmortem-specimens.html (accessed May 7, 2020).
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2020. Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19). [online] Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/hcp/guidance-

postmortem-specimens.html [Accessed 7 May 2020].

- 27. Mohfw.gov.in. 2020 [cited 7 May 2020]. Available from: https://www.mohfw.gov.in/pdf/1584423700568_COVID19Guideli nesonDeadbodymanagement.pdf.
- 28. Mohfw.gov.in. 2020 [cited 7 May 2020]. Available from: https://www.mohfw.gov.in/pdf/StandardOperatingProcedureSOPfo rtransportingasuspectorconfirmedcaseofCOVID19.pdf.
- 29. Karunadu.karnataka.gov.in. 2020 [cited 7 May 2020]. Available from:https://karunadu.karnataka.gov.in/hfw/kannada/nCovDocs/ Contingency%20Plan%20with%20Guidelines%20and%20SOPs% 20for%20COVID-10%20(02-04-2020).pdf.
- 30. Cdc.gov. 2020 [cited 7 May 2020]. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nvss/coronavirus/Alert-1-Guidance-for-Certifying-COVID-19-Deaths.pdf

REVIEW

Work pattern in Forensic Medicine: Challenges to Changes during COVID19 pandemic

Raghvendra Kumar Vidua, Arneet Arora, Daideepya C Bhargava, Vivek Kumar Chouksey, Rituparna Jana, Ankit Dwivedi Department of Forensic Medicine & Toxicology, All India Institute of Medical Sciences, Bhopal, Madhya Pradesh, India

Abstract

COVID-19 pandemic has drastically changed the prevailing practices in almost all the disciplines of Medical Sciences and the Forensic medicine could also not bear to be remained isolated to such changes. The old age practice in Forensic Medicine in form of conducting the autopsy has been changed and it is being avoided in COVID positive as well as brought dead cases as much as possible. Now it is being largely limited only to the cases where it can't be avoided and that too in minimally invasive form, following all govt protocols while under the umbrella of full biosafety measures. Due to lockdown measures as people are staying at their home, the workload in form of autopsy on accidental, suicidal and homicidal deaths has been drastically reduced but it has been increased on other side where a larger number of COVID positive deaths are coming up which covers aspect ranging from it's risk reducing management to safe disposal. With the high risk involved in dealing with those bodies and emerging challenges of prevention from contracting disease, now this discipline is also learning to work with riskier procedures under psychological fear of infection and adapting to work under new conditions.

Keywords

COVID-19; Work pattern; Challenges; Changes; Risks; Biosafety measures; Dead body management; Facility expansion

Introduction

COVID-19 is an acute respiratory illness caused by the SARS-CoV-2 virus which is an enveloped, positive-sense singlestranded RNA virus, affecting primarily the respiratory system and particularly the lungs. It has been detected in respiratory, faecal and blood specimens¹ and has caused a large number of cases and deaths worldwide in form of a global pandemic and that too on a continuous rise. However, the source and disease progression are not yet entirely clear and no-one is in position to talk about the exact and full-blown course of the disease and associated deaths. To contain this infection and reduce its impact, various measures like lockdown and social distancing are in place.

Given the lockdown, the crime rate has been dropped and it has reduced the number of medicolegal cases drastically whether it is in terms of accidental, suicidal or homicidal deaths that had been making a significant proportion of total deaths previously. This shift in the proportion of deaths with medicolegal issues out of total number of deaths along with risk and fear of contracting the infection in the autopsy related work, have led to a significant drift in form of changes in the continuing practice of Forensic Medicine in India. This article aims at highlighting those changes in the working pattern of the

Corresponding Author

Dr. Raghvendra Kumar Vidua (Associate Professor) Email: raghvendra.fmt@aiimsbhopal.edu.in Mobile: +91-7747010414

Article History

Received: 3rd June, 2020; Revision received: 8th January, 2021 Accepted: 14th January, 2021 discipline which has been brought out by the ongoing pandemic of COVID-19.

COVID-19 death and added challenges

Deaths during COVID-19 pandemic due to corona virus infection and events related directly or indirectly to either spread of the infection or attempts to control the infection, may be clubbed together as 'COVID and COVID related deaths'. The COVID related deaths would include natural, unnatural and incidental deaths, not directly due to a person being infected with Corona virus. Unnatural deaths include accidental, suicidal and homicidal deaths. With this global pandemic, the added challenges to the discipline include the following:

- 1. The requirements from a medicolegal autopsy end if cause of death is COVID19 but barring few institutes in India, it is not mandatory to screen the dead bodies for Corona virus infection before sending it for autopsy. This implies that the autopsy surgeon is not aware of COVID status of the deceased in most of the cases and the fact is that COVID status of the deceased is rarely available and they remain as 'COVID status unknown'.
- 2. The test conducted for detection of COVID is not available to everyone on demand. If the criteria comprising of history of travel in last 14 days, fever, cough, etc. devised by Indian Council of Medical Research (ICMR) is not met, the test is not conducted. If a person dies either due to COVID 19 or any other cause and is brought dead to the hospital, the test cannot be applied as the testing strategy till date does not include a dead person. It further reaffirms the prevalent thought that

the dead carries less value and deserves lesser attention.

- 3. The nasal or oropharyngeal swab when taken, may or may not show positive result in COVID positive person. If a COVID negative person, a few days ago, changed to COVID positive status, it may be missed if not done mandatorily before autopsy. Also the triage of separating COVID and non COVID deaths is the most difficult task and involves the risk of infections.
- 4. Mortuary in most places of India is not constructed with negative pressure autopsy room. Oscillating electric saw with suction facility is available only in scarce few institutes in the country.
- 5. The Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) that should be worn by the team while conducting autopsy, is not available at most places also the current manpower is not used to while working with it. Also, the awareness that if a clinician and his unit handling a patient needs PPE, a COVID status unknown dead body where the body cavities will be opened and complete autopsy has to be conducted, will be a threat to the same extent if not more to the autopsy surgeon and the thing is not clear to most of the decision makers.
- 6. The process and protocol for autopsy regarding samples to be preserved for histopathological or other examination have not been clarified.
- 7. Also well-designed body bags suitable for transportation of these bodies are not available at most places.
- 8. Overcoming the psychological fear and prevention from risks of contracting infection during autopsy have also been coming as challenges.
- 9. As the number of cases and deaths are rising, the dead body management with the limited handling capacity is getting more trickier in the light of more and more of guidelines and protocols are coming up from different sources and which one is to be followed is really a bag challenge.
- 10. Continuing academics with interest through new means is also posing challenge as both givers and takers are not used to that.

Differences of changes in the work pattern

1. No autopsy is being conducted in confirmed COVID 19 cases as per the protocol of Government of India unless some medicolegal issue is involved. However, the autopsy is being conducted in COVID negative persons and in those with unknown COVID status with some medicolegal issues. However, during the lockdown period, the number of medicolegal autopsies has been drastically

reduced at most of the places.

- 2. The existing manpower has been now subdivided in to small groups as teams and taking care of work on different days and timings.
- 3. The academic activities and training programmes in few institutes including classes, seminars, demonstration and training programmes for undergraduates and postgraduate medical students are being conducted through online portals.
- 4. Now getting and conducting autopsies with PPE, conducting minimally invasive autopsies, ensuring proper preservation of the samples, post procedure disinfection of table, tools and environment, designing of suitable leak proof body bags, transportation and cryopreservation of dead bodies irrespective of COVID status, post transfer sanitisation, placing identification tags, providing counselling services to the family about best practices for disposal, coordinating with clinical departments, local administration and police for ensuring disposal of bodies as per protocol are gaining foremost attention than of primary work of conducting autopsy.
- 5. The discipline is learning stringent infection control procedures. More and more of such SOPs and protocols are coming up from different sources and even individual institutions are making their own SOPs and protocols.

Discussion

In the ongoing pandemic, people are dying from the complications of the disease as well as from things completely unrelated to this. The COVID deaths are taken as natural deaths and autopsies are being avoided in such cases as per the protocol and as it is not recommended in a full-blown case of COVID-19.² However it is legal mandate to investigate and finding out the cause and manner of death in a medicolegal case where an appropriate autopsy is needed.³ It is a known fact the autopsy generates aerosols and there is risk of contracting infection from dead at least in some viral diseases.⁴ Recently, the death of a forensic personnel from Thailand sparked a debate on whether COVID-19 may be transmitted from dead to a living persons⁵ otherwise until now there are no such evidences of transmission.⁴

The CDC recommends for considering medicolegal jurisdiction, facility environmental control, availability of recommended PPEs and family and cultural wishes for determining the need for autopsy, minimum number of people in an airborne infection isolation rooms with negative pressure.⁶ The Royal College of Pathologists advocate against the presence of multiple hands within the cadaver.⁷ In India, also, at most of the places, teams have been formed with different days

and timings of autopsy related work. Further, many studies have recommended for considering the clinicopathological correlation which is still lacking here.

Unlike previously, now taking relevant medical history from relatives and police as pre-autopsy screening has gained importance but identifying the asymptomatic and latent cases is very challenging task before the forensic pathologists.^{8,9} Therefore, as a precautionary measure, during pandemic, any dead body is regarded as potential source of infection and must be COVID tested and same biosafety measures applied.^{2,10} Many institutes in India have started doing it before proceeding for autopsy but this is not the case at other places. The minimal autopsy or virtopsy is preferred in such scenario but in India, at most of the places, no facility for virtopsy exists. Further, the avoidance generation of effluent and waste and its discharge post complete inactivation¹¹ has yet not gained much attention.

After the autopsy, the body is placed in a zipped body bag immediately and identification tag marked 'Covid-19' is placed according to protocol. If a body is found to be Covid-19 positive, then it is neither being directly handed over to the family nor being allowed to be taken home and counselling of family members is done. After the procedure, the exterior of body bag and autopsy table are now being decontaminated with 1% Sodium Hypochlorite solution.¹² Even the Forensic labs in India are now demanding COVID test status before processing of the tissue samples but for dealing with such cases, the autopsy laboratories with certain biological safety levels are needed in the future.¹³

This pandemic has also changed the mode of delivery of academics and training programme from offline to online mode and to overcome the health care worker shortage, medical students are being engaged as part of the workforce on voluntary basis and more flexible approach of medical schools is being recommended in this regard.¹⁴ The preparation of SOPs for the containment of infectious risk, pre-autoptic risk assessment, sampling by core biopsies and promotion of PPEs in daily practice is getting wider attention.^{15,16} As the cryopreservation may prolong the persistence of the virus in the body¹⁷ so the segregation of preservation in different cold chambers and its necessary disinfection post transfer can't be ignored.

Conclusion

In the current pandemic, the physical risk and psychological fear of contracting infection have definitely brought the challenges and made changes in the working pattern for the discipline of Forensic Medicine. Though the workload in terms of number of medicolegal autopsies has been significantly reduced but as more and more of COVID deaths are arriving to the mortuary stations, the work has certainly been getting riskier and challenging in terms of its management. However, if number of dead rises to a full-blown pandemic then it would be further challenging to manage that number with the limited capacity of handling at most places in a timely manner. Therefore, various post-mortem procedures and release of the body to safe disposal as properly and smoothly as possible with adequate biosafety measures are getting much attention. At most of the places, the discipline is busy in making SOPs and planning in terms of dead body management but the expansion of facility in terms of future estimate of deaths also needs a considerate thought.

References

- Wang W, Xu Y, Gao R, Lu R, BS KH, Wu G, Tan W. Detection of SARS-CoV-2 in Different Types of Clinical Specimens. JAMA. 2020;323(18): 1843-1844.
- 2. Sapino A, Facchetti F, Bonoldi E,Gianatti A, Barbareschi M. The autopsy debate during the COVID-19 emergency: the Italian experience. Virchows Arch. 2020;29: 1-3.
- 3. Hanley B, Lucas SB, Youd E, Swift B, Osborn M. Autopsy in suspected COVID-19 cases. J Clin Pathol. 2020; 73:239-242.
- 4. WHO. Infection prevention and control for the safe management of a dead body in the context of COVID-19. Interim guidance. (Cited Aug 16,2020). Available from https://apps.who.int/.
- Sriwijitalai W, Wiwanitkit V. COVID-19 in forensic medicine unit personnel: Observation from Thailand. Journal of Forensic and Legal Medicine.2020;72:101964.
- Centers for disease control and prevention. Collection and Submission of Postmortem Specimens from Deceased Persons with Known or Suspected COVID-19. (Cited Aug 16,2020). Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019ncov/hcp/guidance-postmortem-specimens.html
- 7. Osborn M, Stewart R, Swift B, Youd E. Autopsy practice relating to possible cases of COVID-19 (2019-nCov, novel coronavirus from China 2019/2020). The Royal College of Pathologists. (Cited A u g 1 8 , 2 0 2 0) . A v a i l a b l e f r o m : https://www.rcpath.org/uploads/assets/d5e28baf-5789-4b0fa c e c f e 3 7 0 e e e 6 2 2 3 / f e 8 f a 8 5 a - f 0 0 4 - 4 a 0 c -81ee4b2b9cd12cbf/Briefing-on-COVID-19-autopsy-Feb-2020.pdf
- Mao D, Zhou N, Zheng D, Yue J, Zhao Q, Luo B, Guan D, Zhou Y, Hu B, Cheng C. Guide to forensic pathology practice for death cases related to coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) (Trial draft). Forensic Sciences Research.2020;5(1)1-7.
- Thacker T. (Cited Aug 17,2020) AIIMS waives autopsy in deaths due to COVID-19. ET Bureau, Apr. 24, 2020.Available from: https://economictimes.indiatimes.com
- 10. Bhardwaj A. AIIMS, Safdarjung Hospital begin testing bodies for Covid-19 before conducting autopsies. The Print, Apr. 20, 2020. (Cited Aug 17, 2020). Available from: https://theprint.in/health/aiims-safdarjung-hospital-begin-testingbodies-for-covid-19-before-conducting-autopsies/404861/
- 11. Wang GP, Wang MW, Fu R, et al. Recommendation on prevention

and control process of pathology department in epidemic prevention period of 2019-nCoV (1st Ed.)]. Nanjing (China): 91360 Med Tech Co., Ltd. (Cited Aug 20,2020). Available from: https://www.91360.com/blfy/yfkz/. Chinese.

- 12. G o v e r n m e n t o f I n d i a Ministry of Health & Family Welfare Directorate General of Health Services (EMR Division). COVID-19: Guidelines on dead body management. (Cited Aug 22,2020). Available from: https://www.mohfw.gov.in/pdf/1584423700568_COVID19Guideli nesonDeadbodymanagement.pdf
- 13. Laboratories-general requirements for biosafety. General Administration of Quality Supervision Inspection and quarantine of the people's Republic of China, standardization administration of the people's Republic of China. (Cited Aug 24, 2020). Available from: http://jiuban.moa.gov.cn/fwllm/zxbs/xzxk/spyj/ GB 19489-2008.

- 14. Rose S. Medical Student Education in the Time of COVID-19. JAMA.2020; 323(21):2131-2132
- 15. Fineschi V, Aprile A, Aquila I, et al. Management of the corpse with suspect, probable or confirmed COVID-19 respiratory infection – Italian interim recommendations for personnel potentially exposed to material from corpses, including body fluids, in morgue structures and during autopsy practice. Pathologica Epub. 2020;112(2):64-77.
- Xu Z,Shi L,Wang Y et al.Pathological findings of COVID-19 associated with acute respiratory distress syndrome. Lancet Respir Med.2020; 8(4):420–422.
- Joseph T W, Kathy L, Gabriel M L. Nowcasting and forecasting the potential domestic and international spread of the 2019-nCoV outbreak originating in Wuhan, China: a modelling study. J. Lancet. 2020;395:689–697.

REVIEW ARTICLE

Smegma: Myths and Facts

B. D. Gupta

Department of Forensic Medicine and Toxicology, R.D. Gardi Medical College, Ujjain, India

Abstract

In relation to sexual intercourse, in cases of rape various textbooks cite presence or absence of smegma under the foreskin of glans penis and then accordingly interpret the findings. It seems that contemporary literature (which includes various textbooks available for Undergraduate and Postgraduate students as well as lawyers and judges) unscientifically sees and interprets the presence or absence of smegma. This paper tries to put myths and facts in their correct perspective. To achieve this, the paper tries to go through the scientific literature about identification and diagnosis of smegma and limitations prevailing there off in our country and in scientific circle. Objective of the study is that prevailing unscientific notion can be corrected and miscarriage of justice due to wrong interpretation of such finding can be avoided. Authors of various textbooks present and future are advised to look into the matter and do necessary correction in their textbooks.

Keywords

Smegma; Female smegma; Sexual intercourse; Rape; Evidentiary value

Introduction

Sexual offenses, particularly penetrative ones are on the increase. Accordingly, even the sec 375 of I.P.C. is grossly amended.¹ At present we as teachers and practitioners of Forensic Medicine and Toxicology we are following it. It is important for the survivor as well as for the society that they are taken to their logical end. To achieve this goal evidentiary value of examination of accused cannot be over emphasized. Presence or absence of smegma at corona sulcus of penis of an accused considered important findings by various textbooks. It seems that available literature about smegma, (its presence or absence and its interpretation) is loosely written in most of the available and popular textbooks and it requires scientific scrutiny and correction.

What is written in the literature?

"If accused is not circumcised, foreskin may be retracted and the presence or absence of smegma (cheesy secretion of sebaceous glands, consisting mainly of desquamated epithelial cells) on corona glandis should be noted. The absence of smegma may indicate that intercourse might have been performed but presence of smegma rules out possibility of complete penetration because smegma gets rubbed off during intercourse."²

Nandy says presence of smegma goes against full penetration and

Corresponding Author Dr B.D. Gupta (Professor) Email: bdgujn@yahoo.com Mobile: +91-9427279751

Article History Received: 6th June, 2020; Accepted: 20th February, 2021 intercourse within the last 24 hours. Also, absence of smegma to an extent, goes in support of sexual intercourse within the last 24 hours (except in a person with habit of cleaning this part daily.³

Smegma if present under prepuce and corona glandis is inconsistent with recent intercourse. The smegma is rubbed off during intercourse which takes place about 24 hours for redeposition.⁴ Bardale mentions presence of Mycobacterium smegmatis in smegma. He mentions- It takes about 24 hours to collect the smegma on corona glandis. Therefore, presence of smegma indicates non- participation of a male in recent sexual intercourse act.⁵ If accused is not circumcised, the existence of smegma around the glans penis may be considered proof against sexual intercourse (since it is rubbed off during the sexual act) The smegma accumulates if no bath is taken for 24 hours.⁶

Normally the glans penis when covered with prepuce will allow deposition of smegma in it. During sexual intercourse smegma gets washed off in vaginal secretions. Hence testing the washings of glans for absence of smegma corroborates rape (smegma can be washed off at bath). If smegma is present it rules out sexual act, within 24 hours. Rao publishes a photograph showing smegma on glans penis. Rao mentions testing of washings of glans for absence of smegma, he does not mention any physical, microscopic or microbiological test for that matter for testing the smegma.⁷

Absence of smegma in the uncircumcised male provided the accused is examined immediately may act as corroborative evidence (taking a bath or washing the genitals can remove the smegma. It takes 24 hours for smegma to accumulate).⁸ However, absence of smegma is not conclusive evidence of sexual intercourse. On the other hand, the actual presence of smegma can be taken as evidence that the person did not participate in sexual intercourse.⁹

In the uncircumcised penis the presence of smegma under prepuce and on the corona glandis rules out complete penetration because smegma usually requires 24 hours to redeposit. Presence of smegma indicates that no sexual intercourse with full penetration is taken place within 24 hours but absence of smegma will not indicate intercourse. Smegma contains the Mycobacterium smegamticus and can be demonstrated by Ziehl Neelsen's stain.¹⁰

There is nothing to suggest that the subject performed a recent sexual act, consensual or non-consensual if there are no injuries on body and genitals and smegma is present under the glans and there are no vaginal cells on the penile shaft.¹¹ However, Modi does not agree with it. Modi writes-the existence of smegma around corona glandis is considered by some to be proof against sexual intercourse, since it is rubbed off during sexual act. Nevertheless, the presence of smegma as proof against the sexual intercourse is not of any medico legal value, as legally, if the penis touches the vulva, it is enough to constitute rape. So in a case of rape of this character, it is unlikely that smegma will be rubbed off.¹² Vij, along with Modi, discard the evidentiary value on the basis of technicality of definition of rape.¹³ They don't comment on its scientific value or otherwise in relation to penetration as other authors have talked.

Subrahmanyam talks about smegma in relation to examination of accused. But he does not mention anything else, that how to interpret its presence or absence.¹⁴ From legal circle Vyas and Kejriwal say –Smegma? Presence of it is a useful clue, It can refute the charge of false rape.¹⁵ From medical textbooks the reference to smegma and its evidentiary value, wrongly or rightly, has also reached to various judgments delivered by the High Courts.^{16,17} Courts have accepted the findings as the text is written in reputed textbooks on the subject.

Observation versus interpretation

First, we analyze what is 'Presence of smegma'. What the examiner observes while examining the accused of rape in question is presence of white cheesy material as described above. So the interpretation is based on merely visual examination. Shinge and Shrigiriwar did mentions in one of their studies that in two of the accused out of eight who were examined within 24 hours of the said incident found, presence of smegma.¹⁸ They did not elaborate further whether their interpretation of smegma was based on visual examination or they performed any objective test for its confirmation.

Authors, except one, do not mention any confirmatory test to objectively say that what one finds on glans penis is smegma. One author does mention that Mycobectirium smegaticus can be stained be Z and N stain.¹⁰ I, in my practice and teaching of forensic medicine of many years, have not come across any literature that such procedure (confirming the presence of

smegma by any objective test) is in practice anywhere in India. I have not come across any such foreign study as well.

However, none of the authors including Ignatius says that before we say that smegma is present we must confirm it by such (any) method. In the absence of any unequivocal test to test smegma, merely on the basis of visual observation saying that smegma is present seems dangerous and unscientific. As there are many white cheesy creamy materials available on our dressing table, in our toiletries and in our medicine box. Possibility of accused being tutored by his family members and lawyers before he is medically examined cannot be ruled out.

Microbiology of smegma has been studied by many authors and according to one of them¹⁹ there are 31 bacteria which could be isolated from smegma, 15 gram-positive and 16 gram negative. The most common gram- negative bacteria was Escherichia coli and most common gram- positive pathogen was Enterococcus faecalis. This paper does not mention anything about Mycobecterium smegmatis. However, it quotes one study-"Mycobeterium smegmatis was originally isolated in smegma. The organism is found in dirt and its original isolation from smegma was most probably coincidental". In view of this light, even the suggestion of Ignatius that substance supposed to be smegma should be and can be tested for Myobecterium smegmatis becomes doubtful.

Satyprakash et al. studied human subpreputial collection bacteriologically, biochemically and histopathologically.²⁰ But their observations also do not take us anywhere. There is no test yet which unequivocally test smegma.

Facts about smegma

The description of smegma given in above referred textbooks is more are less in consistency with other sources.^{21,22} But both these references do mention about smegma present in female genitals. The Wikipedia gives a photograph of female external genitals showing smegma. Structure wise this female smegma is similar to smegma found in males. Only difference is that of source. Smegma on female genitals comes from female cells and glands, that's all. However, above cited references (2-15,18) are very much silent about this female smegma.

Most of the Indian textbooks who have talked about smegma in relation to accused of rape, do not talk about the same in relation to anal intercourse. While we must agree that 'the process of rubbing' in intercourse would be same.

There is one more aspect which is missing. The definition of rape is changed.¹ Now it includes- I.P.C. 375(a) penovaginal;peno -urethral; peno -anal and peno- oral penetration. Even if we consider peno vaginal and peno –urethral penetration more or less same (peno urethral would not be possible in most of the cases, and there is a proximity of both

orifices also) still most of the references published after the new law came into being do not mention any thing about status of smegma in relation to peno –anal and peno –oral penetration.^{23,5,8,9,11,12}

As they do not talk about female smegma they are silent on I.P.C. 375(d) where there is a reference of application of mouth to vagina. If principle of Locard is followed, the application of mouth to vagina (that includes labia majora), there should be exchange of material from one person to other. That is, there exists a clear possibility of female smegma, from genitals of woman attaching to male's (assailant) mouth or face. Above referred references all absolutely silent on this issue.^{2,3,5,8,9,11,12}

Does it mean that whatever is written about smegma in relation to accused in reference to peno- vaginal penetration part is exaggerated and overvalued? Yes, It seems so. Two important researchers in the field of clinical forensic medicine Stark²³ and Mclay²⁴ do not mention a word about smegma in their entire chapters on sexual offenses. This may be the reason that author did not find any study in relation to smegma and sexual offenses and its confirmation thereof. Similarly, the guidelines published by W.H.O. for examination of survivor of sexual assault²⁵ and guidelines published by the Govt. of India do not mention anything about smegma in their booklet.²⁶

Conclusion

Mention of smegma in literature under scrutiny is loosely done. That too, only in relation to one of the aspects of rape, while other areas where its presence or absence could equally be important is ignored. None of the literature referred to mentions about smegma present on female external genitals. There is hardly, any test which can establish that available material (so called smegma) is smegma. There is a strong possibility that when accused is caught and presented for medical examination, he may be tutored and whatever the examiner found under the foreskin on the penis of accused may not be smegma but some artifact. Till the matter is scrutinized and passes the test of science, it should not be given any significance. Serious workers in the field, guidelines of WHO and Govt. of India don't give any significance to smegma. Prevailing textbooks and study materials for our graduate and postgraduate course students should accordingly be updated.

Conflict of interest: None to declare **Source of funding:** None to declare

References

- 1. Criminal Law Amendments Act, 2013
- Reddy KSN. The Essentials of Forensic Medicine and Toxicology. 34th ed. Hyderabad: K. Sugana Devi; 2017.p398

- Nandy A. Principles of Forensic Medicine including Toxicology. 3rd ed. Kolkata: New Central Book Agency (P) Ltd; 2015. 700
- Biswas G. Review of Forensic Medicine and Toxicology. 1st ed. New Delhi: Jaypee Brothers Medical Publishers (P) Ltd.; 2010. p269
- Bardale R. Principles of Forensic Medicine and Toxicology. 2nd ed. New Delhi: Jaypee Brothers Medical Publishers (P) Ltd.; 2017. 371
- Kumar A. Textbook of Forensic Medicine (Medical Jurisprudence and Toxicology. 1st ed. Kala Amb: Avichal Publishing Company; 2011. 235
- Rao NG. Textbook of Forensic Medicine and Toxicology. 2nd ed. New Delhi: Jaypee Brothers Medical Publishers (P) Ltd; 2010. 370
- Umadethan B. Principles and Practice of Forensic Medicine. 2nd ed. CBS Publishers and Distributors Pvt Ltd; 362-6.
- Pillay VV. Textbook of Forensic Medicine & Toxicology. 19th ed. Hyderabad: Paras Medical publisher; 2019.425
- Igantius PC. Forensic Medicine and Toxicology. Letterwaves Books. Irinjalkuda. 2018. 305
- 11. Agrawal A. Forensic Medicine and Toxicology.APC, New Delhi, 2016.366
- Kannan K and Mathiharan K.Editors. Modi's Medical Jurisprudence and Toxicology. 24th ed. Nagpur: LexisNexis Butterworths, Wadhwa; 2012.673
- Vij K. Textbook of Forensic Medicine and Toxicology 4nd ed. Elsevier ;2008,416-17
- Subrahmanyam BV. Subrahmanyam's Medical Jurisprudence & Toxicology. Allahabad: Law Publication (India) Pvt. Ltd.; 2011.432
- Vyas S., Kejriwal S:Critical Analysis of the Relevancy of the Medical and Forensic Evidences in the Rape Cases. Bharati Law Review: Jan-Mar, 2016.222-39
- 16. The High Court of Delhi CRL.A. 792/2001 & Crl.M.A.Nos.1734/2002, 638/2003 and 2825/2003[3]
- 17. 1995 CriLJ 1561, 1995 I OLR 151. The Odissa High Court
- Shingre SS and Shrigiriwar MB.Medicolegal examination of Accused of Alleged Rape Cases: A Prospective Study.JIAFM.2013.35(4),332-5
- Jae Min Chung, Chang Soo Park, Sang Don Lee: Microbiology of smegma: Prospective comparative control study. Investig Clin Urol 2019; 60:127-132.
- 20. http://www.cirp.org/library/anatomy/parkash/[Accessed on 5/3/20]
- 21. https://www.healthline.com/health/smegma#outlook[Accessed on 5/3/20]
- 22. https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Smegma[Accessed on 5/3/20]
- 23. Stark MM. Clinical Forensic Medicine- A Physician's Guide. Humana Press, Totowa 2nd ed ,2005.97-101
- Mclay WDS. Clinical Forensic Medicine, 3rd ed Cambridge, 2009,137-154
- 25. Guidelines for medico-legal care for victims of Sexual violence. W.H.O., Geneva.2003
- 26. Guidelines and Protocols: Medico legal care for survivors/victims of Sexual Violence.MH&FW. Govt. of India, New Delhi,2014uicide after natural disasters. N Engl J Med. 1998;338(6):373-378.

CASE REPORT

Sudden cardiac death in an adolescent: A case of viral myocarditis

Navneet Ateriya¹, Ashish Saraf¹, Tanuj Kanchan², Raghvendra Singh Shekhawat², Meenakshi Rao³, Puneet Setia²

1 Department of Forensic Medicine and Toxicology, All India Institute of Medical Sciences, Gorakhpur, India.

2 Department of Forensic Medicine and Toxicology, All India Institute of Medical Sciences, Jodhpur, India.

3 Department of Pathology, All India Institute of Medical Sciences, Jodhpur, India.

Abstract

Investigation of sudden deaths to find the cause of death is a challenging task for the pathologist. Cardiovascular conditions remain the leading cause of sudden deaths globally. Underlying pathology in sudden cardiac deaths (SCDs) may be obvious in conditions such as coronary artery diseases, cardiomyopathies etc., while findings may remain inconclusive during the autopsy. Viral myocarditis as a cause of death in SCD is becoming a recognized contributor to unexplained mortality, especially in adolescents. The article reports a rare case of SCD in a 17-year old adolescent male. The autopsy and histopathological findings identified the cause of death as viral myocarditis.

Keywords

Myocarditis; Inflammation; Crime; Underlying Cause of Death

Introduction

Sudden cardiac death (SCD) is defined as "*Death due to cardiac causes, in which the time and mode of death are unexpected, in an individual with or without pre-existing cardiac disease, which occurs within 1 hour of the onset of the symptoms.*"¹ The incidence of SCD ranges from 36 to 128 per 100,000 populations per year in different parts of the world. Cardiovascular conditions remain the leading cause of sudden death globally. South Asians are reported to be at higher risk of SCD at an earlier age.¹

SCDs are often rapid in onset and caused by a variety of clinical conditions. In a few cases such as cardiomyopathies, coronary atherosclerosis etc. the cause of SCD can be grossly appreciated at autopsy while in others detailed investigation is required to find the cause of SCD.² Viral myocarditis is one such condition which is recognized as a cause in sudden death during the first two decades of life.³ Viral myocarditis is an inflammatory condition of myocardium produced due to a viral infection. Cardio tropic viruses are known to infect more than 90% of the human population, but only 1-5% of them known to develop histologically proven myocarditis.³

Every year thousands of sudden deaths involving young individuals (< 35 years of age) remain unexplained even after a complete medico legal investigation including an autopsy. Epidemiological studies have shown that most of the sudden deaths do not show any morphological abnormalities in previously healthy young individuals.⁴ We report a rare case of

Corresponding Author

Dr. Navneet Ateriya (Assistant Professor) E-mail: dr.navneet06@gmail.com Phone: +91-9971629313

Article History Received: 11th June, 2020; Accepted: 21st February, 2021 viral myocarditis as a cause of SCD in an adolescent.

Case report

A 17-year-old male was having his breakfast while sitting on the boundary wall of the rooftop at his single storied home. He all of a sudden fell down from the boundary wall over the ledge approximately 2 feet below. His brother rushed to rescue him and saw him gasping for breath. He was taken to the nearby hospital by his family members where he was declared dead on arrival. On further enquiry, the parent revealed that the deceased had shown flu-like symptoms for a few days ago. Medico legal autopsy was conducted on the same day to find out the exact cause of death.

At autopsy, the dead body of the male weighed 50 kg and measured 166 cm in length. Rigor mortis was present all over the body. Post mortem staining was present over the back and other dependent parts of the body and was fixed in nature. Multiple reddish abrasions were present on the left upper arm with size varying from 9.0 cm X 1.2 cm to 0.3 cm X 0.3 cm. A grazed reddish abrasion of size 11.0 cm X 4.5 cm was present over the right upper arm.

On dissection, all organs were congested and brain was oedematous. The stomach contained about 30 ml yellowish colored fluid, the gastric mucosa was congested. The heart weighed 254g; measuring 12.5 cm X 9.5 cm X 5.5 cm. Subepicardial haemorrhages were present over the heart at places. The inflow and outflow tracts did not show any significant finding. Valves, intra atrial and intraventricular septae, were unremarkable. Atrial wall thickness was 0.4 cm and left ventricular wall thickness was 2.0 cm. Origin and course of the coronary arteries were regular and patent. Aorta didn't show any evidence of atherosclerosis.

Following observations were made on the histopathological

examination of heart, brain, and lungs. The section from the right atrium showed dilated congested blood vessels and edema. Sections of the right ventricle showed edema, separation of muscles fibers and diffuse sparse lymphocytic infiltrate. No necrosis or haemorrhage was identified. Focal degenerative changes were seen in the sections of left ventricle along with diffuse sparse lymphocytic infiltrate. Sections from the coronary vessels were normal. (Figure 1 & 2)



Figure 1: Photomicrograph showing lympho-mononuclear inflammatory infiltrate in the myocardium, H&E 40X



Figure 2: Photomicrograph showing occasional necrosed myocytes (upper right and lower left) in the myocardium, which appear more eosinophilic than the surrounding myocytes and show loss of nuclei, H&E 40X

Multiple sections of the brain were examined. Sections from the cerebral hemisphere showed evidence of cerebral edema in the form of widening of Virchow Robin space which was most prominently seen in the sections from the watershed areas. (Figure 3)

Sections from the right and left lung showed congested blood vessels. Sections from the bronchus were unremarkable and from

peribronchial nodes showed anthracosis pigment. (Figure 4). On perusal of autopsy observations and histopathological examination the cause of death was opined as viral myocarditis.



Figure 3: Photomicrograph showing mild cerebral edema, H&E 40X



Figure 4: Photomicrograph showing congested pulmonary vessels, H&E 40X

Discussion

Myocarditis is reported as one of the rare causes of sudden cardiac death.⁵ Acute myocarditis is often associated with sudden deaths among young adults and athletes.⁶ A wide range of etiological agents may lead to myocarditis, ranging from systemic conditions such as sarcoidosis, Crohn's disease, therapeutic drugs, toxins, animal/insect bites, and stings, as well as multiple infectious agents. The majority of the cases of myocarditis are viral induced myocarditis. The causative agent remained obscure in 50% of the myocarditis cases and the infection was thought to be virally mediated. The most commonly involved viruses mentioned in the literature include enteroviruses, adenoviruses,

human herpesvirus 6 and parvovirus B19.7

Viral myocarditis is diagnosed usually based on the Dallas classification as "an inflammatory infiltrate of the myocardium with necrosis and/or degeneration of adjacent myocytes" or the World Health Organization (WHO) Marburg criterion as " ≥ 14 infiltrating leukocytes/ mm²."8 The myocardial infiltration may be focal or diffuse and that can be infiltrating by both acute and chronic inflammatory cells.7 Histologically, myocarditis is diagnosed by haematoxylin-eosin staining of tissue in the setting of an inflammatory infiltration of the myocardium with necrosis and/or degeneration of myocytes, not consistent with the presence of ischemic changes and patent coronaries.⁶ The absence of myocytes necrosis and a sparser inflammatory infiltrate suggests borderline myocarditis.⁸ The histopathological examination in the reported case showed diffuse sparse leukocyte infiltration with degeneration of myocytes suggestive of viral myocarditis. The absence of focal necrosis ruled out any possibility of mechanical trauma. The absence of eosinophils and negative history of any recent drug intake rules out the possibility of eosinophilic myocarditis, while the inadequacy of neutrophils and absence of necrosis ruled out the possibility of bacterial or fungal infection.9 Considering the history of flu-like symptoms, a viral/post-viral rather than an immunological form of myocarditis seems more likely. Other conditions such as sarcoidosis or vasculitis were excluded in absence of inflammatory involvement of cardiac vessels.9,10,11

The involvement of the wall of the right and left ventricle may further be a reason for sudden death since ventricular function abnormalities due to myocytes degeneration and inflammatory infiltrate are strong predictors of death. There is a frequent association of myocarditis and sudden death in asymptomatic patients.^{7,9} Viral myocarditis in the reported case resulted in cardiac arrhythmia as evidenced by the presence of cerebral oedema and pulmonary vascular congestion which had arisen out of sudden fall in cardiac output. On perusal of autopsy and histopathological observations, the cause of death was considered to be most likely viral myocarditis which resulted in cardiac impairment and subsequent death.

Conclusion

Investigation of sudden cardiac death is a vital and integral part of the autopsy. Viral myocarditis is an important cause of mortality especially in seemingly well adolescents and young adults without previous/family history of cardiac illness. The present case, confirms the crucial importance of a thorough investigation in SCD, particularly microscopic examination to see underlying pathological changes. The reported incident was a medico-legal case and an autopsy is mandatory in such cases in India. Investigating police officer is considered to be in charge of such cases and they are hence informed regarding its use for academic purposes. **Ethical clearance:** A prior approval was obtained from the Institutional Ethics Committee

Conflict of interest: None to declare

Source of funding: None to declare

Contributors' statement

The scene of crime was visited by Dr. Navneet Ateriya, Dr. Ashish Saraf and Dr. Raghvendra Singh Shekhawat. Medicolegal autopsy was conducted by Dr. Navneet Ateriya and Dr. Puneet Setia. This article was conceptualised and designed by Dr. Navneet Ateriya, Dr. Tanuj Kanchan and Dr. Puneet Setia. Relevant literature was searched by Dr. Navneet Ateriya and Dr. Ashish Saraf. Dr. Navneet Ateriya and Dr. Ashish Saraf along with Dr. Raghvendra Singh Shekhawat and Dr. Meenakshi drafted the manuscript which was further edited and reviewed by Dr. Tanuj Kanchan and Dr. Puneet Setia. Histopathological slides were observed and reported by Dr. Meenakshi Rao. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

References

- Rao BH, Sastry BK, Chugh SS, Kalavakolanu S, Christopher J, Shangula D. Contribution of sudden cardiac death to total mortality in India - a population based study. Int J Cardiol. 2012;154(2):163-7.
- Puranik R, Gray B, Lackey H, Yeates L, Parker G, Duflou J. Comparison of conventional autopsy and magnetic resonance imaging in determining the cause of sudden death in the young. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2014;16:44.
- Tse G, Yeo JM, Chan YW, Lai ET, Yan BP. What is the arrhythmic substrate in viral myocarditis? Insights from clinical and animal studies. Front Physiol. 2016;7:308.
- Boczek NJ, Tester DJ, Ackerman MJ. The molecular autopsy: an indispensable step following sudden cardiac death in the young? Herzschrittmacherther Elektrophysiol. 2012;23(3):167-73.
- Kanchan T, Nagesh KR, Lobo FD, Menezes RG. Tubercular granuloma in the myocardium: an autopsy report. Singapore Med J. 2010; 51(1):e15-7.
- De Salvia A, De Leo D, Carturan E, Basso C. Sudden cardiac death, borderline myocarditis and molecular diagnosis: evidence or assumption? Med Sci Law. 2011;51 Suppl 1:S27-9.
- Treacy A, Carr MJ, Dunford L, Palacios G, Cannon GA, O'Grady A, et al. First report of sudden death due to myocarditis caused by adenovirus serotype 3. J Clin Microbiol. 2010;48(2):642-5.
- Dennert R, Crijns HJ, Heymans S. Acute viral myocarditis. Eur Heart J. 2008; 29(17):2073-82.
- Crudele GD, Amadasi A, Marasciuolo L, Rancati A, Gentile G, Zoja R. A case report of lethal post-viral lymphocytic myocarditis with exclusive location in the right ventricle. Leg Med (Tokyo). 2016;19:1-4.
- Spry CJ, Take M, Tai PC. Eosinophilic disorders affecting the myocardium and endocardium: a review. Heart Vessels Suppl. 1985; 1:240-2.
- Higuchi ML, Benvenuti LA, Demarchi LM, Libby P. Histological evidence of concomitant intramyocardial and epicardial vasculitis in necropsied heart allografts: a possible relationship with graft coronary arteriosclerosis. Transplantation. 1999; 67(12):1569-76.

CASE REPORT

Combined effect of cold with heart pathology in old

Moirangthem Sangita, Atul Keche, Anuradha Singh, Poovaragavan V., Niranjan Sahoo

Department of Forensic Medicine and Toxicology, All India Institute of Medical Sciences, Bhopal, India.

Abstract

Death due to hypothermia is because of exposure to cold temperature, usually during winter season and at high altitudes. Hypothermia occurs when the core body temperature drops below 35°C. Diagnosing hypothermia as the cause of death is very challenging in forensic medicine as the post-mortem findings are not consistent for all hypothermia cases. Therefore, history of the case and investigation of circumstances of the death, crime scene along with a meticulous post-mortem examination is very important in diagnosing cause of death as due to hypothermia. Paradoxical undressing and hide and die syndrome can sometime make the crime scene very suspicious. Hypothermia mainly affects homeless individuals, drug-dependent individuals and those of extreme ends of the age spectrum but can occur in any age group. Hypothermia is relatively rare in places like India with temperate climates as compared to places with colder climate. Hence, there is lack of knowledge about such a condition among both the medical professionals and the common people. Here we report a case of hypothermia in an 82 year old male who was found dead, half naked during the cold winter season and when stomach was opened, Wischnewsky spots were observed on the mucosa.

Keywords

Hypothermia; Wischnewsky spots; Frost erythema; Meticulous autopsy.

Introduction

Hypothermia is "decrease in the core body temperature to a level at which normal muscular and cerebral functions are impaired." Any temperature less than 98.6°F can be linked to hypothermia.¹ The severity of hypothermia is divided into mild (35–32°C), moderate (32–28°C) and severe (<28°C) according to the range of body temperature.² Individuals particularly vulnerable to the development of fatal hypothermia include those of the extremes of the age spectrum, the homeless, the chronically ill, the isolated or socially deprived individuals, and those suffering from psychiatric diseases as well as drug or alcohol intoxication. Alcohol intoxication prevents adaptation to cold stresses. The association between alcohol intoxication and hypothermia death has been well documented.³⁻⁷ Diagnosis of hypothermia is based on core body temperature, circumstances surrounding death, the medical history and examination of the body. Findings of hypothermia are frost erythema, Wischnewsky spots, hemorrhaging into the synovial fluid, changes in kidney and pancreatic tissue. Several biochemical parameters are also altered in case of hypothermia.

Wischnewsky in 1895, first reported that the presence of numerous dark-brown coloured small spots similar to gastric

Corresponding Author

Dr. Atul Keche (Associate Professor) Email address: atul.fmt@aiimsbhopal.edu.in Mobile: +91-8208072886

Article History

Received: 20th June, 2020; Revision received on: 19th February, 2021 Accepted: 25th February, 2021 haemorrhages, which now termed as "Wischnewsky spots," are frequently visualized in hypothermia-related death. Since then, these spots have been considered to be a classical sign of fatal hypothermia. Wischnewsky spots may vary in size and quantity from 1 mm upto about 2 cm in diameter and from only a few to more than 100 in number. ⁸

Case Report

An 82 year old man was reported missing from his home for four days until his body was found half naked in a bushy water logged area near his house in the month of February. He was known to be suffering from diabetes mellitus and hypertension and was irregular with his medication. He had a history of forgetfulness and had gone missing from home even in the past. Environmental temperature recorded on those days was between 28.4°C and 10.5°C. He was last seen alive by a boy from his locality a day before the body was found.

Post-mortem examination revealed an averagely built body, half naked with mud stains and grass clinging over the body and shirt. Peeling of skin was present over both the forearm and legs (Figure 1) and reddish brown discoloration was seen over the knees, suggestive of, frost erythema. Lips were chapped and dry. Rigor mortis was in disappearing phase. Hypostasis was present on back except at pressure areas and was fixed. Cornea was opaque and there was no oozing from any of the natural orifices.

Skull was intact. The brain (1310g) was pale, edematous and soft. All coronaries were thick, calcified and gritty on cutting. The lumen of right coronary artery was about 70% occluded by atheromatous plaque 1 cm distal to its origin for a distance of

about 2 cm. Atheromatous plaques were seen in the aorta from its origin upto a distance of 1 cm. Stomach contained 10 ml of brownish fluid with no specific smell. Multiple reddish brown discrete spots, ranging in size from 0.1 to 0.5 cm and about 50-60 in number, suggestive of Wischnewsky spots seen all over the mucosa of stomach (Figure 2,3). Kidneys were pale with multiple small cysts. From the autopsy findings and the circumstances in which death occurred, we opined the death is due to combined effect of cardiac pathology and hypothermia.



Figure 1: Peeling of skin



Figure 2: Wischnewsky Spots



Figure 3: Wischnewsky Spots

Discussion

Hypothermia is a diagnosis of exclusion and a challenge for forensic expert to resolve. From history, circumstances of death and autopsy findings the case reported is deduced to be a case of hypothermia. The mean age among such cases is 68 years. Older people may have a reduced ability to generate heat because of reduced body mass, impaired mobility, inadequate diet, and reduced shivering in response to cold. ⁹⁻¹¹ The mortality of patients with moderate to severe hypothermia is high. ¹²

Patients with hypothermia present with maladaptive behavior like paradoxical undressing, which is inappropriate removal of clothing in response to a cold stress. ² Undressing may also be attributed in some cases to dementia due to Alzheimer disease before they become hypothermic. ¹⁰ Duguid et al. (1961) reported that 16 out of 23 (69.6%) elderly patients who were the victims of accidental hypothermia were scantily clothed or almost naked. ⁷ Clothes are often found near the body. Hide and die syndrome may also be observed in some cases of fatal hypothermia. The corpse is generally found in a strange location, under or behind furniture or other objects, re-enacting a primitive, burrowing-like behavior of hibernating animals. 5 The scene of death can be misleading and may rouse suspicion.

Hypothermia can occur in association with hypothyroidism, metabolic disorder, hypothalamic lesion, etc. History regarding pre-existing co-morbidities and medication can also help in determining the cause of death. Hypothermia can lead to organ dysfunction and altered biochemical parameters as a result of physical and metabolic adaptation.⁹⁻¹¹ Certain parameters like blood ketones, cortisol, and free fatty acids as well as urine catecholamine and cortisol are considered to be reliable markers of fatal hypothermia.⁵ These investigations can be undertaken if hypothermia is believed to be the cause of death. Imbalanced electrolytes and altered endocrine function leads to myocardial irritability resulting in arrhythmias. ¹¹ Hypothermia in an already existing coronary artery disease can be fatal. Basal vacuolation of the renal tubular epithelial cells and pancreatitis is often observed. 5 Gross findings like Wischnewsky spots and frost erythema are found more frequently in cases of hypothermia.^{5, 12} Wischnewsky spots present on the gastric mucosa at autopsy are considered a reliable indicator of hypothermia.^{8,9} Microscopic examination showed brown to black pigmentation in Wischnewsky spots and neutrophil infiltration and other vital reactions were absent. A possible explanation could be that hypothermia may activate the secretion of gastric acid and pepsin, leading to development of Wischnewsky spots. The incidence of expression of Wischnewsky spots range from 40- 100%. ^{12, 13}

In the present case, the deceased was an old man with a history of diabetes mellitus, hypertension, forgetfulness and had also been reported missing from home in the past. People with such conditions have a chance of wandering off and getting exposed to cold environments unintentionally. Exposure to the above mentioned range of temperature for long duration without proper protection can lead to cold stress and bring about adaptation failure resulting in death due to hypothermia. Circumstances of death is suggestive of paradoxical undressing. Autopsy findings of Wischnewsky spots and frost erythema point towards hypothermia.

There are no specific findings in hypothermia, and thus, it is a diagnosis of exclusion. Meticulous investigation of how, where, and, in what condition the body was found and a diligent autopsy is mandatory. Biochemical analysis and histopathological examination can be helpful in analysing the body responses and metabolic changes in response to cold stress.

Ethical clearance: A prior approval was obtained from the Institutional Ethics Committee

Conflict of interest: None to declare

Source of funding: None to declare

References

- Nagpal B, Sharma R. Cold Injuries: The Chill Within. Med J Armed Forces India. 2004 Apr;60(2):165–71.
- Harrison's Principles of Internal Medicine, 20e | AccessMedicine | McGraw-Hill Medical [Internet]. [cited 2020 May 12]. Available from: https://accessmedicine.mhmedical.com/ book.aspx?bookID=2129
- Nixdorf-Miller A, Hunsaker DM, Hunsaker JC. Hypothermia and hyperthermia Medicolegal investigation of morbidity and mortality from exposure to environmental temperature extremes. Arch

Pathol Lab Med. 2006;130(9):1297-304.

- 4. Lim C, Duflou J. Hypothermia fatalities in a temperate climate: Sydney, Australia. Pathology (Phila). 2008;40(1):46–51.
- 5. Palmiere C, Teresiński G, Hejna P. Postmortem diagnosis of hypothermia. Int J Legal Med. 2014;128(4):607–14.
- 6. Gallaher MM, Fleming DW, Berger LR, Sewell CM. Pedestrian and hypothermia deaths among Native Americans in New Mexico. Between bar and home. JAMA. 1992; 267(10):1345–8.
- Accidental Fatal Hypothermia in Elderly People with Alzheimer's Disease – Kazuhiko Kibayashi, Hideki Shojo, 2003 [Internet]. [cited 2020 May 16]. Available from: https://journals.sagepub. com/doi/10.1258/rsmmsl.43.2.127
- Noh MK, Lee S. Are Wischnewski Spots Found Only in Hypothermia? Korean J Leg Med. 2019;43(1):16–22.
- Hypothermia: Evaluation, Electrocardiographic Manifestations, and Management - PubMed [Internet]. [cited 2020 Jun 2]. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16564768/
- Taylor AJ, Mcgwin Jr G. Hypothermia Google Search [Internet]. [cited 2020 Jun 8]. Available from: https://www.google.com/ search?q=aj+taylor+g+mcgwin+jr+hypothermia&oq=aj+&am p;aqs=chrome.0.69i59j69i57j46l2j0l2j46l2.3376j0j8&sourcei d=chrome&ie=UTF-8
- Mallet ML. Pathophysiology of accidental hypothermia. QJM Mon J Assoc Physicians. 2002;95(12):775–85.
- Yang C, Sugimoto K, Murata Y, Hirata Y, Kamakura Y, Koyama Y, et al. Molecular mechanisms of Wischnewski spot development on gastric mucosa in fatal hypothermia: an experimental study in rats. Sci Rep. 2020;10(1):1877.
- Tsokos M, Rothschild MA, Madea B, Rie M, Sperhake JP. Histological and immunohistochemical study of Wischnewsky spots in fatal hypothermia. Am J Forensic Med Pathol. 2006;27(1):70–4.

CASE REPORT

Accidental All Out mosquito repellent ingestion in girl child – A case report

Yogender Malik

Department of Forensic Medicine and Toxicology, Bhagat Phool Singh Govt Medical College for Women, Khanpur Kalan, Sonipat Haryana, India

Abstract

All Out liquidator containing Allethrin, a pyrethroid used as mosquito repellant is present in nearly all households. A 1-year-old baby girl drank a sip of all-out liquid while playing with her toys in the presence of her family members. They tried to make her vomit by inserting finger in her throat but failed. Within 5 minutes after ingesting the liquid, she was taken to nearby hospital and gastric lavage was initiated. Later on she was referred to a higher centre. She was kept under observation and was given charcoal after 1.5 hours of drinking all out liquid. This case emphasizes the importance of awareness amongst parents about household poisons and obtaining information through poison information centers. Various issues have been highlighted in this case report.

Keywords

Mosquito repellant; Charcoal; Poison Information Centre

Introduction

Allethrin, a pyrethroid is a compound in mosquito repellants with lesser toxicity for human beings. There are few poisoning cases reported in adults ¹⁻⁵ and few in children.⁶ Clinical picture in such cases varies widely depending upon the amount of compound consumed. Kerosene (hydrocarbon) and alletherin (pyrethroid) present in All Out mosquito repellent produces different signs and symptoms. This case is unique and important as it signifies the importance of information obtained from PIC in poisoning cases and associated satisfaction the information brought to worried parents.

Case Report

The 1 year old baby girl accidently consumed the all-out refill in the presence of family members. They tried to make her vomit by inserting finger in her throat to no avail. Then they took her to the nearest hospital within minutes of ingesting the liquid. Gastric lavage was performed during which she kept gaining and regaining consciousness. The treating doctor was not in a condition to say whether she was out of danger or not. So, she was referred to another hospital. En route the other hospital she failed to respond to the treatment properly. As soon as they reached second hospital, hospital staff started questioning the mother suspecting something fishy as patient was a baby girl. Meanwhile the father called the author and on reference had conversation with Poison Information Centre,

Corresponding Author Dr Yogender Malik (Professor) Email address – dryogendermalik@gmail.com Mobile: +91-9996777559

Article History Received: 27th June, 2020; Accepted: 13th February, 2021 Amritha Institute of Medical Sciences, Cochin. Father was satisfied after talking as he was explained that this liquid is less dangerous and advised corresponding treatment. Pediatrician examined the patient and instructed the staff to give activated charcoal which was given after 1.5 hours of All Out ingestion. Subsequently she developed a fever that night and was sleepy till noon of the following day. Thereafter she became active with slight weakness. She was discharged from hospital the next day.

Discussion

Accidental poisoning is the 12th leading cause of admission in the paediatric ward in India and accounts for 1% hospitalization.⁷ Hydrocarbons are among the most common cause, not only in India, but also in the developed world. 9 In India, accidental kerosene ingestion is common, especially in rural households, due to its easy availability as a cheap fuel and storage in inappropriate containers which children often mistake for water.⁹ However, lately, liquid mosquito repellent ingestion is emerging as a leading cause of hydrocarbon (kerosene) poisoning in urban households. 8 Children with accidental liquid mosquito repellent ingestion presented with predominant aspiration pneumonitis due to the hydrocarbon content rather than neurological complications associated with synthetic pyrethroids.⁸ All out liquid is used to control adult mosquitoes. The chemical composition of all out is Transfluthrin 0.88% (w/w), Butylated hydroxytoluene 1.00% (w/w), Perfume drakker 1.00% (w/w) and Deodorised kerosine 97.120% (w/w) as per the information contained on its outer covering. There is no specific antidote known and treatment is purely symptomatic. First Aid, if swallowed does not induce vomiting. There are only few reports of pyrethroid poisoning from India. ^{6, 14} Pyrethroids are generally considered to be safe insecticides in humans because of their rapid biotransformation by ester hydrolysis and hydroxylation to inactive acids and

alcohols. The fatal dose for Allethrin is not known. Most cases of acute pyrethroid poisoning recover within 1-6 days with a normal neurological outcome during the follow up. ¹³ As in this case, most the children with mosquito repellent poisoning are referred to other healthcare facilities; with more than half subjected to induced vomiting or gastric lavage prior to referral. ⁸ As with other hydrocarbons, induced vomiting and gastric lavage are contraindicated unless the neurological manifestations due to the pyrethroid component predominate. ¹⁰-

¹² Lavage in such cases is then done after airway has been secured with a cuffed endotracheal tube. ⁸ Seizure in pyrethroid neurotoxicity is believed to be due to its ability to modify sodium, chloride and calcium channels of the neurons. ¹³ The signs and symptoms of pyrethroid toxicity are similar to those of organophosphate poisoning. It is essential to differentiate between the two as inappropriate atropine use (for Organophosphorus poisoning) should be avoided in pyrethroid poisoning. ⁶ Poison control centres should be established by tertiary care centres and the numbers should be displayed for first aid and more severe poisoning cases should be further referred for appropriate treatment. ¹⁵

Conclusion

The case emphasized the importance of Poison Information Centres for rapid information and to pacify the relatives, patient or the treating doctor as many general physicians are not well versed with different types of poisoning. All the information regarding the toxicity and treatment is there on a wrapper inside the box provided by the company but nobody reads the small worded paper inside the box as these Cautions/ Pamphlets are written in small fonts and are rarely readable. Providing only the relevant and most important information in a readable form on the pamphlet alongside link of website for further information may be beneficial.

Conflict of interest: None to declare **Source of funding:** None to declare

References

- Chandra A, Dixit MB, Banavaliker JN. Prallethrin poisoning: A diagnostic dilemma J Anaesthesiol Clin Pharmacol 2013; 29(1): 121-122
- Ardhanari A, Srivastava U, Kumar A, et al. Management of a case of prallethrin poisoning-an unusual agent for suicidal ingestion. Sri Lankan J Anaesthesiol 2011;19:51-52.
- Chandra A, Dixit MB, Banavaliker JN. Prallethrin poisoning: A diagnostic dilemma. J Anaesthesiol Clin Pharmacol 2013;29:121-122.4. Bhaskar EM, Moorthy S, Ganeshwala G, et al. Cardiac conduction disturbance due to prallethrin (pyrethroid) poisoning. J Med Toxicol, 2010;6:27-30. 5. Das RN, Parajuli S. Cypermethrin poisoning and anti-cholinergic medication - A case report. Internet J Med Update 2006;1:42-44.)
- Kedari V, Kulkarni R, Valvi C, et al. D-Transallethrin: An unusual agent for accidental poisoning. Med J DY Patil Univ 2016,9: 244-245
- Subedi BK. A retrospective study of poisoning cases at Bir Hospital, Nepal. J Inst Med 1990; 12: 296-302
- Mounika V. Reddy Saptharishi L. Ganesan Karthik Narayanan et al. Liquid Mosquito Repellent Ingestion in Children. Indian J Pediatr Published online 25 November 2019.
- Jayashree M, Singhi S, Gupta A. Predictors of outcome in children with hydrocarbon poisoning receiving intensive care. Indian Pediatr 2006;43:715–9
- Tormoehlen LM, Tekulve KJ, Nañagas KA. Hydrocarbon toxicity: a review. Clin Toxicol. 2014;52:479–489.,
- Chandelia S, Dubey NK, Ganguly N, et al. Mosquito repellent vaporizer poisoning – is the culprit transfluthrin or kerosene? Indian Pediatr 2014;51:319–326.,
- Bradberry SM, Cage SA, Proudfoot AT, et al. Poisoning due to pyrethroids. Toxicol Rev. 2005;24:93–106.13. Aseri RK, Daria U, Dulara SC, et al. Uncontrolled seizures and unusual rise in leucocyte counts: transfluthrin, liquid mosquito repellent suicidal poisoning. Indian J Anaesth 2015, 59(1): 47-49
- Garg P and Garg P. Letter to editor, Indian Paediatr 2004, 41:1177-78
- Ghanghal R and Haroon F. Profile of acute poisoning in paediatric age in district Moradabad: A hospital based study. J Indian Acad Forensic Med 2015,37(2): 155-59

CORRESPONDENCE

Differential development of the ribs – Exploring the unexplored

Rutwik Shedge¹, Tanuj Kanchan¹, Craig Cunningham², Kewal Krishan³

1 Department of Forensic Medicine, All India Institute of Medical Sciences, Jodhpur, India

2 Centre for Anatomy and Human Identification, University of Dundee, Dundee, Scotland

3 Department of Anatomy, Panjab University, Chandigarh, India

Introduction

Age estimation is a crucial aspect of establishing the biological profile of an individual, which has profound medicolegal significance in the living as well as the dead.^{1,2} In the living, age estimation is routinely assessed in a variety of situations including cases of cross border migrations, asylum seekers, refugees, underage solicitation, assigning criminal responsibility and eligibility to participate in sporting events among many others.^{3,7} However, despite this eclectic mix of modern applications, age estimation has a more traditional evidence base in the analysis of deceased individuals for the purpose of establishing identification in the context of a medico-legal investigation.

Age estimation is typically achieved by analysis of skeletal indicators of maturity in juvenile skeletons or by studying degenerative changes in selected skeletal elements in the adult skeleton, following the completion of their growth and development. The most commonly used methods of age estimation include dental mineralisation and eruption patterns, analysis of the degree of ossification and epiphyseal fusion of the long bones and morphological changes observed in the pelvis, ribs and cranium. ¹² These methods can be achieved through direct visualisation of skeletal remains or alternatively, when soft tissues are present or invasive analysis is not possible, analysis can be achieved through interpretation of clinical imaging modalities.

An area of skeletal development that may exhibit potential for the purposes of age estimation, is the ossification progression of the vertebrochondral joints and specifically the heads of the developing ribs. Despite a paucity of research in this area of skeletal development, the available literature suggests that the ossification centres for the heads of the ribs appear around puberty, and are completely ossified by the age of 22-25 years.⁸⁻¹⁴ It has been reported that there is a differential development of rib ossification dependant on the position of the rib within the

Corresponding Author

Rutwik Shedge (Senior Research Fellow) Email: rutwikdshedge@gmail.com Mobile: +91-9643478947

Article History Received: 21st September, 2020; Accepted: 8thFebruary, 2021 thorax; with superior ribs (ribs 1-2) and the inferior ribs (ribs 9-12) being observed to ossify first, while the middle ribs (ribs 3-8) ossify later. The cause for this phenomenon has not been discussed or explained by the existing literature. Some of the possible causes for this differential development are presented and discussed in this correspondence.

Hypothesis

It has been observed that the ossification of the skeletal components of the ventrochondral junction, including the head of the rib, occurs earlier in atypical ribs (ribs 1-2, and 10-12) compared to the typical ribs (ribs 3-9). This could be due to the superior most ribs having a greater interaction with postural muscles, thus resulting in advanced mechanical interactions associated with head and neck movement during development.¹⁵⁻¹⁷ Additionally, the lower most ribs terminate in the abdominal musculature and attach to the diaphragm (ribs 11-12) or articulate with the costal margin (ribs 9-10), this association may result in increased mobility during respiration and thus increased biomechanical loads during early development 15,16. Conversely, the typical ribs have a direct connection with the sternum via single costal cartilages, thus it can be argued that these ribs experience more limited movements and therefore reduced biomechanical loads due to the relative stability of this anatomical configuration of the rib during development.^{15,16}

Explanation

The ribs are attached posteriorly to the thoracic vertebrae at the costovertebral and costotransverse joints. These two joints are considered to be a part of the Functional Spinal Unit (FSU) in the biomechanical model of the thorax. ¹⁷ During deep respiratory inhalation, the first rib gets raised due to the attachment of the scalenus anterior and the scalenus medius muscles, while the second rib is raised due to the attachment of the scalenus posterior muscle. ^{15,16} The movement of these muscles also raise and tilt the first two ribs in the direction of neck movement. The vertebral ribs or the floating ribs only have costocentral articulations, and are depressed due to the action of the quadratus lumborum muscle and movement of the diaphragm during respiration. ^{15,16} Thus, due to the interactions of these powerful muscles, there are increased biomechanical loads associated with the posterior regions of the superior and

the inferior ribs compared to the typical ribs.

Conclusion

It is proposed that the differential loads experienced by the upper and lower ribs will result in greater mechanical loading compared to the mid-positioned typical ribs. This in turn, may lead to the earlier skeletal maturation which has been observed and reported by other studies.⁸⁻¹⁴

Conflict of interest: None to declare

Source of funding: None to declare

References

- 1. Krogman WM, İşcan MY. The human skeleton in forensic medicine. 2nd ed. Springfield, Ill., U.S.A: C.C. Thomas, 1986.
- İşcan MY, Steyn M. The human skeleton in forensic medicine. Third edition. Springfield, Illinois, U.S.A: Charles C Thomas Publisher, LTD, 2013.
- 3. Martin DD, Wit JM, Hochberg Z, et al. The Use of Bone Age in Clinical Practice Part 1. Horm Res Paediatr 2011; 76: 19.
- 4. Schmeling A, Reisinger W, Geserick G, Olze A. Age estimation of unaccompanied minors. Forensic Sci Int 2006; 159: S61S64.
- Schmeling A, Grundmann C, Fuhrmann A, et al. Criteria for age estimation in living individuals. Int J Legal Med 2008; 122: 457460.
- Timme M, Steinacker JM, Schmeling A. Age estimation in competitive sports. Int J Legal Med 2017; 131: 225233.
- 7. Schmeling A, Olze A, Reisinger W, et al. Age estimation of living

people undergoing criminal proceedings. Lancet Lond Engl 2001; 358: 8990.

- Fawcett E. Some notes on the epiphyses of the ribs. J Anat Physiol 1911; 45: 172178.
- Stevenson PH. Age order of epiphyseal union in man. Am J Phys Anthropol 1924; 7: 5393.
- Mckern TW, Stewart TD. Skeletal age changes in young American males analysed from the standpoint of age estimation. QREC-EP-45, Quartermaster research and engineering command Natick MA, https://apps.dtic.mil/docs/citations/AD0147240 (May 1957, accessed 30 April 2019).
- Ríos L, Cardoso HFV. Age estimation from stages of union of the vertebral epiphyses of the ribs. Am J Phys Anthropol 2009; 140: 265274.
- Hoppenfeld S, Lonner B, Murthy V, et al. The Rib Epiphysis and Other Growth Centers as Indicators of the End of Spinal Growth: Spine 2004; 29: 4750.
- Scheuer L, Black SM. The juvenile skeleton. London; San Diego, Calif: Elsevier Academic Press, 2004.
- Cunningham C, Scheuer L, Black SM. Developmental juvenile osteology. Second edition. Amsterdam: Elsevier/AP, Academic Press is an imprint of Elsevier, 2016.
- Gray H, Lewis WH. Anatomy of the human body. New York: Bartleby.com, http://www.bartleby.com/107/ (2000, accessed 17 March 2020).
- Netter FH. Atlas of Human Anatomy. Saint Louis: Elsevier Health Sciences, http://public.ebookcentral.proquest.com/choice/publicful lrecord.aspx?p=3562298 (2014, accessed 17 March 2020).
- Panjabi MM. The stabilizing system of the spine. Part I. Function, dysfunction, adaptation, and enhancement. J Spinal Disord 1992;
 383389; discussion 397.lines_for_handling_dead_bodies_for_ nCoV_ver_akhir.pdf.





FORENSIC MEDICON - 2021

42nd Annual Conference of the Indian Academy of Forensic Medicine Department of Forensic Medicine & Toxicology, SCB Medical College, Cuttack 22nd to 24th January, 2021





